Grand Valley State University ScholarWorks@GVSU

## **Masters Theses**

Graduate Research and Creative Practice

12-2019

## The implementation of qPCR beach monitoring methods: Analysis of a multi-lab validation study and the role of environmental parameters on a comparison of Colilert and qPCR methods

Molly J. Lane Grand Valley State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses

Part of the Biology Commons, and the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

#### ScholarWorks Citation

Lane, Molly J., "The implementation of qPCR beach monitoring methods: Analysis of a multi-lab validation study and the role of environmental parameters on a comparison of Colilert and qPCR methods" (2019). *Masters Theses.* 962.

https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/theses/962

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Research and Creative Practice at ScholarWorks@GVSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@GVSU. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gvsu.edu.

## THE IMPLEMENTATION OF qPCR BEACH MONITORING METHODS: ANALYSIS OF A MULTI LAB VALIDATION STUDY AND THE ROLE OF ENVIRONMENTAL PARAMETERS ON A COMPARISON OF COLILERT AND qPCR METHODS

Molly Jean Lane

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

## GRAND VALLEY STATE UNIVERSITY

In

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Master of Science in Biology

Department of Biology

December 2019

## Dedication

This work is dedicated to my grandparents, Thelma and Ev Lane and Margaret Bryant; and to my parents, Jerry Lane and Tina Lynch. As well as to the rest of my loved ones who have wholeheartedly supported me through this journey and without whom I would not have had the courage to attempt.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to the following individuals and organizations who helped me along the way: my thesis advisor Dr. Rick Rediske, for your door always being open and taking a chance on a 'non-traditional student'. On many occasions you were able to point me in the direction I was searching for; my committee member Dr. James McNair, for challenging me, making the statistics always interesting and less daunting; the remainder of my graduate committee, Dr. Charlyn Partridge and Dr. Dan Frobish, thank you for always being supportive, being available to answer questions, your feedback and knowledge, it helped to make my thesis something I'm incredibly proud of; Brian Scull at AWRI, for your qPCR expertise and the phenomenal working conditions; Dr. Shannon Briggs with EGLE for her undying enthusiasm and encouragement; Dr. Richard Haugland from the EPA, I've learned a lot from you and am grateful for all your help; everyone in the "qPCR Beach Network" who welcomed me into your community with open arms; Matt Allen, Brittany Schulz, Safiya Best, Anna Tarach, Noah Cleghorn & Paige Kleindl for help with sampling and dealing with the accompanying sand; Paula, Tonya and Roxana at the AWRI, for the many interesting conversations when I needed to walk away from it all and for all the administrative help; Annis Water Resources Institute for my graduate assistantship; Muskegon Health Department and the Grand Valley Graduate School for funding; everyone in my cohort who experienced the trials and victories alongside me as we navigated our way through achieving a higher education; Steve Kowalski, my rock through it all who was there to encourage and support me day in and day out; and last, but not at all least, my family who are the best cheering section a person can have and who were understanding of the time required of me to complete a thesis.

## Preface

The beaches along the eastern shore of Lake Michigan are something to be marveled at. Their serenity, calmness, fury and glittering reflections make an impression on all who take the time to embrace their beauty. To some, they are places of solitude or reflection; to others, they are a playground. Whatever role they may play in each of our lives, it is important we feel secure in that they are a safe place to spend our time.

#### Abstract

Public beaches are routinely tested for potentially pathogenic bacteria to protect beachgoers from possible illness. An EPA approved method, Colilert<sup>TM</sup>, used for testing *E. coli* in recreational water requires 18 - 22 hours before a result is reported but, recreators have already contacted unsafe water before the beach is closed. My study focused on a U.S. EPA proposed qPCR method (Draft Method C) to quantify E. coli in recreational waters that can provide same-day results. In Chapter 2, I examined the calibration procedure used to validate Draft Method C and compared standard curve intercept and slope estimates calculated with a Bayesian model to estimates generated from a simpler weighted linear regression (WLR) model to determine if it can replace the complicated Bayesian model for method implementation.  $A \le 1\%$  difference in the overall mean and median intercept and slope was observed between the two models, demonstrating that the WLR model results were comparable. I also analyzed inter-lab variability in intercept, slope, and  $R^2$  estimates produced by passing curves from the WLR model in a multi-lab 2018 data set. Significant pairwise differences were detected in 11% of the 36 inter-lab intercept comparisons; no differences were detected in the slope or R<sup>2</sup> parameters. I concluded that the proposed standard curve acceptance criteria showed minimal variation between labs, thus ensuring reported results are accurate and reliable. In Chapter 3, I measured E. coli concentrations with Colilert<sup>TM</sup> and Draft Method C in water samples collected during the summer of 2018 from 14 inland lake and 6 Lake Michigan beaches in Muskegon County, MI. Kaplan-Meier distribution curves and log-rank trend tests were used to identify categorized environmental variables that significantly impacted E. coli concentrations based on the quantification method and the lake type. Bird count and birds present/absent significantly impacted E. coli levels at beaches of both lake types and quantification methods. The remaining variables significantly impacted E. coli concentrations depending on lake type and quantification method. Therefore, predictive models for beach water quality should

consider lake type and quantification method to account for the influence of environmental variables.

Dedication	
Acknowledgements	4
Preface	5
Abstract	6
Table of Contents	
List of Tables	11
List of Figures	
Abbreviations	
Chapter 1 : Introduction	17
Chapter 2 : A multi-laboratory comparison study of proposed star U.S. EPA Draft Method C	ndard curve acceptance criteria for
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Materials and Methods	
Participants	
Standards Instructions	
qPCR Assay	27
DNA Extraction (Filter blanks and calibrators only)	
Plate Setup	
Instrument Run Method	

Standard Curve Generation	29
Data Analysis	30
2.4 Results	32
Bayesian and Weighted Linear Regression Standard Curve Model Comparisons	32
Inter-lab variability of 2018 standard curve WLR estimated acceptance criteria	34
2.5 Discussion	35
Calibration Model Selection	37
Interlaboratory Comparisons of 2018 Acceptance Criteria	37
Future Considerations	38
2.6 Conclusion	41
2.7 Supplementary Materials	42
Supplemental Figures	42
Supplemental Tables	46
2.8 Acknowledgements	49
2.9 Author Contributions	49
2.10 Conflicts of Interest	49
2.11 References	50
Chapter 3 : Assessing the impact of environmental variables on <i>E. Coli</i> concentrations measured with Colilert <sup>®</sup> and Draft Method C (qPCR) at inland lake and Lake Michigan beaches within Muskegon County MI	53
31 Abstract	53

3.2 Introduction	54
3.3 Methods	
3.4 Results	66
Environmental Variables	66
Method Comparison	75
Lake Type Comparison	
3.5 Discussion	76
Environmental Variables	77
Method Comparison	81
Lake Type Comparison	82
3.6 Conclusion and Future Studies	
3.7 Supplemental Materials	85
Supplemental Tables	85
Supplemental Figures	
3.8 References	97
Chapter 4 : Extended Review of Literature and Extended Methodology	
4.1 Extended Literature Review	
4.2 Extended Methodology	117
Standard Curve Generation and Analysis	117
Environmental Variables and E. coli Concentrations	

## List of Tables

<b>Table 2.1</b> E. coli and salmon DNA forward ('F')/reverse ('R') primer sequences and TaqMan <sup>TM</sup> probe sequence used in Draft Method C.         28
<b>Table 2.2</b> Standard curve acceptance criteria for Draft Method C    30
<b>Table 2.3</b> Percent differences between WLR and Bayesian MSC estimates of intercept and slope         parameters for individual labs.
<b>Table 2.4</b> Percent differences between mean intercept estimates of passing standard curves for pairs of labs in the 2018 study. Only pairs of labs that showed a statistically significant difference are shown
<b>Table 3.1</b> Lake type, beach name, location, and sampling event dates (month/day) in this study60
<b>Table 3.2</b> Categorized environmental (explanatory) variable ranges for Kaplan-Meier distribution curves. Instances where the two lake types grouping range varied, they were differentiated as: IL = inland lake range; LM = Lake Michigan range
<b>Table S2.1</b> Labs participating in the 2016 and 2018 standard curve studies. An 'x' indicates the year a lab participated in the study
<b>Table S2.2</b> 95% Bayesian MSC Credible Intervals (BCIs) for intercept and slope parameters in the2016 validation study. LB = Lower Bound; UB = Upper Bound47
<b>Table S2.3</b> <i>p</i> -values from the 2018 inter-laboratory (codes A–I) pairwise Wilcoxon comparisons of intercept (a), slope (b), and R <sup>2</sup> (c). <i>P</i> -values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Holm correction

**Table S3.2** Log-rank trend test and log-rank paired with two-sample test for censored data *p*-values and z-statistic, where appropriate, from comparisons of categorized environmental variable (EV) Kaplan-Meier distribution curves. Bolded values were statistically significantly different ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).86

## List of Figures

**Figure 3.3** Method comparison of Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals for inland lake (a) and Lake Michigan (b) beaches. X-axis is the log base-10 of the observed *E. coli* concentration, on the original concentration scale, measured with Colilert ( $\log_{10}(MPN/100 \text{ mL})$ ) or qPCR ( $\log_{10}(Copies/100 \text{ mL})$ ). Y-axis is the probability that the concentration of a random sample will be less than or equal to the  $\log_{10}(concentration)$  on the x-axis.

**Figure S2.4** Individual labs (x-axis, codes A-I) WLR R<sup>2</sup> estimates (y-axis) values from passing standard curves in the 2018 study. Solid and dotted lines represent the median and mean values, respectively. R<sup>2</sup> acceptance criterion (0.98) is shown by a horizontal dashed line across the plot area.

Figure S3.7 All Lake Michigan beaches sampled for this study within Muskegon County, MI......93

## Abbreviations

ANCOVA: Analysis of Covariance	<b>KM</b> : Kaplan-Meier
BCI: Bayesian Credible Interval	<b>LOQ</b> : Limit of Quantification
<b>BEACH:</b> Beaches Environmental	<b>mL</b> : milliliters
Assessment and Coastal Health Act	<b>MM:</b> Master Mix
<b>BNV</b> : Beach Notification Value	<b>MPN:</b> Most probable number
<b>BSA:</b> Bovine Serum Albumin	MSC: Master Standard Curve
cfu: Colony forming units	<b>MUG:</b> 4-methyl-umbelliferyl $\beta$ -D-glucuronide
CI: Confidence Interval	NTC: No Template Control
<b>Coefficient of Determination:</b> R <sup>2</sup>	NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Unit
Ct: Threshold Cycle Value	PAR: Photosynthetically Active Radiation
DNA: Deoxyribonucleic Acid	PBS: Phosphate Buffer Saline
<i>E. coli:</i> Escherichia coli	qPCR: Quantitative Polymerase Chain
EGLE: Department of Environment, Great	Reaction
Lakes & Energy	<b>RW:</b> Recreational Water
EU: European Union	TAMRA: TaqMan probe quencher molecule
<b>EV(s)</b> : Environmental Variable(s)	Taq: Thermus aquaticus DNA polymerase
FAM: TaqMan probe reporter molecule	TaqMan: Thermo Fisher Taq DNA
FIB: Fecal Indicator Bacteria	polymerase
FRET: Fluorescence Resonance Energy	μg: microgram
Transfer	μL: microliter
<b>GE:</b> Genomic Equivalent	U.S. EPA: United States Environmental
GI: Gastrointestinal	Protection Agency
IA: Index of Agreement	WLR: Weighted Linear Regression

#### **Chapter 1 : Introduction**

Coastal communities throughout the world are impacted by the waters they border. These communities rely heavily upon these waters for employment opportunities, drinking water, and tourism, which in turn supports local businesses. Furthermore, coastal waters provide recreation opportunities such as boating, kayaking, swimming, and observing wildlife, all of which improve the quality of life for those who live near them. Because of the significant role these waters play in our lives, it is important to ensure they are safe for use. One way municipalities address this is by routinely monitoring the water at public beaches for potentially pathogenic fecal indicator bacteria. Exposure to fecal contaminated water has long been known to cause illness (Stevenson 1953; Cabelli and Dufour, 1982; Dufour 1984). Diseases associated with exposure to fecal contaminated water include respiratory or ear infections, skin irritations and gastrointestinal (GI) illness (Seyfried, et al., 1985 (I); Wade et al., 2008) and the economic impact from getting them can be substantial. Recently, it was estimated between \$2 – 4 billion was spent annually as a result of contracting these illnesses (Deflorio-Barker et al., 2018).

A commonly used United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) approved method to monitor recreational water for fecal bacteria, specifically *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), is called IDEXX Colilert-18<sup>TM</sup>. This method measures culturable *E. coli* cells and requires 18 – 22 h before results are obtained (Rice et al., 2012). Consequently, water quality results are not disseminated to county officials, beach managers or the public until the following day. If elevated *E. coli* levels are present, the beach closure or advisory occurs the day after the water sample(s) were obtained and exposures occurring on the day of sampling are not prevented. Since *E. coli* concentrations can vary greatly from day to day (Whitman, 1999; Dorevitch, 2017) monitoring programs that identify and prevent exposure on the same day are needed. One such method being developed uses a Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) assay first introduced, and described by, Holland et. al. (1991). This "rapid" qPCR technique is different from the Colilert method in that it measures a specific *E. coli* DNA sequence resulting in the quantification of both culturable and non-culturable *E. coli*. The use of qPCR as a replacement method has been validated repeatedly (Frahm and Obst, 2003; Haughland et al., 2005; Lavender and Kinzelman, 2009; Whitman et al., 2010) and in 2014, the U.S. EPA submitted a standardized draft method for the use of qPCR to measure *E. coli* in water samples called Draft Method C. Unlike current approved methods, no incubation is needed, which reduces turn-around time. Once the samples are collected and processed in the morning, only 2 - 3hours are theoretically needed to complete analysis, making it possible to sample and assess *E. coli* levels prior to peak beach usage times in the afternoon.

Before the new standardized qPCR method can be approved, it must be shown that laboratories with varying degrees of qPCR expertise can produce reliable and accurate results upon its implementation. One of the underlying components of Draft Method C is using pooled data from multiple individual standard curves to generate lab-specific composite standard curves. The individual standard curves are created from a series of known concentrations of a target analyte (Pfaffl et al., 2001; Rutledge et al., 2003), *E. coli* for our research, and the lab-specific standard curves are then used to determine the amount of *E. coli* DNA in water samples. To ensure the lab-specific composite curves will produce accurate results, individual standard curve acceptance criteria have been proposed. The purpose of Chapter 2 was two-fold: to assess the model chosen for generating standard curves and to determine the amount of inter-lab variation present after controlling for curves that passed the acceptance criteria proposed for Draft Method C. I hypothesized that: 1) selection of a simpler, more user-friendly model (i.e. Weighted Linear Regression) for generating a composite standard curve to quantify *E. coli* in recreational water samples is comparable to a more sophisticated Bayesian Master Standard Curve model used to set the standard curve acceptance criteria for Draft Method C, and 2) the standard curve acceptance criteria proposed in Sivaganesan et al., (2019) for the intercept, slope and, R<sup>2</sup> will reduce the amount of inherent method and analyst variability associated with qPCR techniques to ensure data obtained with Draft Method C are reproducible and accurate. Our analysis is one of the first steps in demonstrating whether Draft Method C will be usable across the country as a rapid standardized method for testing *E. coli* in recreational water. If the outcome of our analysis shows that multiple labs can reliably produce similar results when implementing Draft Method C, it documents that the proposed standardized qPCR method could be a replacement for the more time intensive Colilert method. The expedited qPCR method would provide same-day bacterial water quality results thus protecting recreators from potentially contacting harmful pathogens in the water on the day where the risk is high versus the following day when the risk may be lower.

Another aspect of introducing a new standardized method is to understand how it compares to the already approved method. Environmental variables such as rainfall or air and water temperature are used in models that predict microbial water quality exceedances based on already approved quantification methods (Frick et al., 2008; Byappanahalli et al., 2010). The purpose of Chapter 3 was to better understand how environmental variables observed during sampling would impact *E. coli* concentrations measured with the Colilert and qPCR methods at 14 inland lake and 6 Lake Michigan beaches within Muskegon County, MI. I hypothesized that, although there are differences in the underlying methodologies of the two methods, environmental variables would impact *E. coli* concentrations measured with the Colilert and qPCR methods similarly. More specifically, I predicted that (1) higher turbidity, amounts of rain, and number of birds will be associated with higher *E. coli* concentrations; (2) higher air and water temperatures and longer periods of time since rain occurred prior to sampling, will be associated with lower *E. coli* concentrations measured with Colilert would be lower than when

measured using qPCR; and (4) inland lakes will have higher E. coli concentrations than Lake Michigan beaches when quantified using both the Colilert and proposed qPCR methods, all with respect to their E. coli concentration distributions. To perform these analyses, I assumed environmental variables recorded at the center sampling site of Lake Michigan beaches were the same at the north, center, and south sample sites, and therefore the same measurement or recorded observation was used for all three sites at the same beach. Additionally, because E. coli concentrations measured at the same beach on a daily and hourly basis are largely variable (Whitman and Nevers, 2004; Wyer et al., 2018), the variability in E. coli concentrations measured on a weekly basis at the same site on the same beach in our study could be treated as independent from each other and repeated measures analysis was unnecessary. This information will inform predictive models created for microbial water quality about whether the two analytical methods impact E. coli concentrations similarly, thereby protecting the public's health from exposure to unsafe swimming conditions. Since up to 40% of observations contained no detectable *E. coli*, statistical analysis that allowed censored data to be included was needed. Therefore, survival analysis was used to provide a more representative picture of the impact of environmental parameters on E. coli distributions than studies that replace or remove the censored data.

The scope of this research includes a large data set from a 2016 and 2018 multi-lab Draft Method C validation study. A diverse group of labs took part in both the 2016 (21 labs across the Midwest and Southeast United States) and 2018 (9 labs across Michigan) studies, and included government, health department, and academic labs where analysts had varying degrees of experience with Draft Method C and qPCR. This research also included *E. coli* concentration data collected from 14 inland lake and 6 Lake Michigan public beaches within Muskegon County, MI. The county has approximately 42 km (26 miles) of Lake Michigan shoreline which plays a large role in its

economy. Following Chapters 2 and 3 are an extended review of the literature, extended methodology and bibliography.

# Chapter 2 : A multi-laboratory comparison study of proposed standard curve acceptance criteria for U.S. EPA Draft Method C

Authors: Molly J. Lane<sup>a\*</sup> (mjlane07@gmail.com), James McNair<sup>a</sup> (mcnairja@gvsu.edu), Igor Mrdjen<sup>a</sup> (igormrdjen10@gmail.com), Richard Rediske<sup>a</sup> (redisker@gvsu.edu)

<sup>a</sup> Grand Valley State University: 1 Campus Dr., Allendale, MI, 4940, USA

\*corresponding author

#### 2.1 Abstract

Draft Method C is a proposed standardized method for the absolute quantification of Escherichia coli (E. coli) in recreational waters. It uses a lab-specific composite curve generated from pooled results of individual standard curves. Three standard curve acceptance criteria proposed for individual curves to ensure results obtained with this method are of high quality are: intercept (36.66 to 39.25), slope (-3.23 to -3.74), and  $R^2 (\ge 0.98)$ . To test if Draft Method C will provide reproducible and accurate results, we compared intercept and slope estimates calculated with Bayesian Master Standard Curve (MSC) and Weighted Linear Regression (WLR) models using data generated by twenty laboratories in a 2016 method validation study. There was < 1% difference between the two models in the overall group mean and median intercept and slope estimates and when comparing individual labs' intercept estimations from the two models. Percent differences in slope estimates between the WLR and MSC models of individual labs ranged from 0.0 - 2.2%. We also analyzed inter-lab variability in the three acceptance criteria produced by passing curves from the WLR model in a 2018 data set. Significant pairwise differences were detected in four of the 36 (11%) inter-lab intercept comparisons and no differences were detected in the slope or  $R^2$ parameters. Our results support the use of Draft Method C as a rapid method for E. coli enumeration in recreational water samples because little variation was seen in the standard curve

acceptance criteria between labs, suggesting that the method can produce reliable and consistent results.

**Keywords:** qPCR, standard curve model, multi-laboratory study, Draft Method C, *E. coli*, absolute quantification, beach monitoring, fecal pollution, recreational water

#### 2.2 Introduction

Quantitative real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) has become a valuable tool for scientific research due to its specificity, analysis speed, and sensitivity. The technique has been implemented in environmental science and public health fields, where it is currently under regulatory consideration as a means for the rapid testing of fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) in recreational water (RW) samples. Since contact with fecal contaminated water increases the likelihood of developing RW illnesses (Dufour, 1984; Wade et al., 2006; Wade et al., 2008) such as ear infections, swimmer's itch, and gastrointestinal issues (Wade et al., 2008; Seyfried et al. a, 1985; Seyfried et al., b, 1985), FIBs are used to alert beach managers and goers to the presence of fecal contamination (DEQ, 2006; U.S. EPA, 2012). Furthermore, current bacterial recreational water quality criteria are based on the risk of contracting gastrointestinal illness after contact with fecal-contaminated water (Dufour, 1984; Cabelli & Dufour, 1982; U.S. EPA, 1986, 2012). Therefore, to reduce the risk of recreational exposure, public beaches are routinely monitored for the presence of FIB.

Enforcing recreational water quality guidelines across many localities requires a universal method—a method robust to the varying environmental conditions intrinsic to water bodies (i.e. turbidity and organic content), easily performed by laboratory analysts, and shown to produce reliable, consistent and accurate results. Draft Method C is being developed by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) as a universal, standardized qPCR assay for absolute quantification of *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), a potentially pathogenic FIB specific to the gut of

endothermic ("warm-blooded") animals (Whitman et. al., 1999). Absolute quantification by qPCR is achieved by fitting a standard curve, also called a calibration curve, to data consisting of the base-10 logarithms (log10) of a series of known concentrations of target DNA (the standards) and the corresponding measured threshold cycles (Ct values; Pfaffl et al., 2001; Rutledge et al., 2003). The fitted standard curve is used to estimate the initial copy number of the target DNA sequence in RW samples based on their measured Ct values.

Traditionally, qPCR assays include a single standard curve per plate and apply the fitted standard curve only to the samples on the same plate (Converse et al., 2009; Noble et al., 2010; Shanks et al., 2016). This procedure ensures the standard curve used to estimate initial copy numbers in the unknowns reflects the identical conditions, which differ from run to run, under which the samples were prepared and processed (e.g. small differences in master mix preparation). However, this reduces the number of samples that can be analyzed on each plate. A typical standard curve uses fifteen to eighteen wells, making it inefficient in terms of time and supply costs when large numbers of samples will be analyzed. An alternative approach is to have each lab analyze several independent standard curves prior to running samples, then create a single lab-specific composite standard curve by pooling the results (U.S. EPA, 2012, 2013, 2014). Subsequent plates are then populated with samples and quality control measures, such as sample processing controls and positive/negative controls, to determine if the sample was analyzed correctly or to identify matrix interferences which would inhibit the qPCR reaction. Samples are analyzed separately from the lab-specific composite standard curve, increasing sample processing efficiency. When using this method, uncertainty in concentration estimates increases since the lab-specific composite standard curve used to calculate concentrations in samples no longer accounts for the exact conditions during each instrument run. Thus, there is a trade-off between precision and efficiency.

Two methods for generating a lab-specific composite curve are: 1) a hierarchical Bayesian method to generate a Master Standard Curve (MSC) (Sivaganesan et. al., 2008; Green et al., 2014), and 2) a classical Weighted Linear Regression (WLR) model (U.S. EPA, 2014). The Bayesian MSC method (Sivaganesan et. al., 2008) requires specialized statistical software and therefore is not suitable for use by labs with limited statistical capabilities. Instead, Draft Method C will use Microsoft Excel software to generate a lab-specific composite standard curve from pooled results of independently analyzed standard curves within each lab implementing the method using a WLR model to quantify *E. coli* concentrations in RW samples. The WLR model was chosen over the Bayesian MSC method mainly because its simplicity permits implementation of the method using the more familiar Excel software.

Once an appropriate absolute quantification calibration model has been selected, it is important to assess model performance (i.e. reliability and consistency) because its reliability and robustness must be demonstrated before the method can become U.S. EPA approved. The use of quality assurance and quality control procedures, such as standard curve acceptance criteria, will help to ensure data quality and composite standard curve performance are acceptable (Shanks et. al., 2016). Standard curve acceptance criteria have been proposed for Draft Method C which include ranges for the y-intercept (hereafter referred to as intercept) and slope of individual standard curves as determined by a Bayesian MSC model (Sivaganesan et al., 2019). Additionally, Draft Method C has a designated acceptance criterion for a standard curve's R<sup>2</sup> value.

The goals of the present study were two-fold: 1) determine if the WLR standard curve model selected for Draft Method C yields results similar to the Bayesian MSC method and 2) determine the amount of variation produced after controlling for curves passing the standard curve acceptance criteria. To achieve these goals, we 1) used the WLR model to calculate the mean intercept, slope, and 95% confidence intervals (CI) of lab-specific composite curve estimates with Ct values

produced during a 2016 Draft Method C validation study and compared them with the mean estimates obtained using the Bayesian MSC for each lab by visually assessing side-by-side plots and calculating the percent difference in mean estimates between the WLR and MSC models and 2) evaluated inter-lab variability of the intercept, slope, and R<sup>2</sup> parameters estimated with the WLR model for individual standard curves analyzed in 2018.

#### 2.3 Materials and Methods

Both the 2016 and 2018 studies used the *E. coli* EC23S857 qPCR assay, a specific region on the 23S rRNA gene of *E. coli* that is detected and amplified, and the same methods of DNA extractions and qPCR analysis. Methods used to construct standard curves for the 2016 Draft Method C validation study (Bayesian MSC) are described in detail by Sivaganesan et al. (2019). Methods used to construct the 2018 standard curves (WLR) are described below.

#### Participants

A diverse group of 21 labs from across the midwestern and southeastern United States participated in studies conducted in 2016, and 9 labs from across the state of Michigan participated in 2018 (Table S2.1). Government, university and county health department labs were represented in both studies. In each study, labs were assigned a unique code: '1' through '21' in 2016 (Sivaganesan et al., 2019) or 'A' through 'T' in 2018 to maintain anonymity when referring to them.

#### Standards Instructions

Standards (estimated copy numbers: standard 1 = 25,822.6; standard 2 = 3,396.25; standard 3 = 417.83; standard 4 = 54.83; standard 5 = 11.61) were prepared and verified at the U.S. EPA Cincinnati laboratory, as described in Sivaganesan et al. (2019), then shipped to a central lab that managed their distribution to the remaining labs. Standards were shipped overnight on dry ice. The U.S. EPA recommended that standards should be stored in 20  $\mu$ L aliquots at -80°C until ready for

use. Each time a standard curve was analyzed, a set of the five concentrations of aliquoted standards were removed from the freezer and any unused standard was discarded.

#### qPCR Assay

In addition to the EC23S857 E. coli qPCR assay, a Sketa22 (salmon DNA) qPCR assay also was used. The Sketa22 assay amplifies a segment of the internal transcribed spacer region 2 (ITS2) of the salmon rRNA gene operon and was used as a sample processing and reaction inhibition control. The reporter molecule was FAM and the quencher molecule was TAMRA. Assay master mix (MM) was prepared by combining TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> Environmental MM 2.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY) (12.5 µL), 2.0 mg/mL stock solution bovine serum albumin (BSA) from fraction V powder (Sigma B-4287 or equivalent) (2.5 µL) dissolved in PCR-grade water, 500 µM stock solution of E. coli or sketa22 forward and reverse primers combined with 100 µM stock solution of E. coli or Sketa22 probes (3.0 µL) (Invitrogen or equivalent) (Table 2.1), and qPCR-grade water (2.0 µL). Volumes in parentheses are volumes specified in Draft Method C to use per 25 µL qPCR reaction being carried out. Two standard curves were permitted to be analyzed on the same 96-well plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) provided separate batches of MM were prepared for each curve. A single lot of TaqMan<sup>™</sup> Environmental MM 2.0 (Table 2.1) was used by all eight labs (Lot#180115) and confirmed to have no underlying E. coli contamination by analyzing six No Template Controls (NTC) of AE buffer (Qiagen), run in duplicate (Saginaw Valley State University). All NTC runs resulted in an 'Undetermined' Ct value; meaning no fluorescence was detected above the background 'noise' or fluorescence signal, indicating the absence of E. coli DNA template in the TaqMan<sup>™</sup>.

	Primer/probe		Forward & reverse primer sequence	
Assay	name	Locus	(5' to 3')	TaqMan™ probe sequence
E. coli	EC23S857	16S rRNA	F: GGTAGAGCACTGTTTTGGCA	(6-FAM)-5'- TCATCCCGACTTACCAACCCG- TAMRA
			R: TGTCTCCCGTGATAACTTTCTC	
Salmon DNA	Sketa22	23S rRNA	F: GGTTTCCGCAGCTGGG	(6-FAM)-5'- AGTCGCAGGCGGCCACCGT- TAMRA
			R: CCGAGCCGTCCTGGTC	

**Table 2.1** *E. coli* and salmon DNA forward ('F')/reverse ('R') primer sequences and TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> probe sequence used in Draft Method C.

#### DNA Extraction (Filter blanks and calibrators only)

Each standard curve required three calibrator filters (positive controls; 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> E. coli cell equivalents) and three filter blanks (negative controls) prepared on separate sterile disposable MicroFunnel<sup>TM</sup> Filter Funnels (Pall Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI or equivalent) or re-useable filter funnel units. Calibrators were prepared by filtering 1 mL of a 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> E. coli suspension in sterile Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) (pH =  $7.4 \pm 0.2$ ), through a polycarbonate 47 mm diameter with 0.45 um pore size filters (Millipore or equivalent) seated on a sterile filtration unit. The same procedure was used to filter 20 mL of PBS for filter blank preparation. Filters from calibrators and filter blanks were folded in half four times and placed in a 2.0 mL sterile semi-conical, screw-cap microcentrifuge tube containing 0.3g ( $\pm$  0.01g) of acid-washed glass beads. Next, 600 µL of AE Buffer spiked with 0.2 µg/mL salmon DNA (sketa22) was added to each extraction tube and tightly sealed. Extraction tubes were bead milled for 1.0 min at 5,000 rpm then centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 5 min. Approximately 400  $\mu$ L of the crude DNA extract was removed and transferred into a clean correspondingly labeled, sterile 1.7 mL low retention micro-centrifuge tube and centrifuged again for 1 min at 12,000 x g, then  $\sim 100 \,\mu\text{L}$  of the clarified supernatant was transferred into a second sterile centrifuge tube. Calibrator and filter blank extracts were analyzed shortly after extraction along with each standard curve.

#### Plate Setup

Extracted DNA from calibrator and filter blanks were analyzed in duplicate with both *E. coli* and salmon MM separately. NTC and standards 1–5 were tested in triplicate solely with *E. coli* MM. (Figure S2.1). Each well contained 25  $\mu$ L of final reaction volume; 20.0  $\mu$ L of prepared MM, as described in section 2.3, and 5.0  $\mu$ L of the supplied *E. coli* DNA standard or positive/negative control or NTC.

#### Instrument Run Method

Thermocycling consisted of an initial 'holding stage' (50.0°C, 2 min; 95.0°C, 10 min) followed by 40 cycles of DNA denaturation and primer/probes annealing (95.0°C, 15 s; 56.0°C, 1 min). At the end of each of the 40 cycles, fluorescence was measured by the instrument (StepOnePlus, Applied Biosystems). The fluorescence threshold, or the level of fluorescence in which the signal rises above the background level, was manually set to 0.03  $\Delta$ Rn and baseline cycles were set to AUTO determination (Sivaganesan et al., 2019).

#### Standard Curve Generation

Upon completion of the instrument runs, data were exported from the StepOne<sup>™</sup> Software (v2.3) and the resulting Ct values were copied into an accompanying Draft Method C Excel workbook where they were fitted to the WLR model of the form:

$$X_{ijk} = \alpha_i + \beta_i \log_{10}(X_j) + \varepsilon_{ijk} \tag{1}$$

where  $X_{ijk}$  is the observed Ct value for replicate k of standard j in run i;  $\alpha_i$  and  $\beta_i$  are the intercept and slope, respectively, for run i;  $X_j$  is the known copy number in standard j, and  $\varepsilon_{ijk}$  is the statistical error in the observed threshold cycle. A separate WLR was fitted to data for each standard curve run, and the externally Studentized residuals (Cook and Weisberg, 1983; p. 20) were examined to identify and remove up to two outliers from each data set if needed. The WLR model was then re-

fitted to the retained data for each run, and the intercept, slope, and  $R^2$  values for each standard curve were assessed for acceptability based on the proposed standard curve acceptance criteria developed for Draft Method C (Table 2.2). When all three parameters met the acceptance criteria, an individual curve was considered 'passing' but, if any one of the three parameters failed, a curve was considered 'failing'. Draft Method C requires a minimum of four passing individual cures to generate the lab-specific composite curve used to analyze RW samples therefore, if there were fewer than four passing, labs were requested to analyze additional curves. Only passing curves were considered for further statistical analysis of the 2018 data.

Parameter Criteria Reference 36.66 to 39.25 Intercept (Sivaganesan et al., 2019) -3.23 to -3.74 Slope (Sivaganesan et al., 2019) (Draft Method C and U.S. R-squared (R<sup>2</sup>)  $\geq 0.98$ EPA, 2014)

 Table 2.2 Standard curve acceptance criteria for Draft Method C

#### Data Analysis

#### Bayesian MSC and WLR Standard Curve Model Comparisons

Labs participating in the 2016 validation study analyzed four to five standard curve assays each, as described in Sivaganesan et. al, (2019) for a total of ninety-one curves analyzed. To obtain the WLR model values, intercept and slope data for each lab's separate passing standard curve runs were assessed with the Draft Method C Excel workbook which uses an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) to determine if there was evidence ( $\alpha = 0.01$ ) that any parameter estimates differed among runs. If not  $(p \ge 0.01$  for both parameters), results from the individual curves were pooled, and a WLR was performed to estimate the lab-specific composite curve intercept, slope and 95% CI for each lab. Mean intercept and slope estimates from the Bayesian MSC model for individual labs were taken from the 2016 validation study (Sivaganesan et al., 2019); the 95% Bayesian Credible Intervals (BCIs) are provided in the supplemental material (Table S2). The ANCOVA evaluation

was used in the WLR model only, and not the Bayesian MSC model. Intercept and slope estimates, and corresponding 95% CIs and BCIs, from the WLR and Bayesian MSC models, respectively, for each lab were plotted and compared visually. Comparisons also were made by examining the relative percent difference between the WLR and MSC models of the intercept and slope estimates for each lab. Percent differences were calculated by dividing the absolute value of the difference between the two models' mean estimates by the average of the absolute values of the two models' estimates and multiplying by one hundred.

#### Inter-lab variability of 2018 standard curve WLR estimated acceptance criteria

Each of the nine labs participating in 2018 used the WLR calibration model in the Draft Method C Excel workbook to analyze the instrument-determined Ct values for each individual standard curve and the workbooks were then shared with the authors of this study. Each lab produced between four and ten standard curves for a total of eighty-two. Of these curves, only those that passed all three acceptance criteria were considered for further statistical analysis.

Potential differences between acceptance criteria estimates produced by individual labs were assessed by determining the statistical significance of parameter differences and, where a statistically significant difference was detected, the relative magnitude of the difference on a percent scale was determined, as described above. The main goals of the assessment were to determine the proportion of labs for which a statistically significant difference was detected for each parameter and, more importantly, the relative magnitude of any detected differences.

Inter-lab comparisons were carried out using a pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test (Hollander et al. 2014) on each parameter; *p*-values adjusted with a Holm correction were used to account for multiple comparisons to test the null hypothesis that the locations of the distributions of reported intercept, slope, and  $R^2$  estimates were the same for each pair of labs against the two-sided alternative hypothesis that they were different. The Wilcoxon rank sum test is a nonparametric test

and does not assume a specific distribution for the individual estimates. All statistical analyses were performed using R Software (v3.5.2; R Core Team, 2018). Prior to any analysis, two data points from one lab (code H) were removed due to knowledge of errors during plate sealing.

#### 2.4 Results

### Bayesian and Weighted Linear Regression Standard Curve Model Comparisons

All passing standard curves from the 2016 validation study had intercept and slope estimates that passed the ANCOVA test which allowed for a WLR composite standard curve to be produced for every lab. However, lab code 21 was excluded from the model comparisons since it was not used in the Bayesian MSC analysis (Sivaganesan et al., 2019).

*Intercept:* Estimates of the intercept and the corresponding 95% CI and BCI calculated from WLR and Bayesian MSC models were similar within each lab (Figure 2.1). The overall means of the WLR and MSC Ct intercept estimates across all twenty labs were 38.01 and 37.98, respectively; the overall medians of the WLR and MSC estimates were 37.97 and 37.96, respectively. Thus, there was < 1% difference between the two models for the overall mean and median intercept Ct estimates. Across all twenty labs there was a < 1% average difference between the WLR and MSC intercept estimates when comparisons were made within each of the individual labs (Table 2.3).

Slope: The slope estimates calculated from the WLR and Bayesian MSC models also exhibited similar means and 95% CIs and BCIs, respectively (Figure 2.2). The overall means of the WLR and MSC slope estimates were -3.50 and -3.49, respectively; the overall medians of the WLR and MSC slope estimates were -3.51 and -3.50, respectively. As determined for the intercept estimates above, there again was < 1% difference between the overall mean and median of the two models. Assessment of the overall average difference of individual labs was < 1% difference

between the WLR and MSC slope estimates. Percent differences between slope estimates calculated with two models ranged from 0.0 - 2.2% (Table 2.3).



**Figure 2.1** Comparison of mean intercept estimates for the 2016 standard curve composite WLR (green bars with open circles) and Bayesian MSC (purple bars with open triangles) models. Open circles and triangles on bars indicate the mean least-squares and Bayesian intercept estimates, respectively. Bars represent the WLR 95% CI (green) and MSC 95% BCI (purple).



**Figure 2.2** Comparison of slope estimates of the 2016 standard curve composite WLR (green bar with open circle) and Bayesian MSC (purple bar with open triangles) models. Open circles and triangles on bars indicate the mean least-squares and Bayesian slope estimates, respectively. Bars represent the WLR 95% CI (green) and Bayesian MSC 95% BCI (purple).

Lab Code	Percent (%) Difference: Intercept	Percent (%) Difference: Slope	
1	0.02	0.03	
2	0.18	1.3	
3	0.47	1.8	
4	0.25	0.76	
5	0.03	0.20	
6	0.13	0.37	
7	0.00	0.37	
8	0.01	0.00	
9	0.21	1.3	
10*	0.18	0.71	
11	0.64	2.23	
12	0.20	0.63	
13	0.07	0.33	
14*	0.31	1.1	
15	0.10	0.46	
16	0.29	0.77	
17	0.10	0.03	
18	0.04	0.32	
19	0.18	0.85	
20	0.33	1.6	

**Table 2.3** Percent differences between WLR and Bayesian MSC estimates of intercept and slope parameters for individual labs.

\*Denotes labs using BioRad instrument

#### Inter-lab variability of 2018 standard curve WLR estimated acceptance criteria

Overall, sixty-three of the eighty-two (76.8%) standard curves analyzed in 2018 passed all three acceptance criteria for intercept, slope, and  $R^2$ . The intercept criterion was most frequently met, with seventy-four curves (90.2%) meeting the proposed criterion (Figure 2.3). Seventy-three curves passed the  $R^2$  criterion (89.0%), and seventy-two curves met the slope acceptance criterion (87.8%) (Figure 2.3). Statistical comparisons of the reported estimates of intercept, slope, and  $R^2$ were restricted to sixty-three curves that met all three criteria.

Four of the thirty-six (11.1%) inter-lab intercept estimate (Figure S2.2) pairwise comparisons resulted in statistically significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) (Table S2.3a). Percent differences between labs whose WLR estimates of intercept were statistically significantly different are shown in Table

2.4. No inter-lab pairwise differences in mean slope (Figure S2.3) and R<sup>2</sup> (Figure S2.4) estimates

were detected (p > 0.05) (Tables S2.3b and S2.3c).

**Table 2.4** Percent differences between mean intercept estimates of passing standard curves for pairs of labs in the 2018 study. Only pairs of labs that showed a statistically significant difference are shown.

Lab Codes	Percent (%) Difference: Intercept
A–G	1.4
E–H	1.9
F–G	1.8
G–H	2.1

#### **2.5 Discussion**

To the best of our knowledge, this was the first study to compare intercept and slope estimates obtained with the Bayesian MSC model to those obtained with the WLR model and assess inter-lab variability of three proposed Draft Method C standard curve acceptance criteria across multiple labs within different regions. Comparisons of the two calibration models showed a < 1% difference between the mean and median intercept and slope estimates. Additionally, all differences between the Bayesian MSC and WLR estimates of intercept and slope for individual labs were below 3%. Inter-lab pairwise comparisons of WLR 2018 data detected the highest number of statistically significant differences in intercept estimates among labs, with four of the thirty-six pairwise comparisons showing differences and a relative percent difference between labs of only  $\leq$  2.1%. Statistically significant pairwise differences of slope and  $R^2$  were not detected.

While a well-studied qPCR method for measuring *Enterococcus* (U.S. EPA, 2012; U.S. EPA, 2013; Sivaganesan et al., 2014; Haugland et al., 2005; Whitman et al., 2010) already exists and is associated with gastrointestinal illness in marine waters (Colford et al., 2012), *E. coli* enumeration may be a better predictor of gastrointestinal illness in freshwater systems (Pruss et al., 1998). A meta-

analysis of RW quality literature published from 1950 to 2003 reported that most studies indicated *E. coli* as being a more suitable predictor of gastrointestinal illness in freshwater than other bacterial indicators (Wade et al., 2003). Therefore, a standardized qPCR method for quantification of *E. coli* in freshwaters, such as Draft Method C, is needed to protect public health.



**Figure 2.3** Summary of all 2018 standard curve acceptance criteria for participating labs (codes A-I). Blue dashed horizontal lines represent the acceptance criteria value(s). Points in shaded area did not meet the acceptance criteria.
## Calibration Model Selection

Absolute quantification of *E. coli* by qPCR requires a standard curve model. A recent study compared gene copy estimates in water samples obtained with the Bayesian MSC model to those obtained using the delta-delta Ct ( $\Delta\Delta$ Ct) model, the absolute quantification method used to enumerate *Enterococcus* in RW (U.S. EPA, 2012, 2013), and found no statistically significant differences in estimates, although the MSC model exhibited overall higher gene copy estimates in all samples (Aw et al., 2019). Similarly, our study compared two standard curve models, the Bayesian MSC model, used to set the Draft Method C acceptance criteria, to those obtained with the WLR model, used in the current Draft Method C Excel workbook, and found very little variability in the means and medians of intercept and slope estimates (< 1%) calculated with both models indicating that parameter estimates from the two quantification models are quite similar. This result supports selection of the simpler, more user-friendly WLR model to be used in Draft Method C for RW sample analysis.

Although the intercept and slope estimates produced with the two different standard curve models are similar within a single lab, visual assessment of Figures 2.1 and 2.2 indicate the presence of some variability between labs. In 2016, all labs did not have  $-80^{\circ}$ C storage, which may have caused the variation (Aw et al., 2019), compared to 2018 when all labs did have the recommended sample storage capabilities. Proper storage and handling of DNA standards is important to qPCR method performance (Sivaganesan et al., 2010; Sivaganesan et al., 2008; Shanks et al., 2016; Bustin et al., 2009), therefore suboptimal storage conditions of standards could cause DNA to degrade and subsequently impact the standard curve assay outcome (Dhanasekaran et al., 2010).

# Interlaboratory Comparisons of 2018 Acceptance Criteria

The theory underlying Eq. (1) suggests that variation should be more pronounced in the intercept than in the slope, because the slope is smaller in absolute value and reflects inter-run

variation in only a single underlying parameter (the amplification factor) while the intercept is larger and reflects inter-run variation in two underlying parameters (the amplification factor and fluorescence of the passive reference dye) thus more variability in the intercept criterion was expected. However, calibration curves in our study were analyzed in multiple labs on different instruments and were therefore more likely to exhibit greater variability from instrumental and analyst factors (Sivaganesan et al., 2008) than because of the underlying standard curve model theory.

The coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ) for a linear ordinary least-squares regression model indicates the proportion of total variation in the response variable that is attributable to (or explained by) the predictor variable. The lack of detected significant differences in  $R^2$  values indicated there was little variation among labs in this measurement of curve acceptance and that the predictor variable (log<sub>10</sub> of the initial copy number) consistently accounted for a very high proportion of total variation in the response variable (Ct value). Overall, 89% of standard curves analyzed in 2018 had a passing  $R^2$  acceptance criterion, indicating that the proposed 0.98 acceptance value was replicable in practice by multiple labs.

# Future Considerations

Variation and error can be introduced during each step of qPCR analysis (Baker et al., 2011). Factors such as storage time, storage temperature of standards and reagents, precision of dilutions, and pipette calibration can influence the accuracy of standard concentration measurements used to create the calibration model (Sivaganesan et al., 2008; Sivaganesan et al., 2010). Additionally, differences in the equipment used within laboratories and the ability of analysts to pipette uniformly contribute to variation in absolute quantification by qPCR. Visible differences are seen in the 2016 intercept acceptance criterion values of labs 10 and 14 that used a different brand of thermocycler than the other participants (Figure 2.1) therefore, we agree with Ruijter et al. (2013) that in-depth

studies are needed to evaluate variability introduced to standard curves when using different thermocycler instruments. Also, for some labs participating in 2016, the standards storage temperature was not at the U.S. EPA recommended temperature of  $-80^{\circ}$ C, therefore we also recommend that labs implementing Draft Method C use a  $-80^{\circ}$ C storage freezer. Future work evaluating the variation in the resulting lab-specific composite curves of individual labs are also recommended along with epidemiological studies to show that bacteria concentrations measured with Draft Method C are associated with predicting recreators' risk of illness.

Further experimental studies are needed to evaluate intra-laboratory variation when implementing Draft Method C to better understand how individual analysts perform based on their experience. Pipetting is a fundamental element of qPCR and an analyst's ability to repeatedly and consistently pipette small volumes is vital to getting accurate results when performing Draft Method C. Lippi et al. (2017) tested whether an analyst's pipetting experience impacted their performance and saw no correlation between an analyst's age, sex or years of experience (varying from nine to forty-seven years of experience) and their pipetting precision. Conversely, Aw et al. (2019) concluded that prior experience with qPCR appeared to contribute to failure of quality control measures like those examined in this study. However, aside from knowing analyst experience with Draft Method C in the 2018 study, the extent of prior experience with qPCR or pipetting was unknown. Another key finding in the Lippi et al. study was a comparison of inter- and intra-analyst imprecision when pipetting volumes of 10 µL, 100 µL, and 1 mL of water which determined that the smaller the volume pipetted, the more error there was (Lippi et al., 2017). Draft Method C requires pipetting volumes as low as 5  $\mu$ L, much lower than previously examined. This reinforces the use of acceptance criteria to ensure analysts are performing within a defined acceptable range and subsequently providing correct estimates of bacteria concentrations in RW samples.

The variability introduced by the plethora of environmental factors which occur during sampling also needs be considered when developing a standardized method. Items such as sampling frequency or time of day, number of samples collected per site, sampling season and sample depth can all introduce variability in bacterial quantification (Whitman et al., 2004). Likewise, spatial and temporal variation arise when quantifying bacterial concentrations (Whitman et al., 2004). For these reasons, a standardized method for absolute quantification of *E. coli* by qPCR is vital for ensuring results are consistent and reliable while reducing variability where possible.

Not only is it important to understand where variation occurs when implementing a standardized method such as Draft Method C, it is equally essential to understand how the variation impacts the reported *E. coli* values. The proposed individual standard curve acceptance criteria serve as a screening process where poor quality data are rejected. Therefore, it is important to know if the set criteria prevent large variation in the final *E. coli* concentrations. For example, the largest percent difference of 2.1% between lab codes G and H (Table 2.4) is not substantial in terms of percentages, but further studies are needed to better understand what a 1 - 2% difference may mean to the final *E. coli* concentration. Similarly, although no statistically significant differences were detected in passing slope or  $R^2$  estimates generated by labs, the range of values (Slope: -3.31 - -3.71;  $R^2$ : 0.98 – 0.99) could potentially result in reportable *E. coli* quantities falling above or below the bacteria exceedance level. Analyses looking at the effect this variability could have on reported *E. coli* quantities is important because it may be the difference between a beach remaining open or an exceedance causing a beach closure, at the detriment of recreators and the surrounding businesses. If the proposed standard curve acceptance criteria need to be more stringent, the acceptance range can be reduced to limit variation in final measured *E. coli* quantities.

# 2.6 Conclusion

The results of this study provide evidence that absolute quantification of *E. coli* by qPCR using Draft Method C can provide reliable and reproducible results for RW samples. Our analyses of the mean intercept and slope estimates from the 2016 multi-laboratory study demonstrated that the WLR calibration model produces comparable results to the Bayesian MSC model used to set the acceptance criteria. Our pairwise comparisons of passing individual standard curve intercept, slope and  $R^2$  estimates produced by multiple laboratories, which are used to generate the lab-specific composite curves, demonstrated little variation among labs as well. To advance these findings, further analysis is needed to determine what these detected differences mean to the magnitude of reported *E. coli* quantities measured with Draft Method C. Our findings support the use of Draft Method C as a rapid, standardized protocol for *E. coli* enumeration at public beaches.

# 2.7 Supplementary Materials

# Supplemental Figures



**Figure S2.1** 96-well plate setup for 2 standard curves per plate. NTC = No Template Control; Cal. = Calibrator; FB = Filter Blank.



**Figure S2.2** Individual labs (x-axis, codes A-I) WLR intercept estimates (y-axis) values from passing standard curves in the 2018 study. Solid and dotted lines inside boxes represents the median and mean values, respectively. Intercept acceptance criteria range (36.66 to 39.25) is shown with horizontal dashed lines across the plot area.



**Figure S2.3** Individual labs (x-axis, codes A-I) WLR slope estimates (y-axis) from passing standard curves in the 2018 study. Solid and dotted lines inside boxes represents the median and mean values, respectively. Slope acceptance criteria range (-3.23 to -3.74).



**Figure S2.4** Individual labs (x-axis, codes A-I) WLR R<sup>2</sup> estimates (y-axis) values from passing standard curves in the 2018 study. Solid and dotted lines represent the median and mean values, respectively. R<sup>2</sup> acceptance criterion (0.98) is shown by a horizontal dashed line across the plot area.

# Supplemental Tables

**Table S2.1** Labs participating in the 2016 and 2018 standard curve studies. An 'x' indicates the year a lab participated in the study.

Lab	Location	2016	2018
Central Michigan District Health Department, Assurance Water Laboratory	Gladwin, MI	X	X
City of Racina Public Health Dapartment	Racino WI	v	
City of Racine Fubic Health Department	Kacilie, wi	Λ	
Ferris State University, Shimadzu Core Laboratory	Big Rapids, MI	Х	Х
Georgia Southern University, Department of Environmental Health Sciences	Statesboro, GA	X	
Grand Valley State University, Annis Water Resources Institute	Muskegon, MI	X	Х
Health Department of Northwest Michigan, Northern Michigan Regional Laboratory	Gaylord, MI	Х	
Kalamazoo County Health and Community Services Laboratory	Kalamazoo, MI	Х	
Lake Superior State University, Environmental Analysis Laboratory	Sault St. Marie, MI	Х	Х
Marquette Area Wastewater Facility	Marquette, MI	Х	Х
Michigan State University, Department of Fisheries and Wildlife	East Lansing, MI	Х	
Northeast Ohio Regional Sewer District, Environmental and Maintenance Services Center	Cuyahoga Heights, OH	Х	
Oakland County Health Division Laboratory	Pontiac, MI	Х	Х
Oakland University, HEART Laboratory	Rochester, MI	Х	Х
U.S. EPA National Exposure Research Laboratory	Cincinnati, OH	Х	
United States Geological Survey, Upper Midwest Water Science Center	Lansing, MI	X	Х
U.S. National Parks Service, Sleeping Bear Dunes Water Laboratory	Empire, MI	Х	
Saginaw County Health Department Laboratory	Saginaw, MI	Х	
Saginaw Valley State University, Department of Chemistry	University Center, MI	Х	Х
University of Illinois at Chicago, School of Public Health	Chicago, IL	Х	
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Institute of Marine Sciences	Morehead City, NC	Х	
University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, Environmental Research Laboratory	Oshkosh, WI	X	

	Intercept		Slo	pe
Lab Code	LB	UB	LB	UB
1	37.64	38.04	-3.615	-3.497
2	37.77	38.69	-3.786	-3.486
3	37.54	38.02	-3.615	-3.452
4	38.10	38.57	-3.643	-3.501
5	37.65	38.47	-3.604	-3.348
6	37.09	37.67	-3.604	-3.404
7	37.81	38.52	-3.399	-3.182
8	37.50	37.95	-3.558	-3.426
9	37.57	38.40	-3.446	-3.220
10	38.87	39.39	-3.472	-3.316
11	37.78	38.70	-3.705	-3.398
12	37.45	37.98	-3.574	-3.404
13	37.65	38.20	-3.692	-3.522
14	36.68	37.62	-3.810	-3.450
15	37.69	38.31	-3.601	-3.391
16	37.54	38.11	-3.460	-3.277
17	38.01	38.79	-3.641	-3.433
18	38.09	38.94	-3.571	-3.269
19	37.38	37.89	-3.592	-3.418
20	37.29	38.04	-3.563	-3.301

**Table S2.2** 95% Bayesian MSC Credible Intervals (BCIs) for intercept and slope parameters in the 2016 validation study. LB = Lower Bound; UB = Upper Bound.

a.								
Interce	ept A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Η
В	1.0	0 -	-	-	-	-	-	-
С	0.26	57 0.90	)2 -	-	-	-	-	-
D	1.0	0 1.0	0 0.54	-3 -	-	-	-	-
Е	0.06	52 1.0	0 1.00	0 0.52	7 -	-	-	-
F	1.0	0 1.0	0 0.26	0.68	6 0.089	-	-	-
G	0.04	<b>14</b> 0.90	0.90	0.31	9 1.00	0.005	-	-
Η	0.06	57 0.20	67 0.40	0 0.26	7 <b>0.005</b>	0.067	<0.005	-
Ι	0.26	57 1.0	0 1.00	0.90	2 1.00	0.267	1.00	1.00
b.								
Slope	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н
В	1.00	-	-	-	-	-	-	
С	1.00	1.00	-	-	-	-	-	
D	1.00	1.00	1.00	) -	-	-	-	
Е	0.242	0.338	3 1.00	) 1.00	) -	-	-	
F	1.00	1.00	1.00	) 1.00	0.170	- (	-	
G	0.379	0.069	9 1.00	) 1.00	) 1.00	0.379	-	
Н	1.00	1.00	1.00	) 1.00	) 1.00	1.00	1.00	
<u> </u>	1.00	1.00	1.00	) 1.00	0 1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
<u>c.</u>			~				~	
$R^2$	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	H
В	1.00	-	-	-	-	-	-	
С	1.00	1.00	-	-	-	-	-	
D	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-	-	-	
Е	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-	-	
F	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	-	
G	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	-	
Н	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	
Ι	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00

**Table S2.3** *p*-values from the 2018 inter-laboratory (codes A–I) pairwise Wilcoxon comparisons of intercept (a), slope (b), and  $R^2$  (c). *P*-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Holm correction.

#### 2.8 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Erin Dreelin (MSU) and Rich Haugland (U.S. EPA) for graciously sharing their data; Shannon Briggs (EGLE) for helping to keep lines of communication between labs and contributors open; Mano Sivagensan (U.S. EPA) for answering the onslaught of questions regarding composite curve generation in Draft Method C; Brian Scull (AWRI) for all your advice and support; and all the labs participating in the 2018 study, this paper would not be possible without your support and help in understanding your data. Thank you to Charlyn Partridge for editing the early draft of this manuscript. We would also like to thank Grand Valley State University for the Presidential Grant, Annis Water Resources Institute for the Graduate Assistantship and Muskegon County Public Health for providing funding for this project.

# 2.9 Author Contributions

Conceptualization: James McNair, Igor Mrdjen, & Molly J. Lane; Methodology: Igor Mrdjen, James McNair, Molly J. Lane; Software: James McNair & Molly J. Lane; Writing: Original Draft Preparation: Molly J. Lane, Richard Rediske, James McNair.

# 2.10 Conflicts of Interest

None

# 2.11 References

- Aw, T. G.; Sivaganesan, M.; Briggs, S.; Dreelin, E.; Aslan, A.; Dorevitch, S.; Shrestha, A.; Isaacs, N.; Kinzelman, J.; Kleinheinz, G.; et al. Evaluation of Multiple Laboratory Performance and Variability in Analysis of Recreational Freshwaters by a Rapid Escherichia Coli QPCR Method (Draft Method C). *Water Research* 2019, *156*, 465–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.014.
- (2) Baker, M. QPCR: Quicker and Easier but Don't Be Sloppy. *Nature Methods* **2011**, *8* (3), 207–212. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth0311-207.
- (3) Bustin, S. A.; Benes, V.; Garson, J. A.; Hellemans, J.; Huggett, J.; Kubista, M.; Mueller, R.; Nolan, T.; Pfaffl, M. W.; Shipley, G. L.; et al. The MIQE Guidelines: Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments. *Clinical Chemistry* 2009, *55* (4), 611–622. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2008.112797.
- (4) Cabelli, V. J.; Dufour, A. P.; McCABE, L. J.; Levin, M. A. Swimming-Associated Gastroenteritis and Water Quality. *American Journal of Epidemiology* **1982**, *115* (4), 606–616. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113342.
- (5) Colford, J. M.; Schiff, K. C.; Griffith, J. F.; Yau, V.; Arnold, B. F.; Wright, C. C.; Gruber, J. S.; Wade, T. J.; Burns, S.; Hayes, J.; et al. Using Rapid Indicators for Enterococcus to Assess the Risk of Illness after Exposure to Urban Runoff Contaminated Marine Water. *Water Research* 2012, 46 (7), 2176–2186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.01.033.
- (6) Converse, R. R.; Blackwood, A. D.; Kirs, M.; Griffith, J. F.; Noble, R. T. Rapid QPCR-Based Assay for Fecal Bacteroides Spp. as a Tool for Assessing Fecal Contamination in Recreational Waters. *Water Research* 2009, *43* (19), 4828–4837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.06.036.
- (7) Cook, R. D.; Weisberg, S. Diagnostics for Heteroscedasticity in Regression. *Biometrika* **1983**, 70 (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.2307/2335938.
- (8) Department of Environmental Quality, Water Resources Protection. Michigan Public Health Code and Rule 323.1062(1) of Part 4. Water Quality Standards. Water Bureau January 13, 2006.
- (9) Dhanasekaran, S.; Doherty, T. M.; Kenneth, J. Comparison of Different Standards for Real-Time PCR-Based Absolute Quantification. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 2010, 354 (1–2), 34– 39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2010.01.004.
- (10) Dufour, A. P. Health Effects Criteria for Fresh Recreational Waters. *Toxicology and Microbiology Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency* **1984**.
- (11) Green, H. C.; Haugland, R. A.; Varma, M.; Millen, H. T.; Borchardt, M. A.; Field, K. G.; Walters, W. A.; Knight, R.; Sivaganesan, M.; Kelty, C. A.; et al. Improved HF183 Quantitative Real-Time PCR Assay for Characterization of Human Fecal Pollution in Ambient Surface Water Samples. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **2014**, *80* (10), 3086–3094. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.04137-13.
- (12) Haugland, R. A.; Siefring, S. C.; Wymer, L. J.; Brenner, K. P.; Dufour, A. P. Comparison of Enterococcus Measurements in Freshwater at Two Recreational Beaches by Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction and Membrane Filter Culture Analysis. *Water Research* 2005, *39* (4), 559–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2004.11.011.
- (13) Hollander, M.; Wolfe, D. A.; Chicken, E. Nonparametric Statistical Methods; John Wiley & Sons, 2013.
- (14) Lippi, G.; Lima-Oliveira, G.; Brocco, G.; Bassi, A.; Salvagno, G. L. Estimating the Intra- and Inter-Individual Imprecision of Manual Pipetting. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine* 2017, 55 (7), 962–966. https://doi.org/10.1515/cclm-2016-0810.

- (15) Noble, R. T.; Blackwood, A. D.; Griffith, J. F.; McGee, C. D.; Weisberg, S. B. Comparison of Rapid Quantitative PCR-Based and Conventional Culture-Based Methods for Enumeration of Enterococcus Spp. and Escherichia Coli in Recreational Waters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2010, *76* (22), 7437–7443. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00651-10.
- (16) Pfaffl, M. W.; Hageleit, M. Validities of MRNA Quantification Using Recombinant RNA and Recombinant DNA External Calibration Curves in Real-Time RT-PCR. *Biotechnology Letters* 2001, 8.
- (17) Pruss, A. Review of Epidemiological Studies on Health Effects from Exposure to Recreational Water. *International Journal of Epidemiology* **1998**, *27* (1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/27.1.1.
- (18) R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. **2018**, URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- (19) Ruijter, J. M.; Pfaffl, M. W.; Zhao, S.; Spiess, A. N.; Boggy, G.; Blom, J.; Rutledge, R. G.; Sisti, D.; Lievens, A.; De Preter, K.; et al. Evaluation of QPCR Curve Analysis Methods for Reliable Biomarker Discovery: Bias, Resolution, Precision, and Implications. *Methods* 2013, *59* (1), 32–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2012.08.011.
- (20) Rutledge, R. G. Mathematics of Quantitative Kinetic PCR and the Application of Standard Curves. *Nucleic Acids Research* 2003, *31* (16), 93e–993. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gng093.
- (21)a Seyfried, P. L.; Tobin, R. S.; Brown, N. E.; Ness, P. F. A Prospective Study of Swimming-Related Illness. I. Swimming-Associated Health Risk. *American Journal of Public Health* 1985, 75 (9), 1068–1070. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.75.9.1068.
- (22)b Seyfried, P. L.; Tobin, R. S.; Brown, N. E.; Ness, P. F. A Prospective Study of Swimming-Related Illness. II. Morbidity and the Microbiological Quality of Water. *American Journal of Public Health* **1985**, *75* (9), 1071–1075. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.75.9.1071.
- (23) Shanks, O. C.; Kelty, C. A.; Oshiro, R.; Haugland, R. A.; Madi, T.; Brooks, L.; Field, K. G.; Sivaganesan, M. Data Acceptance Criteria for Standardized Human-Associated Fecal Source Identification Quantitative Real-Time PCR Methods. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2016, *82* (9), 2773–2782. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03661-15.
- (24) Sivaganensan, M.; Siefring, S.; Varma, M.; Haugland, R. A. Comparison of Enterococcus Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction Analysis Results from Midwest U.S. River Samples Using EPA Method 1611 and Method 1609 PCR Reagents. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 2014, 101, 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2014.03.004.
- (25) Sivaganesan, M.; Aw, T. G.; Briggs, S.; Dreelin, E.; Aslan, A.; Dorevitch, S.; Shrestha, A.; Isaacs, N.; Kinzelman, J.; Kleinheinz, G.; et al. Standardized Data Quality Acceptance Criteria for a Rapid Escherichia Coli QPCR Method (Draft Method C) for Water Quality Monitoring at Recreational Beaches. *Water Research* 2019, *156*, 456–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.011.
- (26) Sivaganesan, M.; Haugland, R. A.; Chern, E. C.; Shanks, O. C. Improved Strategies and Optimization of Calibration Models for Real-Time PCR Absolute Quantification. *Water Research* 2010, 44 (16), 4726–4735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.066.
- (27) Sivaganesan, M.; Seifring, S.; Varma, M.; Haugland, R. A.; Shanks, O. C. A Bayesian Method for Calculating Real-Time Quantitative PCR Calibration Curves Using Absolute Plasmid DNA Standards. *BMC Bioinformatics* **2008**, *9* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-9-120.
- (28) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Recreational Water Quality Criteria. Office of Water 2012, 69.
- (29) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Method 1611: Enterococci in Water by TaqMan® Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (QPCR) Assay. **2012**, 56.

- (30) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Method 1609: Enterococci in Water by TaqMan® Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (QPCR) with Internal Amplification Control (IAC) Assay. **2013**, 72.
- (32) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Site-Specific Alternative Recreational Criteria Technical Support Materials for Alternative Indicators and Methods. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology Health and Ecological Criteria Division **2014**, 85.
- (33) United States Environmental Protection Agency., O. of W. R. and S. C. and S. D. Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Bacteria 1986. National Technical Information Service January 1986.
- (34) Wade, T. J.; Pai, N.; Eisenberg, J. N. S.; Colford, J. M. Do U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Water Quality Guidelines for Recreational Waters Prevent Gastrointestinal Illness? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2003, 111 (8), 1102– 1109. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.6241.
- (35) Wade, T. J.; Calderon, R. L.; Brenner, K. P.; Sams, E.; Beach, M.; Haugland, R.; Wymer, L.; Dufour, A. P. High Sensitivity of Children to Swimming-Associated Gastrointestinal Illness: Results Using a Rapid Assay of Recreational Water Quality. *Epidemiology* 2008, *19* (3), 375–383.
- (36) Wade, T. J.; Calderon, R. L.; Sams, E.; Beach, M.; Brenner, K. P.; Williams, A. H.; Dufour, A. P. Rapidly Measured Indicators of Recreational Water Quality Are Predictive of Swimming-Associated Gastrointestinal Illness. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2006, 114 (1), 24–28. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8273.
- (37) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B.; Korinek, G. C.; Byappanahalli, M. N. Solar and Temporal Effects on Escherichia Coli Concentration at a Lake Michigan Swimming Beach. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2004, 70 (7), 4276–4285. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.7.4276-4285.2004.
- (38) Whitman, R. L.; Ge, Z.; Nevers, M. B.; Boehm, A. B.; Chern, E. C.; Haugland, R. A.; Lukasik, A. M.; Molina, M.; Przybyla-Kelly, K.; Shively, D. A.; et al. Relationship and Variation of QPCR and Culturable Enterococci Estimates in Ambient Surface Waters Are Predictable. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2010, 44 (13), 5049–5054. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9028974.
- (39) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B. Escherichia Coli Sampling Reliability at a Frequently Closed Chicago Beach: Monitoring and Management Implications. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2004, 38 (16), 4241–4246. https://doi.org/10.1021/es034978i.
- (40) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B.; Gerovac, P. J. Interaction of Ambient Conditions and Fecal Coliform Bacteria in Southern Lake Michigan Beach Waters: Monitoring Program Implications. *Natural Areas Journal* **1999**, *19* (2), 166–171.

# Chapter 3 : Assessing the impact of environmental variables on *E. Coli* concentrations measured with Colilert<sup>®</sup> and Draft Method C (qPCR) at inland lake and Lake Michigan beaches within Muskegon County, MI.

Authors: Molly J. Lane<sup>a\*</sup>, Dan J. Frobish<sup>a</sup>, James N. McNair<sup>a</sup>, Richard R. Rediske<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Grand Valley State University: 1 Campus Dr., Allendale, MI, 4940, USA

\* Corresponding author

# 3.1 Abstract

To provide a safe environment for beachgoers, public beaches are tested for E. coli which alerts the public to the presence of potentially pathogenic bacteria in the water. We used Kaplan-Meier distribution curves paired with log-rank trend tests to analyze eight categorized environmental variables and their relative impact on E. coli concentrations measured with Colilert<sup>®</sup> and qPCR (Draft Method C) at 14 inland and 6 Lake Michigan beaches in Muskegon County, MI. Additionally, we compared the two methods' E. coli results and, E. coli levels of the two lake types with Kaplan-Meier distribution curve analysis to allow for the inclusion of all data (i.e. censored (below the limit of quantification) and quantifiable data) without any alterations. Of the eight environmental variables analyzed, only bird abundance and presence significantly impacted *E. coli* levels (p < 0.001) across all scenarios tested. Impacts on E. coli concentrations by other tested variables (i.e. turbidity, wind speed etc.) depended on the quantification method used and lake type, thus our results indicate that predictive models unique to the monitoring method being used and general lake type are necessary because the quantification method changes the manner in which environmental variables impact E. coli quantities. Furthermore, our analysis showed a statistically significant difference between Kaplan-Meier distribution curves of E. coli levels measured with Colilert and qPCR which supports the development of distinct water quality criteria for the two E. coli quantification methods explored in this study.

**Keywords:** Draft Method C, left-censored data, *E. coli*, recreational water quality, environmental variables, Colilert<sup>®</sup>, fecal indicator bacteria, Kaplan-Meier distribution curve, log-rank trend test

#### **3.2 Introduction**

Public beaches provide many opportunities to enjoy the outdoors. Throughout the summer months tourists visit communities with public beaches, benefitting the local economy. A Forest Service's National Survey on Recreation and the Environment (NSRE) report estimated that in 2008 approximately 61% of the United States' (US) population over 16 years of age participated in nonmotorized water activities (i.e. swimming, snorkeling, visiting beaches) and almost 17% participated in canoeing, kayaking or rafting activities (Cordell, H., 2012). Furthermore, it was estimated that a typical beachgoer would spend approximately \$13.13 within 10 miles of a beach per visit (Murray et al., 2001), which, when coupled with the number of recreators engaging in water activities at beaches, can potentially result in millions of dollars invested at local businesses. The state of Michigan has over 1,200 public beaches (www.deq.state.mi.us/beach). A 2017 tourism summary reported 122.4 million visitors to Michigan-which helped support 6% of all jobs-and spent \$3.4 billion on recreation (www.medc.app.box.com (a)). Visitors to Muskegon County, MI spent over \$313 million in 2017 (www.medc.app.box.com (b)). Although these reports do not distinguish tourism dollars spent specifically on or around water activities, one can assume that with millions of people using water as a form of recreation a large portion of the dollars spent was due to the presence of a nearby beach, thereby helping to sustain local economies.

With the vast number of people enjoying recreational waters and local businesses depending on them, it is important that visitors be confident the water is safe to use. One way local municipalities address this is by testing the water for fecal indicator bacteria (FIB), specifically *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) in Michigan, which alerts public health officials and beach managers to the

possibility of fecal contamination. The presence of fecal contamination has long been known to increase the risk of contracting recreational water illnesses (Dufour, 1984; Seyfried et al., 1985 (II)), such as respiratory or ear infections, skin irritations and gastrointestinal (GI) illness (Seyfried et al., 1985 (I), Wade et al., 2008). GI illnesses can range from being acute (mild discomfort or nausea) to severe (continuous vomiting and diarrhea leading to hospitalization for dehydration) (Deflorio-Barker et al., 2016) and are what the current recreational water quality criteria are based upon. Furthermore, recreational water illnesses were estimated to cost beachgoers between \$2 - 4 billion dollars annually (Deflorio-Barker et al., 2018). By testing for FIB in recreational water, municipalities can reduce the risk of beachgoers contracting an illness and instill confidence that the water they are recreating in is safe.

Considering the possible health risks and economic impacts associated with exposure to fecal contaminated water, it is important to test and report unsafe conditions as quickly and as accurately as possible. Two common methods for quantifying *E. coli* in recreational water are: 1. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) approved IDEXX Colilert-18<sup>®</sup> Quanti-Tray 2000, hereafter referred to as Colilert, and 2. quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), a proposed molecular quantification method. Colilert is a defined substrate method, reported as most probable number (MPN) and requires an incubation period of 18 – 22h before results can be reported. The current recreational water quality standard for *E. coli* in Michigan is the geometric mean of three sample sites at a single beach or a single composited sample from three sample sites at a single beach cannot exceed 300 MPN per 100 mL daily, or a 30-day geometric mean of 130 MPN per 100 mL (EGLE, Water Resources Division, 2019). Alternatively, a standardized qPCR assay has been proposed by the U.S. EPA for quantification of *E. coli* in recreational water titled 'Draft Method C' which can provide recreational water *E. coli* concentrations within a few hours of samples being received at the lab. qPCR methods are becoming more widespread and one has already been

approved for the quantification of *Enterococcus* (U.S. EPA 2012 & 2013), another commonly used FIB. Recently, a beach notification value (BNV) has been established in Michigan for Draft Method C as 8,760 DNA copies of an *E. coli*-specific gene sequence per 100 mL. This BNV is being used across Michigan to monitor bacterial water quality at select beaches in Oakland County and Kent County (Dr. S. Briggs, EGLE. Pers. comm.). The underlying methodology of these two *E. coli* quantification methods is quite distinct in that Colilert only measures culturable *E. coli* cells and qPCR measures both culturable and non-culturable *E. coli*. Colilert relies on an *E. coli* specific enzyme (β-glucuronidase) to react with a patented substrate to produce fluorescence upon exposure to ultra-violet light (www.idexx.com). In contrast, qPCR amplifies a DNA sequence on the 23S rRNA gene specific to *E. coli* which is then used to calculate the number of DNA gene copies present.

As an alternative to collecting recreational water samples from beaches and testing for FIB, some scientists have created computer predictive models to anticipate when a microbial water quality exceedance may occur (Nevers and Whitman 2005; Frick et al., 2008). This approach does not require expensive instrumentation or a laboratory and, fewer personnel are needed to provide water quality monitoring to the community. Microbial concentration predictive models, such as the U.S. EPAs "Virtual Beach" (V3.0.6; Cyterski et al., 2016) use environmental variables (EVs) collected at the beach or from nearby weather stations to predict an exceedance (Frick et al., 2008, Byappanahalli et al., 2010). Common EVs used in these models and that were included in our study were: turbidity, water and air temperature, wind speed, the number of birds, the presence or absence of birds, rain amount, and time since the last rain fall. Each variable can potentially contribute to *E. coli* densities in recreational water in different but interrelated ways.

The effect different environmental variables can have on *E. coli* concentrations can vary significantly. A direct relationship between turbidity, wind speed, or birds and fecal contamination

can be predicted. Wind speed can drive increased wave action, which causes waves to break higher into the swash zone where fecal matter potentially stored in the sand (Alm et al., 2003) or bird feces along the shore (Goodwin et al., 2017; Kelly et al., 2018) is carried into the water column as the wave recedes. On the other hand, an inverse relationship between air or water temperature and E. coli densities can be expected since reduced cloud cover can result in higher air temperatures, and more ultraviolet light penetrating the water column thereby causing solar inactivation or die off of E. coli (Noble et al., 2004; Boehm et al., 2018). This trend would particularly be seen when E. coli was measured with Colilert since this method only quantifies culturable bacteria compared to qPCR which measures culturable and non-culturable *E. coli*. Consequently, even if warmer temperatures caused a decrease in culturable *E. coli*, qPCR would measure the inactivated or dead cells. Finally, low rainfall and an antecedent rainfall prior to sampling would correspond to lower E. coli concentrations. Rainfall produces terrestrial stormwater runoff which eventually enters the beach environment through tributaries or as it moves from the backshore across the sand potentially carrying fecal matter into the swim area. Additionally, during intense rainfall, the lake bottom in the shallower foreshore area could be disturbed, causing E. coli stored in the sand to be released into the water column (Whitman and Nevers, 2003; Ishii et al., 2007). Given that each of these environmental variables can contribute to increased fecal contamination at beaches, understanding how they can be used to predict *E. coli* concentrations across different environments and with different quantification methods will be vital to predictive models used to issue beach closures.

The goal of our study was to examine the association between eight categorized environmental variables (EVs) and *E. coli* concentrations quantified with the approved (Colilert) and proposed (qPCR Draft Method C) methods at fourteen inland lake and six Lake Michigan beaches to inform models aimed at predicting microbial water quality as to which variables play a significant role. We also compared *E. coli* results measured with Colilert to those obtained with qPCR for inland and Lake Michigan beaches to assess the need for separate water quality criteria for the different methods. Finally, we compared the *E. coli* concentrations found at inland lake beaches with those at Lake Michigan beaches to determine if there was an overall difference in microbial water quality. Inland lake beaches are less frequently studied than the coastal waters of the Great Lakes, therefore our results will contribute much needed information regarding inland lake beach environments. A novel component of this study is that we used survival analysis methods to assess *E. coli* concentrations measured with an approved (Colilert) and proposed (Draft Method C) quantification method. Unlike most statistical analyses used for environmental studies, this method allows for all data to be included in the analysis, including data that is below the range of detection and normally removed from analysis. The information provided by this study will be useful to beach managers to focus recreational water mitigation efforts and delegate resources where they would be most beneficial.

# 3.3 Methods

#### Sampling

Sampling occurred once a week over five weeks (June 4<sup>th</sup> through August 6<sup>th</sup>, 2018) within Muskegon County, Michigan. Water samples were stored on ice until transported to the lab and processed for either Colilert analysis or filtered for the Draft Method C qPCR assay within six hours of collection.

Inland Lake Beaches: 100 mL samples were collected in 125 mL Security-Snap<sup>TM</sup> BacT (Thermofisher Scientific) sterile polypropylene bottles at each of the left, center, and right sample sites (Figures S3.1 – S3.5). The three 100 mL samples were composited in the lab into a sterile 500 mL HDPE bottle (Microtech Scientific), totaling 300 mL of a composite sample for each beach. One-100 mL aliquot was used for immediate Colilert analysis and two-100 mL aliquots were filtered for qPCR analysis then stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for analysis at later date. Overall, five composite samples from each of the fourteen inland lake beaches (Table 3.1) (n = 70) were analyzed. An  $\sim$ 50 mL sample also was collected from the center location of each beach in a Nalgene bottle for turbidity measurements.

*Lake Michigan Beaches:* A 500 mL sample was collected in sterile, tamper sealed HDPE bottles (Microtech Scientific) at each of the north, center, and south locations (Figures S3.6 – S3.8) and prepared individually for analysis as described above for both Colilert (1 x 100 mL) and the Draft Method C qPCR assay (2 x 100 mL). Overall, 15 water samples per Lake Michigan beach (3 samples x 5 sampling events) were analyzed over the course of the study (Table 3.1) (n = 90).

## Environmental Variables

Eight environmental variables (EVs) were recorded for each beach during each sampling event to assess its impact on *E. coli* concentrations. They included: turbidity (NTU), wind speed (mph), air and water temperature (°C), number of birds, whether birds were present or absent, time (h) since the last rain fall, of any amount, and the amount of rain during the last rainfall (inches). Most variables were included on the Great Lakes Beaches Routine On-Site Sanitary Surveys (https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/documents/greatlakes\_onsite.pdf), except for birds present/absent, as part of the beach monitoring program protocol. Wind speed, air and water temperature and samples for turbidity were collected from or measured at the center sample site. Bird counts were performed by visual observation as samplers walked from the center sampling point towards the north/right or south/left sampling points and counted the number of birds observed on the beach and in the water within the swim area (U.S. EPA 2008). Samplers would report the number of birds to the person at the center location and all birds observed were tallied and recorded on the Sanitary Survey. Wind speed and air temperature were measured with an anemometer by holding it above the sampler's head for approximately 10 s and recording the highest reading of wind speed and, once a consistent temperature was seen, air temperature.

Lake Type	Beach Name	Location	Sample Dates
Inland	Blue Lake County Park	Big Blue Lake	7/11, 7/16, 7/25, 7/30, 8/6
	Duck Lake State Park	Duck Lake	6/6, 6/11, 6/18, 6/25, 7/2
	Fox Lake Park	Fox Lake	7/11, 7/16, 7/25, 7/30, 8/6
	Harbor Towne Beach	Muskegon Lake	6/4, 6/12, 6/19, 6/26, 7/5
	Maple Park	White Lake	7/11, 7/16, 7/25, 7/30, 8/6
	Mona Lake Park	Mona Lake	6/4, 6/12, 6/19, 6/25, 7/5
	Moore County Park	Half Moon Lake	6/13, 6/20, 6/27, 7/9, 7/19
	Muskegon State Park Channel Campground Padley Park	Muskegon Lake West Lake	7/12, 7/18, 7/24, 7/31, 8/7 7/11, 7/16, 7/25, 7/30, 8/6
	Ross Park	Mona Lake	6/4, 6/12, 6/19, 6/26, 7/5
	Sunset Beach	Wolf Lake	6/13, 6/20, 6/27, 7/9, 7/19
	Twin Lake Park	Twin Lake	7/11, 7/16, 7/25, 7/30, 8/6
	Watersports Park	Muskegon Lake	7/12, 7/18, 7/24, 7/31, 8/7
	Wolf Lake County Park	Wolf Lake	6/13, 6/20, 6/27, 7/9, 7/19
Lake Michigan	Meinert County Park		6/6, 6/11, 6/18, 6/25, 7/2
	Old Channel		7/11, 7/16, 7/25, 7/30, 8/6
	Pere Marquette		7/12, 7/18, 7/24, 7/31, 8/7
	Pioneer Park		6/6, 6/11, 6/18, 6/25, 7/2
	PJ Hoffmaster Campground Beach		6/4, 6/12, 6/19, 6/26, 7/5
	PJ Hoffmaster Public Beach		6/4, 6/12, 6/19, 6/26, 7/5

Table 3.1 Lake type, beach name, location, and sampling event dates (month/day) in this study.

Anemometer instructions directed measurements to be taken in the shade, however no shade was available at most center sampling sites thus for consistency, all readings were recorded at the center location regardless of the availability of shade. Water temperature was measured at knee depth with a thermometer (Component Design Northwest, Inc. DTQ450X) held near the surface of the water until a steady reading was observed. Turbidity samples were transported to the lab on ice and measured with a turbidimeter according to the manufacturer's instructions following analysis of three NTU standards (0, 10, and 100 NTU) as a quality control measure (Thermo Scientific Orion AQUAfast AQ4500). Time since the last rain and rain amounts were recorded from individual weather stations (www.wunderground.com) chosen based on nearness to a beach and, in all instances except one, was the same throughout the sampling season (Table S3.1).

## E. coli Quantification

*Colilert:* The composited inland lake beach samples and north, center, south Lake Michigan samples were all analyzed within six hours of collection using Colilert (Method 9233 B) (Rice et al., 2012). In accordance with this method, a Colilert reagent packet was emptied into and dissolved in 100 mL of water sample. The solution was poured into a Quanti-Tray and incubated for 18 – 22 h at 35°C. The Quanti-trays were then removed from the incubator and exposed to ultraviolet light. Based on the total number of fluorescing wells in the tray, *E. coli* concentrations were calculated and recorded as MPN. A more in-depth description of this method is provided in Kinzelman et al. (2005) and on the IDEXX website (www.idexx.com).

*qPCR*: Each composited inland lake beach sample and the three individual Lake Michigan samples per beach were analyzed according to the Draft Method C qPCR assay described in Sivaganesan et al. (2019) which uses TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> chemistry and the EC23S857 region of the 23S rRNA gene (Chern et al., 2011). Briefly, 100 mL of sample was filtered through 0.45 µm pore polycarbonate filter seated on a sterile disposable filtration unit (Pall Corporation, Puerto Rico, MicroFunnel<sup>TM</sup> Filter Funnel). The filters were folded four times and added to a 2.0 mL sterile semiconical, screw-cap microcentrifuge tube containing 0.3 g ( $\pm$  0.01 g) of glass beads. Working within a laminar flow hood, 600 µL of extraction fluid consisting of AE buffer with 0.2 µg/mL salmon (sketa) DNA was added to each extraction tube, tightly sealed then bead milled for 1.0 min at 5,000 rpm. The sketa DNA served as a sample processing control (SPC) to ensure the qPCR reaction occurred as expected. Because a known concentration of sketa DNA was added to each sample, a specific range (18.58 – 22.01) of cycle threshold (Ct) values was expected, and required, for designated Draft Method C quality control parameters to be met (Sivaganesan et al., 2019). The extraction tubes were then centrifuged for 5 min at 12,000 x g and  $\sim 400 \,\mu\text{L}$  of the crude DNA extract was transferred into a correspondingly labeled sterile 1.7 mL low retention micro-centrifuge tube. The crude extract was centrifuged for 1 min at 12,000 x g, then  $\sim 100 \,\mu\text{L}$  of clarified supernatant was transferred to a second sterile 1.7 mL centrifuge tube. Tubes of clarified supernatant were then moved to a second laminar flow hood and set aside until sketa and E. coli Master Mixes (MM) were prepared (see chapter 2, section 2.3). Half of the 96-wells in the qPCR plate were filled with 20 µL of E. coli MM and the other half were filled with 20 µL of sketa MM. 5 µL of recreational water sample extracts were analyzed in triplicate using both the E. coli and sketa MM. Three separate negative (blanks) and positive (calibrator) controls, and a No Template Control (NTC) were analyzed in duplicate, on each tray of samples with *E. coli* and sketa MM. Once MM, samples, and quality controls were added, the plate was sealed and analyzed on a StepOnePlus<sup>™</sup> Applied Biosystems thermocycler instrument using the StepOne<sup>™</sup> Software (v2.3). Thermocycling consisted of an initial 'holding stage' (50.0°C, 2 min; 95.0°C, 10 min) followed by 40 cycles of DNA denaturation and primer/probes annealing (95.0°C, 15 s; 56.0°C, 1 min). At the end of each of the 40 cycles, fluorescence was measured by the instrument. The fluorescence threshold, or the level of fluorescence in which the signal rises above the background level, was manually set to 0.03  $\Delta$ Rn and baseline cycles were set to AUTO determination (Sivaganesan et al., 2019). Instrument generated Ct values for water samples and quality control parameters were exported and entered in a U.S. EPA provided Draft Method C Excel Workbook where E. coli concentrations ( $\log_{10}$ Copies/5 µL) were calculated, provided all quality control parameters were met.  $log_{10}Copies/5 \mu L$  were then converted to log<sub>10</sub>Copies/100 mL to make the Colilert and qPCR quantification methods comparable. There were nine Lake Michigan beach samples whose sketa Ct values did not pass specified acceptance criteria. In these cases, the stored duplicate filter was extracted, and the crude extract was filtered through a OneStep<sup>TM</sup> PCR Inhibitor Removal Kit (Zymo Research) column, then re-analyzed with

the Draft Method C qPCR assay. The inhibitor removal kit does not impact dilution ratios although it is thought that it may bind some DNA within the column resulting in a lower measured concentration. The log<sub>10</sub>Copies/100 mL results from five of the nine re-analyzed samples were used in statistical analysis, while four were unusable as the filter blank acceptance criteria was not met (Ct > lower limit of quantification as given in the Draft Method C Excel workbook) (Sivaganesan et al., 2019). All filtered qPCR samples were analyzed within 6 months after storage.

## Statistical Analysis

It was assumed that the variation in EVs between north, center, and south sample locations at the same beach was negligible for Lake Michigan beaches, therefore the EV value recorded at the center sampling site was used for all three sample locations for analysis. Additionally, repeated measures statistical analysis was unnecessary because *E. coli* concentrations vary greatly from day to day and even hour to hour (Whitman and Nevers, 2004; Wyer et al., 2018) thus our weekly samples could be treated as independent of each other.

Kaplan-Meier distribution curves (KM) (Kaplan and Meier, 1958), a survival analysis statistical method, were used to analyze our EV data with respect to the *E. coli* concentration. This method allows all data to be included in analysis, particularly *E. coli* measurements whose values were determined to be below the instrument or method limit of quantification (LOQ), also called "left censored" data. For the purposes of our study, *E. coli* concentrations in the units of log<sub>10</sub>(MPN/100 mL) for Colilert and log<sub>10</sub>(Copies/100 mL) for qPCR were used in place of the traditional "time" variable, and the method or instrument LOQ was the "event". Colilert results recorded as < 1 MPN were below the LOQ and therefore considered a censored observation; qPCR results below 246 copies/100 mL (2.391 log<sub>10</sub>Copies/100 mL) were considered censored.

EVs were categorized into two or three categories (e.g. "Low", "Medium", or "High") (Table 3.2) chosen to have at least 10 non-censored observations per group. KM distribution curves were then generated using the categorized groups and E. coli concentrations from recreational water samples. For EVs categorized into three groups, KM curves were statistically compared with a logrank trend test (Klein and Moeschberger 2006, section 7.4; Machin et al., 2006 section 3.5). The logrank trend test tests the null hypothesis that the E. coli concentration distributions of the categorized EVs are equal against the alternative that there is a designated ordering among the KM curves. For example, if  $K_1(x)$ ,  $K_2(x)$ , and  $K_3(x)$  are the KM curves (as functions of concentration x) for the low, medium, and high categories of a particular EV, then the null hypothesis of the trend test is  $K_1(x) =$  $K_2(x) = K_3(x)$  for all concentrations x, and the "increasing form" of the alternative hypothesis is  $K_1(x) \leq K_2(x) \leq K_3(x)$  for all x, with the inequality being strict (i.e., "<" instead of " $\leq$ ") for at least one concentration and at least one pair of KM curves. The test outcome does not specify which KM distribution curve relationship is statistically different, just that a statistical difference in distribution curves was detected. For the bird present/absent and the method and lake type comparisons, a twosample one-sided log-rank test (Hollander et al., 2013) (Ch. 11.7; p. 594 - 597) was used. Output from the log-rank test were used to calculate the original test statistic prior to it being squared for the chi-squared p-value in order to perform one-sided statistical analyses. These comparisons were performed to identify EVs that exhibited a statistically significant impact ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) on E. coli concentrations quantified with both methods (Colilert and qPCR) for inland and Lake Michigan beaches separately. All statistical analyses were performed using R Software (v3.5.2; R Core Team, 2018); survival analysis packages were "survival" (v2.44-1.1; Therneau, 2015) and "survMisc" (v0.5.5; Dardis, 2018).

Environmental Variable	Category	Range
Turbidity (NTU)	Low	$\leq 1.00$
	Medium	IL: $1.01 - 1.50$ LM: $1.01 - 1.99$ IL: $\geq 1.51$
	High	$LM: \geq 2.00$
Wind Speed (mph)	Low	$\leq 2.0$
	Medium	2.1 – 4.9
	High	$\geq 5.0$
Air Temperature (°C)	Low	≤ 21.1
	Medium	IL: $21.2 - 25.0$ LM: $21.2 - 24.9$ IL: $\ge 25.1$
	High	$LM: \ge 25.0$ $II \le 23.9$
Water Temperature (°C)	Low	$LM: \leq 25.9$ $LM: \leq 15.0$ IL: 24.0 - 26.6
	Medium	LM: $15.1 - 22.0$ IL: $\ge 26.7$
	High	$LM: \ge 22.1$ IL: $\le 1$
Bird Count	Low	$LM: \leq 3$ II: 2 - 5
	Medium	LM: $4 - 20$ IL: $\geq 6$
	High	$LM: \geq 21$
Bird Presence	Present	$\geq 1$
	Absent	0
Time Since Last Rain (h)	$\leq 24$	$\leq 24$
	25 - 72	25 - 72
	≥ 72	≥ 72
Rain Amount (inches)	Low	≤ 0.10
	Medium	0.11 - 0.24
	High	≥ 0.25

**Table 3.2** Categorized environmental (explanatory) variable ranges for Kaplan-Meier distribution curves. Instances where the two lake types grouping range varied, they were differentiated as: IL = inland lake range; LM = Lake Michigan range.

The limitations of R-Software prevent it from performing survival analysis on left-censored data, like the data in our study, therefore trend tests and two-sample log-rank tests were carried out

on the 'flipped' *E. coli* concentration data set which is achieved by reversing, or 'flipping', the data by subtracting all measurements—*E coli* concentrations in our study—by an arbitrary number higher than the maximum observed value (Gillespie et al., 2010; Helsel, 2011; Dinse et al., 2014). Its primary benefit for our purposes is that it allows information from data below the LOQ to be included in the statistical analysis in a statistically rigorous way simply by changing data from left- to right-censored. All KM distribution curves presented below are based on the 'unflipped' or original *E. coli* concentration data scale.

# **3.4 Results**

Trend tests of categorized EV on their corresponding KM distribution curves were tested in the same order for inland lake and Lake Michigan beaches and for both *E. coli* quantification methods (Colilert and qPCR) (see below). As previously mentioned, KM distribution curves were plotted on the original concentration scale (x-axis). Only KM distribution curves of categorized EVs where a statistically significant ordered difference was detected in the tested trend were shown below. Select statistically non-significant KM distribution curves were included in the supplemental material when referenced and all *p*-values for categorized EV curve comparisons are listed in Table S3.2.

#### Environmental Variables

# Turbidity

The turbidity trend tested was 'low < medium < high' with respect to the *E. coli* concentration distribution. Specifically, the high turbidity category was hypothesized as having the greatest *E. coli* concentration distribution based on the original or 'unflipped' concentration scale. Categorized turbidity KM distribution curves for *E. coli* concentrations measured with Colilert at inland lake beaches were statistically significantly ordered (p = 0.035) (Figure 3.1a) with respect to the concentration distributions, however they did not follow the predicted order. For example, the

inland lake medium turbidity category (Figure 3.1a) had the highest *E. coli* concentration along the xaxis at a probability of 0.5 ( $\log_{10} = 1.5 \text{ MPN}/100 \text{ mL}$ ) indicating that the medium category had a higher distribution of *E. coli* concentrations than both the low ( $\log_{10} = 0.7 \text{ MPN}/100 \text{ mL}$ ) and high ( $\log_{10} = 1.1 \text{ MPN}/100 \text{ mL}$ ) groups. *E. coli* measured with qPCR at inland lake beaches did not result in statistically significant ordering (p = 0.606) based on turbidity.

Lake Michigan beaches also had statistically significantly ordered turbidity with respect to *E. coli* measured with Colilert (p < 0.001) (Figure 3.2a) and with qPCR (p < 0.001) (Figure 3.2b). The evidence to reject the null hypothesis at Lake Michigan beaches was stronger because the trend tested on the KM distribution curves with respect to *E. coli* concentration distributions was the same as that plotted (low < medium < high) (Figures 3.2a and 3.2b), where increasing turbidity was associated with increasing *E. coli* concentrations. Whereas, the order seen in the Figure 3.1a for inland lake beaches suggests a 'low < high < med' trend. Thus, turbidity had statistically significant impact on *E. coli* distributions when quantified with Colilert at inland lake beaches, albeit the trend observed was different than that tested. A statistically significant impact on *E. coli* measured with both methods at Lake Michigan beaches was observed.

# Wind Speed

An increasing trend was tested for wind speed ('low < medium < high') with respect to the *E. coli* concentration distribution on the original concentration scale. Inland lake KM distribution curves of wind speed categories and *E. coli* quantified with Colilert were statistically significantly ordered (p = 0.018, Figure 3.1b), but not when measured with qPCR (p = 0.801). Therefore, wind speed impacted *E. coli* concentrations measured with Colilert but not qPCR at inland lake beaches.



**Figure 3.1** Inland lake beaches categorized environmental variables Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals. X-axes are *E. coli* concentration quantified with Colilert ( $\log_{10}(MPN/100 \text{ mL})$  or qPCR ( $\log_{10}(copies/100 \text{ mL})$  on the original concentration scale; y-axis is the probability that a random sample selected from the data set will be less than or equal to the concentration along the x-axis.



**Figure 3.1 (Continued)** Inland lake beaches categorized environmental variables Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals. X-axes are *E. coli* concentration quantified with Colilert ( $\log_{10}(MPN/100 \text{ mL})$  or qPCR ( $\log_{10}(\text{copies}/100 \text{ mL})$  on the original concentration scale; y-axis is the probability that a random sample selected from the data set will be less than or equal to the concentration along the x-axis.



**Figure 3.2** Lake Michigan beaches categorized environmental variables (EVs) Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals. X-axis is the log base-10 of the observed *E. coli* concentration, on the original concentration scale, measured with either Colilert  $\log_{10}(MPN/100 \text{ mL})$  or qPCR  $\log_{10}(copies/100 \text{ mL})$ ; y-axis is the probability that the concentration of a random sample selected from the data set will be less than or equal to the  $\log_{10}(concentration)$  on the x-axis.



**Figure 3.2 (Continued)** Lake Michigan beaches categorized environmental variables (EVs) Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals. X-axis is the log base-10 of the observed *E. coli* concentration, on the original concentration scale, measured with either Colilert  $log_{10}$ (MPN/100 mL) or qPCR  $log_{10}$ (copies/100 mL); y-axis is the probability that the concentration of a random sample selected from the data set will be less than or equal to the  $log_{10}$ (concentration) on the x-axis.



**Figure 3.2 (Continued)** Lake Michigan beaches categorized environmental variables (EVs) Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals. X-axis is the log base-10 of the observed *E. coli* concentration, on the original concentration scale, measured with either Colilert  $\log_{10}(MPN/100 \text{ mL})$  or qPCR  $\log_{10}(\text{copies}/100 \text{ mL})$ ; y-axis is the probability that the concentration of a random sample selected from the data set will be less than or equal to the  $\log_{10}(\text{concentration})$  on the x-axis.

In contrast, Lake Michigan beaches exhibited a statistically significant wind speed order for *E. coli* concentration distributions measured with both Colilert (p = 0.002, Figure 3.2c) and qPCR (p = 0.019; Figure 3.2d). There was some crossing of the medium and high category KM distribution curves in Figures 3.2c and 3.2d which affects the power of the tested trend (Klein and Moeschberger 2006, section 7.6), but the low category had a reduced *E. coli* concentration distribution throughout

the range. This observation suggested that wind speed, particularly lower wind speeds, influenced *E*. *coli* densities measured with either method at Lake Michigan beaches.

#### Air Temperature

The trend tested on air temperature categories was inversely ordered (high < med < low) with respect to *E. coli* distributions on the original scale. Meaning, we expected that high air temperatures would be associated with the lowest *E. coli* concentration distribution. A statistically significantly order was not detected for either method of *E. coli* quantification at inland lake (Colilert: p = 0.684; qPCR: p = 0.364) or Lake Michigan beaches (Colilert: p = 0.418; qPCR: p = 0.478). Thus, the way in which we categorized and ordered air temperature did not have a significant effect on *E. coli* measured with Colilert or qPCR at either type of lake.

# Water Temperature

The trend test on KM distribution curves of categorized water temperatures at inland lake beaches were not statistically significantly ordered for Colilert (p = 0.343) or qPCR (p = 0.942) indicating water temperature at inland lake beaches did not significantly impact *E. coli* densities measured in this study. Trend tests for Lake Michigan beaches on the other hand, detected a significant order (Colilert: p < 0.001; qPCR: p = 0.002) (Figures 3.2e and 3.2f, respectively). However, the order of the plotted categories were directly, not inversely, related to *E. coli* quantities (Figures 3.2e and 3.2f) as predicted, where lower water temperatures had relatively reduced *E. coli* concentration distributions.

# Bird Count and Presence/Absence

We hypothesized that the three bird count categories would directly impact *E. coli* concentration distributions (low < medium < high) in that low bird counts would have the lowest *E. coli* concentration distribution. Bird count KM distribution curve categories at inland lake beaches were statistically ordered for *E. coli* quantification with Colilert (p < 0.001) (Figure 3.1e) and with
qPCR (p = 0.004) (Figure 3.1d). Similarly, the number of birds at Lake Michigan beaches had a significantly ordered impact on *E. coli* concentrations measured with Colilert and qPCR (both p < 0.001) (Figures 3.2g and 3.2h, respectively). However, the category trend shown for quantification with the Colilert method (Figure 3.2g) was different than predicted. Both methods of quantification at Lake Michigan beaches had some degree of KM distribution curve crossing between the medium (4 – 20 birds) and high ( $\geq$  21 birds) categories, but the low category had a reduced *E. coli* concentration distribution than the medium and high categories indicating that Lake Michigan beaches with  $\leq$  3 birds had a lower probability of high *E. coli* densities.

Regarding the presence or absence of birds at beaches, we tested the null hypothesis that the KM distribution curve of *E. coli* concentrations at beaches where birds were present ( $\geq 1$ ) was equal to concentrations at beaches without birds, with respect to the *E. coli* concentration distribution, against the alternative that beaches without birds would have lower *E. coli* densities than beaches with birds. Both methods of quantification at inland lake (Colilert: p = 0.015, z = -2.18; qPCR: p = 0.012, z = -2.24) (Figures 1e and f) and Lake Michigan beaches (both methods p < 0.001, Colilert: z = -4.12; qPCR: z = -4.04) (Figures 3.2i and 3.2j) resulted in the absence of birds exhibiting a significantly lower *E. coli* concentration distribution than when birds were present. Our findings strongly suggest that birds play a substantial role in *E. coli* concentrations at both lake types and with either method of quantification.

#### Hours Since the Last Rain

The trend interval tested was (>72 h) < (25 - 72 h) < (< 24h), with respect to the distribution of *E. coli* based on the original concentration scales, where *E. coli* was predicted to be the lowest when rain proceeded sampling more than 72 h (> 3d). Inland lake beach KM distribution curves of the ordered time categories were marginally significantly ordered when Colilert was used (p = 0.057) (Figure 3.1h) and not statistically significantly ordered when the qPCR quantification

method was used (p = 0.658). Although the curves for the 25 – 72 h group and the < 24 h group had a considerable amount of crossing, the > 72 h group had the lowest Colilert measured *E. coli* concentration distribution (Figure 3.1h), partially supporting our hypothesis. The amount of time since the last rainfall did not affect *E. coli* concentrations at Lake Michigan beaches when measured with Colilert (p = 0.192) or qPCR (p = 0.099). Our results indicated that hours since the last rainfall may have significantly contributed to *E. coli* concentrations measured with Colilert but not with qPCR at inland lake beaches and not at Lake Michigan beaches.

#### Amount of Rain

The tested trend for amount of rain with respect to the *E. coli* concentration distribution was 'low < medium < high'. The inland lake beach KM distribution curves of the categorized rain amount were significantly ordered (p = 0.031) (Figure 3.1g) when measured with Colilert but not with qPCR (p = 0.887). However, the Colilert method result should be interpreted with some caution because a substantial amount of crossing can be seen between all three KM distribution curves (Figure 3.1g) with the high category showing some indication of having the highest *E. coli* concentration distribution. Lake Michigan KM distribution curves for categorized rain amounts and *E. coli* measured with Colilert were not significantly ordered (p = 0.613). The KM curves of categorized rain amounts and *E. coli* measured with qPCR were statistically significantly ordered (p = 0.035). Noticeably, the opposite trend of what was expected when *E. coli* was measured with qPCR at Lake Michigan beaches is seen; high amounts of rain were associated with the lowest *E. coli* concentration distribution and low rain amounts had the highest concentration distribution (Figure 3.2k). Rain amounts were recorded and tested independently from the time since the last rain. Therefore, if rain occurred more than 72 h before sampling it would have the same impact on this category as rainfall within 24 h of sampling.

## Method Comparison

We hypothesized that *E. coli* concentrations measured with Colilert would be lower than those measured with qPCR at both inland lake and Lake Michigan beaches because qPCR measures culturable and nonculturable *E. coli* DNA whereas Colilert only quantifies culturable *E. coli*. The KM distribution curve of *E. coli* quantified with Colilert was statistically lower than the qPCR method KM distribution curve (both p < 0.001; Inland: z = -6.33; Lake Michigan: z = -7.56) (Figures 3.3a and 3.3b) with respect to their *E. coli* concentrations on the original scale. This is further supported by the large area of no overlap between the two methods' KM distribution curves with the qPCR curve (blue dotted) exhibiting a higher *E. coli* concentration at 0.5 probability than the Colilert KM curve (green solid) for both lake types. Furthermore, the difference in the two censoring values, Colilert at 1 MPN/100mL (log<sub>10</sub> = 0 MPN/100mM) and qPCR at 246 copies/100mL (log<sub>10</sub> = 2.391 copies/100 mL), is visible by the lack of plotted qPCR *E. coli* observations before 2.391 along the xaxis.



**Figure 3.3** Method comparison of Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals for inland lake (a) and Lake Michigan (b) beaches. X-axis is the log base-10 of the observed *E. coli* concentration, on the original concentration scale, measured with Colilert (log<sub>10</sub>(MPN/100 mL)) or qPCR (log<sub>10</sub>(Copies/100 mL)). Y-axis is the probability that the concentration of a random sample will be less than or equal to the log<sub>10</sub>(concentration) on the x-axis.

# Lake Type Comparison

The null hypothesis that the KM distribution curves of the two lake types were equal was tested against the alternative that Lake Michigan beaches had lower *E. coli* concentration distributions than the inland lake beaches. Although the one-sided log-rank test did not support our hypothesis when *E. coli* was quantified with Colilert (p = 0.862, z = 1.09) (Figure 3.4a) or qPCR (p = 0.946, z = 1.61) (Figure 3.4b), the resulting inflated *p*-values were an indication that the reverse was more likely true in that *E. coli* concentrations at inland lake beaches were lower than those at Lake Michigan beaches. Examination of Figures 3.4a and 3.4b supported this theory since the Lake Michigan beaches KM distribution curve had a higher *E. coli* concentration distribution than the inland lake beaches.



**Figure 3.4** Kaplan-Meier distribution curves with 95% point-wise confidence intervals of inland lake beaches compared to Lake Michigan beaches when *E. coli* was quantified with Colilert (a) and qPCR (b). Log-transformed *E. coli* concentration are along the x-axis based on the original concentration scale; y-axis is the probability that the concentration of a random sample will be less than or equal to the log<sub>10</sub>(concentration) on the x-axis.

## **3.5 Discussion**

The beach environment is a dynamic system affected by a multitude of environmental factors that exhibit both spatial and temporal variability. The factors examined in our study included turbidity, wind speed, air and water temperature, the number of birds present, whether birds were

present or absent, the number of hours prior to sampling that rain occurred, and rain amount. Using KM distribution curves, we were able to identify factors that significantly contributed to *E. coli* concentrations in four scenarios: two quantification methods (Colilert and qPCR) at beaches on two lake types (inland lake and Lake Michigan). Of the eight factors, only the number of birds and the presence/absence of birds significantly affected concentrations at both lake types and with both quantification methods. Turbidity and wind speed significantly influenced *E. coli* concentrations in three of the four scenarios tested. Two of the tested scenarios detected a significant impact by rain amount and water temperature, and air temperature and time since the last rain had no impact on *E. coli* concentrations for any tested scenario.

## Environmental Variables

# Turbidity

When water, potentially contaminated with fecal matter, is carried downstream by tributaries and discharges into the beach environment, turbidity increases along with *E. coli* concentrations. Three of the six Lake Michigan beaches had various sized tributaries near or within the swim area, while the inland lake beaches did not, which may have caused the trend in increasing turbidity to be more pronounced at Lake Michigan beaches than beaches on inland lakes. Turbidity also can be elevated from disturbance of the lake bottom when wave action is intense, which increases the likelihood that bacteria living or settled in the sand is resuspended into the water column (LaLiberte and Grimes, 1982; Ishii et al., 2007). Our study supports this since the wave action on Lake Michigan is more intense, resulting in higher turbidity measurements and *E. coli* measured with both quantification methods were found to be influenced by turbidity. Furthermore, without the intense wave action to resuspend dead *E. coli* cells in the water column, *E. coli* concentrations quantified with qPCR at inland lakes would be less impacted, as was observed in our study. Finally, turbidity can influence the amount of solar radiation penetrating the water column which can kill off bacteria cells

by solar inactivation (Weiskerger and Whitman et al., 2018). Our data showed that inland lake beach *E. coli* levels were significantly impacted by turbidity when measured with Colilert but not qPCR, supporting the solar inactivation theory because inactivation of *E. coli* would affect Colilert results and not qPCR due to the differences in their methodology (i.e. measuring culturable only versus culturable and nonculturable cells/DNA). Since turbidity was found to significantly influence *E. coli* quantities in three of the four scenarios tested and has been a good predictor of FIB measured with Colilert and qPCR using hydrometeorological models in other studies (Byappanahalli et al., 2010), we recommend including it as a factor in predictive models for forecasting microbial water quality in recreational water.

### Wind speed

Wind speed impacts wave action in a similar manner as turbidity. Increasing wind speeds produce larger waves that break in the foreshore area of a beach. During periods of high-winds and intensified wave activity, waves breaking along the shoreline facilitate *E. coli* from bird feces or bacteria stored in the sand being washed into the beach water (Alm et al., 2003). *E. coli* concentrations at the Lake Michigan beaches in our study were affected by wind speed when both methods of quantification were used, whereas wind speed only influenced bacteria quantified with Colilert at inland lake beaches. Lake Michigan beaches experience higher wind speeds and higher energy waves than inland lake beaches thereby causing more bacteria, culturable and non-culturable, stored in the sand to enter the water. Both lake types were impacted by wind speed, although differently depending on the quantification method, therefore it is our recommendation that models used to predict microbial water quality should include wind speed as a factor. This supports the work by Haack et al. (2013) where wind speed was identified as a significant variable in all models tested.

#### Air and Water Temperature

We predicted that warmer air was connected to stronger solar radiation on less cloudy days resulting in more solar inactivation of *E. coli* within the water column reducing culturable but not nonculturable *E. coli*. However, air temperature did not significantly impact *E. coli* concentrations at inland or Lake Michigan beaches. This is most likely because air temperature and solar radiation are not necessarily directly related therefore, measuring the amount of light penetrating the water column or measuring solar radiation directly would likely be better predictors. One possible variable to use is photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) which measures light at 400 – 700 nm, however shorter wavelengths were more effective at killing *E. coli* cells (Vermeulen et al., 2008).

Water temperature impacted *E. coli* concentrations quantified at Lake Michigan beaches regardless of the quantification method, but the trend was in the opposite direction of what we expected. *E. coli* quantities can decrease as the day proceeds (Whitman et al., 2004) and, since most of our samples were collected between 8 am and noon, peak insolation may not have occurred until later in the day. Our results suggest that water temperature had more of an impact on *E. coli* levels than air temperature, particularly at Lake Michigan beaches. For this reason, we recommend using water temperature in predictive models for monitoring beach water quality.

# Bird Abundance

Unquestionably, birds impact the microbial water quality at the beaches where they gather. Studies investigating before and after bird mitigation with dogs have seen significant reductions in *E. coli* concentrations measured with culture and qPCR methods (Converse et al., 2012). Our research included two ways of comparing beaches with or without birds. There was strong evidence in all tested scenarios that bird count categories and the presence or absence of birds significantly impacted *E. coli* concentrations at both lake types and with both quantification methods. In agreement with our findings, Kelly et al. (2018) saw that beaches where birds were present had a statistically significantly higher number of exceedances compared to beaches without. One

consideration regarding their study was that the number of beaches with birds outnumbered those without by almost one-hundred times and therefore may have biased their results. Our study on the other hand had several sampling events where birds were not seen at inland lake and Lake Michigan beaches and still had the same outcome. Because birds are a predictor of *E. coli* levels, we feel it is important that censored *E. coli* concentrations paired with bird counts are considered in predictive models to capture all facets of the system. For example, on two sampling occasions Pere Marquette beach had over 100 birds present, and the *E. coli* results were below the LOQ. Our use of survival analysis allowed the inclusion of these data when other current predictive models would not have. Also to be noted is the way in which we categorized our bird count categories could drive our results because the high category had a much larger range than the low or medium. However, the results of the binary present/absent KM distribution curves provide clear support that birds impact *E. coli* levels in the water at a beach. These conclusions substantiate including either the number of birds as a variable or, more simply, whether birds are present or absent in beach closure predictive models in addition to including censored data paired with the environmental variable observation.

# Rainfall

Contrary to other studies which have shown that rain impacts microbial water quality (Dwight et al., 2011; Yakirevich et al., 2013), the tested trends for the two categorized rainfall EVs analyzed in this study did not have considerable impacts on *E. coli* concentrations at inland lake or Lake Michigan beaches. The expectation was that as time increased between a rain and sampling event, the *E. coli* concentration would decrease. Although rainfall and *E. coli* density impacts were not statistically significant based on the ordered groups in our analysis, there were some patterns that emerged. For instance, the > 72 h since the last rainfall KM curve where *E. coli* was measured with Colilert (Figure 3.1h) or qPCR (Figure S3.10) at inland lake beaches had the lowest *E. coli* levels, agreeing with our predictions. The same trend tested for Lake Michigan beaches revealed that the >

72 h category as being associated with the highest *E. coli* concentrations when either quantification method was used (Figure S3.11). We suspect these differences could be a result of the varying beach catchment areas of the two lake types. As previously discussed, inland lake beaches did not have large tributaries emptying stormwater into them like some beaches along Lake Michigan. Therefore, it was likely that inland lake beaches were more rapidly affected by rainfall than Lake Michigan beaches as it takes longer for the stormwater runoff to reach the Lake Michigan beach environment. Inland lakes also are inherently smaller and have less potential for dilution than Lake Michigan. Although our results did not show categorized rainfall as being significantly associated with *E. coli* quantities, we still advise it to be included in predictive models because multiple studies have identified rain as a good predictor of bacterial water quality exceedances (Dwight et al., 2011; Eregno et al., 2016; Staley et al., 2018). The lack of evidence in our study may simply be from the manner in which we categorized and tested rainfall or because the rain gauges were not situated directly on the beach.

#### Method Comparison

In addition to the improved result turn-around-time qPCR provides, qPCR methods quantify viable but non-culturable bacteria cells along with culturable cells. These viable but nonculturable organisms can still be pathogenic (Pruzzo et al., 2002) and possibly become culturable under certain environmental conditions (Lleo et al., 2005). Therefore, the use of qPCR data can prevent encounters with some potentially harmful pathogenic *E. coli* in recreational water when Colilert results predict safe conditions. The strength of the detected significant difference between the two quantification methods in our study is reflected in the KM distribution curves of both lake types (Figures 3.2a & 3.2b) where a large separation is visible between the two methods. Our results support the implementation of a separate water quality criterion for the proposed Draft Method C qPCR assay because it is clear the two methods perform differently when quantifying *E. coli*. Our

findings also emphasize that models created for predicting *E. coli* concentrations must incorporate the quantification method being used because different quantification methods produce vastly different *E. coli* results.

# Lake Type Comparison

Beach type, such as those along an open coast or situated within a bay, played a role in E. coli levels at beaches in Florida where lower concentrations were observed at the coastal beaches (Kelly et al., 2018). Although not an exact comparison to the freshwater lake types in our study, their opencoast beaches are similar to the freshwater coastal beaches of Lake Michigan in that there are long stretches of open coast with no disruptions to the coastline. We hypothesized that E. coli densities in Lake Michigan beaches would be lower than those at inland lake beaches because stronger water currents cause a larger mixing effect within Lake Michigan, which in turn contributed to the dilution of fecal contaminates throughout the substantially larger water body. However, our Lake Michigan beaches were not associated with lower E. coli densities than inland lake beaches. In fact, the Lake Michigan beach KM distribution curves were associated with higher E. coli concentrations (Figures 3.4a and 3.4b). One explanation for our results departure from our hypothesis is that with over 1,600 miles (~2,600 km) of shoreline and a 176,007 km<sup>2</sup> catchment area that can contribute water potentially contaminated with fecal matter, Lake Michigan has more tributaries and river outlets impacting its water quality than any inland lake tested. Tributaries can transport fecal contamination from upstream locations (Haack et al., 2013, Weiskerger et al., 2019) along with potentially pathogenic E. coli when upstream land has cattle pastures (Bradshaw et al., 2016) or highly developed areas lacking pervious surfaces (Molina et al., 2014). Although a conflicting study by the United States Department of Agriculture found no significant increase in E. coli found in runoff from fields after dairy compost application, the maximum E. coli concentration at all three types of agricultural fields tested did occur when compost had been applied (Harmel et al., 2010). Given that

there are hundreds if not thousands of tributaries within the Lake Michigan watershed, identifying those with considerably high *E. coli* concentrations, then taking steps to reduce the contamination would improve the microbial water quality at Lake Michigan beaches. Furthermore, microbial water quality predictive models should include tributaries and the plumes they produce as a factor because the plumes produced from water emptying at their outlets has the potential to impact *E. coli* along the coast (Nekouee et al., 2015).

### 3.6 Conclusion and Future Studies

The only EVs that performed the same for *E. coli* quantification method and lake type were related to the abundance or presence of birds. The remainder of the EVs analyzed differed in their impact on *E. coli* depending on the method used to measure it and the lake type. This was further supported by Haack et al. (2013) who used beach catchment delineation as a grouping variable and found no set of shared variables that were able to predict *E. coli* levels. EVs impact *E. coli* concentrations in drastically different ways at inland lake beaches compared to freshwater coastal beaches like those found on Lake Michigan, as our study shows. Therefore, our overall recommendation is that separate microbial water quality predictive models should be created based on the FIB quantification method being used to monitor water quality and the lake type. Additionally, analyzing *E. coli* or other FIB levels in beach sand samples alongside recreational water samples could improve model accuracy by providing a more complete picture of the possible sources of fecal contamination.

*E. coli* is a commonly used indicator of fecal contamination to monitor for unsafe swimming conditions at beaches. Beaches with repeated bacterial exceedances can then use microbial source tracking (MST)—another emerging qPCR tool—to determine the source (i.e. human, dog, bovine etc.) of fecal contamination (Byappanahalli et al., 2015; Shanks et al., 2016; U.S. EPA 2019) and action can be taken to reduce the number of beach closures. Future studies also should use emerging

molecular methods to investigate specific pathogens to better understand the risk to recreators, like is being done for swimmer's itch (cercarial dermatitis) (Rudko et al., 2018).

Kaplan-Meier distribution curves—part of the survival analysis statistical methods suite allowed us to incorporate all *E. coli* concentration data in analysis. This provides a more universal view of the system being studied than if these data were removed or replaced with a different value. These statistical methods can extend into other environmental studies such as those including nutrient data or FIB fate and transport models. Therefore, future studies should consider these types of statistical analyses when censored results occur. Our trend tests did not distinguish between the differences in EV groupings though. For example, turbidity categories at inland lake beaches measured with Colilert were statistically significantly ordered, but it is unknown what pair of categories was the driver in the difference. Future studies should employ higher levels of survival analysis, such as Cox Regression (Cox, 1972), to distinguish which categories are driving the impact on *E. coli* concentrations.

Protecting recreators from unsafe swimming conditions is the primary objective for monitoring microbial water quality at beaches. What must be remembered, is that good water quality at beaches is not only important for recreational use, but that same water is often used as a drinking water source and for our food supply hence, safe beach water is connected to good water quality for all aspects of our life.

# **3.7 Supplemental Materials**

# Supplemental Tables

**Table S3.1** Weather stations reporting to www.wunderground.com and the beaches whose rain data were recorded from it. Weather stations were selected based on proximity to the beach.

Weather Station	Associated Beach			
KMICONKL3/ KMIRAVEN5	Moore County Park			
KMIMONTA1	Maple Park			
KMIMONTA2	Old Channel			
KMIMONTA5	Meinert County Park			
KMIMONTA7	Duck Lake State Park			
KMIMUSKE4	Mona Lake Park			
	Ross Park			
KMIMUSKE35	Sunset Beach			
	Wolf Lake County Park			
KMIMUSKE45	Pere Marquette			
	Harbor Towne			
KMINORTO8	PJ Hoffmaster Public			
	PJ Hoffmaster Campground			
KMINORTH13	Pioneer			
	Muskegon State Park North Channel Campground Watersports Park			
KMITWINL5	Blue Lake County Park			
KMITWINL8	Twin Lake County Park			
KMITWINL9	Padley Park			
	Fox Lake Park			

Lake Type	Inland		Lake Michigan	
EV	Colilert	qPCR	Colilert	qPCR
Turbidity (NTU)	0.035	0.606	<0.001	<0.001
Wind Speed (mph)	0.018	0.801	0.002	0.019
Air Temperature (°C)	0.684	0.364	0.418	0.478
Water Temperature (°C)	0.343	0.942	<0.001	0.002
Number of Birds	< 0.001	0.004	<0.001	<0.001
	0.015	0.012	<0.001	<0.001
Birds Present/Absent*	z = -2.18	z = -2.24	z = -4.12	z = -4.04
Time Since Last Rain (h)	0.057	0.658	0.192	0.099
Rain Amount (inches)	0.031	0.887	0.613	0.035

**Table S3.2** Log-rank trend test and log-rank paired with two-sample test for censored data *p*-values and z-statistic, where appropriate, from comparisons of categorized environmental variable (EV) Kaplan-Meier distribution curves. Bolded values were statistically significantly different ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

\*Tested birds absent < present

# Supplemental Figures



Figure S3.1 Inland lake beaches within Muskegon County, MI (inset) included in this study. Lake names where beaches are located are in parentheses.



Figure S3.2 Blue Lake County Park (1), Fox Lake Park (2), and Padley Park (3) beach location on lake (yellow rectangle in left column) and sampling sites (right column).



Figure S3.3 Twin Lake County Park (4), Maple Park (5), and Duck Lake State Park (6) beach location on inland lake (yellow rectangle in left column) and sampling sites (right column).



Figure S3.4 Muskegon State Park North Channel Campground (7), Watersports Park (8), and Harbor Towne Beach location on inland lake (yellow rectangle in left column) and sampling sites (right column).



Figure S3.5 Mona Lake Park (10), Ross Park (11), and Sunset Beach (12) location on inland lake (yellow rectangle, left column) and sampling sites (right column).



Figure S3.6 Wolf Lake Park (13) and Moore County Park (14) beach location on inland lake (yellow rectangle, left column) and sampling sites (right column).



Figure S3.7 Lake Michigan beaches sampled for this study within Muskegon County, MI.



Figure S3.8 Meinert County Park (1), Old Channel (2), and Pioneer Park (3) beach location (yellow rectangle, left column) and sampling sites (right column).



Figure S3.9 Pere Marquette (4), PJ Hoffmaster Campground (5), and PJ Hoffmaster Public (6) beach locations (yellow rectangle, left column) and sampling sites (left column).



**Figure S3.10** Kaplan-Meier distribution curves of hours since the last rain and *E. coli* concentrations measured with qPCR at inland lake beaches with 95% point-wise confidence intervals. Non-significant *p*-value (p = 0.658) indicates the tested trend did not significantly impact *E. coli* quantities measured with Colilert at inland lake beaches. Tested trend: (< 24 h) > (25 – 72 h) > (> 72 h); longer amount of time since the last rain would have lower *E. coli* concentrations.



**Figure S3.11** Kaplan-Meier distribution curves of hours since the last rain and *E. coli* concentrations measured with Colilert (a) and qPCR (b) at Lake Michigan beaches with 95% point-wise confidence intervals. Non-significant *p*-values indicate the tested trend did not significantly impact *E. coli* quantities. Tested trend: (< 24 h) > (25 - 72 h) > (> 72 h); longer amount of time since the last rain would have lower *E. coli* concentrations.

### 3.8 References

- Alm, E. W.; Burke, J.; Spain, A. Fecal Indicator Bacteria Are Abundant in Wet Sand at Freshwater Beaches. *Water Research* 2003, *37* (16), 3978–3982. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(03)00301-4.
- (2) Badgley, B. D.; Ferguson, J.; Heuvel, A. V.; Kleinheinz, G. T.; McDermott, C. M.; Sandrin, T. R.; Kinzelman, J.; Junion, E. A.; Byappanahalli, M. N.; Whitman, R. L.; et al. Multi-Scale Temporal and Spatial Variation in Genotypic Composition of Cladophora-Borne Escherichia Coli Populations in Lake Michigan. *Water Research* 2011, 45 (2), 721–731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.08.041.
- (3) Boehm, A. B.; Graham, K. E.; Jennings, W. C. Can We Swim Yet? Systematic Review, Meta-Analysis, and Risk Assessment of Aging Sewage in Surface Waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2018, 52 (17), 9634–9645. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01948.
- (4) Byappanahalli, M. N.; Whitman, R. L.; Shively, D. A.; Nevers, M. B. Linking Non-Culturable (QPCR) and Culturable Enterococci Densities with Hydrometeorological Conditions. *Science of The Total Environment* 2010, 408 (16), 3096–3101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scito tenv.2010.04.051.
- (5) Byappanahalli, M. N.; Nevers, M. B.; Whitman, R. L.; Ge, Z.; Shively, D.; Spoljaric, A.; Przybyla-Kelly, K. Wildlife, Urban Inputs, and Landscape Configuration Are Responsible for Degraded Swimming Water Quality at an Embayed Beach. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 2015, 41 (1), 156–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2014.11.027.
- (6) Chern, E. C.; Siefring, S.; Paar, J.; Doolittle, M.; Haugland, R. A. Comparison of Quantitative PCR Assays for Escherichia Coli Targeting Ribosomal RNA and Single Copy Genes. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 2011, *52* (3), 298–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2010.03001.x.
- (7) Converse, R. R.; Kinzelman, J. L.; Sams, E. A.; Hudgens, E.; Dufour, A. P.; Ryu, H.; Santo-Domingo, J. W.; Kelty, C. A.; Shanks, O. C.; Siefring, S. D.; et al. Dramatic Improvements in Beach Water Quality Following Gull Removal. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2012, 120905140233000. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302306b.
- (8) Cordell, H. K. Outdoor Recreation Trends and Futures: A Technical Document Supporting the Forest Service 2010 RPA Assessment. *Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-150. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Southern Research Station, 167 p.* **2012**, *150*, 1–167.
- (9) Cox, D. R. Regression Models and Life-Tables. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological) 1972, 34 (2), 187–220.
- (10) Cyterski, M.; Brooks, W.; Galvin, M.; Wolfe, K.; Carvin, R.; Fienen, M.; Corsi, S. Virtual Beach 3.0.6: User's Guide. February **2016**.
- (11) Chris Dardis (2018). survMisc: Miscellaneous Functions for Survival Data. R package version 0.5.5., https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=survMisc
- (12) DeFlorio-Barker, S.; Wade, T. J.; Turyk, M.; Dorevitch, S. Water Recreation and Illness Severity. *Journal of Water and Health; London* 2016, *14* (5), 713–726. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.gvsu.edu/10.2166/wh.2016.002.
- (13) DeFlorio-Barker, S.; Wing, C.; Jones, R. M.; Dorevitch, S. Estimate of Incidence and Cost of Recreational Waterborne Illness on United States Surface Waters. *Environmental Health* 2018, 17 (1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0347-9.

- (14) Dinse, G. E.; Jusko, T. A.; Ho, L. A.; Annam, K.; Graubard, B. I.; Hertz-Picciotto, I.; Miller, F. W.; Gillespie, B. W.; Weinberg, C. R. Accommodating Measurements Below a Limit of Detection: A Novel Application of Cox Regression. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2014, *179* (8), 1018–1024. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu017.
- (15) Dufour, A. P. Health Effects Criteria for Fresh Recreational Waters. *Toxicology and Microbiology Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency* **1984**.
- (16) Dwight, R. H.; Caplan, J. S.; Brinks, M. V.; Catlin, S. N.; Buescher, G.; Semenza, J. C. Influence of Variable Precipitation on Coastal Water Quality in Southern California. *Water Environment Research* 2011, *83* (12), 2121–2130. https://doi.org/10.2175/106143011X12928814444574.
- (17) EGLE, D. of E., Great Lakes and Energy. EGLE About Beach Monitoring in Michigan https://www.michigan.gov/egle/0,9429,7-135-3313\_3681\_3686\_3730-11005--,00.html (accessed Oct 1, 2019).
- (18) Eregno, F. E.; Tryland, I.; Tjomsland, T.; Myrmel, M.; Robertson, L.; Heistad, A. Quantitative Microbial Risk Assessment Combined with Hydrodynamic Modelling to Estimate the Public Health Risk Associated with Bathing after Rainfall Events. *Science of The Total Environment* 2016, 548–549, 270–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.01.034.
- (19) Frick, W. E.; Ge, Z.; Zepp, R. G. Nowcasting and Forecasting Concentrations of Biological Contaminants at Beaches: A Feasibility and Case Study. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2008, 42 (13), 4818–4824. https://doi.org/10.1021/es703185p.
- (20) Gillespie, B. W.; Chen, Q.; Reichert, H.; Franzblau, A.; Hedgeman, E.; Lepkowski, J.; Adriaens, P.; Demond, A.; Luksemburg, W.; Garabrant, D. H. Estimating Population Distributions When Some Data Are Below a Limit of Detection by Using a Reverse Kaplan-Meier Estimator. *Epidemiology* 2010, *21* (4), 864–870.
- (21) Goodwin, K. D.; Schriewer, A.; Jirik, A.; Curtis, K.; Crumpacker, A. Consideration of Natural Sources in a Bacteria TMDL—Lines of Evidence, Including Beach Microbial Source Tracking. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2017, *51* (14), 7775–7784. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b05886.
- (22) Haack, S. K.; Fogarty, L. R.; Stelzer, E. A.; Fuller, L. M.; Brennan, A. K.; Isaacs, N. M.; Johnson, H. E. Geographic Setting Influences Great Lakes Beach Microbiological Water Quality. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2013, 47 (21), 12054–12063. https://doi.org/10.1021/es402299a.
- (23) Harmel, R. D.; Karthikeyan, R.; Gentry, T.; Srinivasan, R. Effects of Agricultural Management, Land Use, and Watershed Scale on *E. Coli* Concentrations in Runoff and Streamflow. *Transactions of the ASABE* 2010, *53* (6), 1833–1841. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.35809.
- (24) Helsel, D. R. *Statistics for Censored Environmental Data Using Minitab and* R; John Wiley & Sons, **2011**.
- (25) Hollander, M.; Wolfe, D. A.; Chicken, E. *Nonparametric Statistical Methods*; John Wiley & Sons, **2013**.
- (26) Ishii, S.; Hansen, D. L.; Hicks, R. E.; Sadowsky, M. J. Beach Sand and Sediments Are Temporal Sinks and Sources of *Escherichia Coli* in Lake Superior. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2007, 41 (7), 2203–2209. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0623156.
- (27) Kaplan, E. L.; Meier, P. Nonparametric Estimation from Incomplete Observations. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 1958, *53* (282), 457–481. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1958.10501452.

- (28) Kelly, E. A.; Feng, Z.; Gidley, M. L.; Sinigalliano, C. D.; Kumar, N.; Donahue, A. G.; Reniers, A. J. H. M.; Solo-Gabriele, H. M. Effect of Beach Management Policies on Recreational Water Quality. *Journal of Environmental Management* 2018, *212*, 266–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.02.012.
- (29) Kinzelman, J. L.; Singh, A.; Ng, C.; Pond, K. R.; Bagley, R. C.; Gradus, S. Use of IDEXX Colilert-18® and Quanti-Tray/2000 as a Rapid and Simple Enumeration Method for the Implementation of Recreational Water Monitoring and Notification Programs. *Lake and Reservoir Management* 2005, *21* (1), 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1080/07438140509354414.
- (30) Klein, J. P.; Moeschberger, M. L. *Survival Analysis: Techniques for Censored and Truncated Data*; Springer Science & Business Media, **2006**.
- (31) LaLiberte, P.; Grimes, D. J. Survival of Escherichia Coli in Lake Bottom Sediment. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1982**, *43* (3), 623–628.
- (32) Lleo, M. M.; Bonato, B.; Tafi, M. C.; Signoretto, C.; Pruzzo, C.; Canepari, P. Molecular vs Culture Methods for the Detection of Bacterial Faecal Indicators in Groundwater for Human Use. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 2005, 40 (4), 289–294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2005.01666.x.
- (33) Machin, D.; Cheung, Y. B.; Parmar, M. Survival Analysis: A Practical Approach; John Wiley & Sons, 2006.
- (34) Molina, M.; Hunter, S.; Cyterski, M.; Peed, L. A.; Kelty, C. A.; Sivaganesan, M.; Mooney, T.; Prieto, L.; Shanks, O. C. Factors Affecting the Presence of Human-Associated and Fecal Indicator Real-Time Quantitative PCR Genetic Markers in Urban-Impacted Recreational Beaches. *Water Research* 2014, 64, 196–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.06.036.
- (35) Murray, C.; Sohngen, B.; Pendleton, L. Valuing Water Quality Advisories and Beach Amenities in the Great Lakes. *Water Resources Research* **2001**, *37* (10), 2583–2590. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001WR000409.
- (36) Nekouee, N.; Hamidi, S. A.; Roberts, P. J. W.; Schwab, D. J. A Coupled Empirical-Numerical Model for a Buoyant River Plume in Lake Michigan. *Water Air Soil Pollut* 2015, *226* (12), 412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-015-2676-z.
- (37) Nevers, M. B.; Whitman, R. L. Nowcast Modeling of Escherichia Coli Concentrations at Multiple Urban Beaches of Southern Lake Michigan. *Water Research* 2005, *39* (20), 5250–5260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.012.
- (38) Noble, R. T.; Lee, I. M.; Schiff, K. C. Inactivation of Indicator Micro-Organisms from Various Sources of Faecal Contamination in Seawater and Freshwater. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 2004, 96 (3), 464–472. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02155.x.
- (39) Pruzzo, C.; Tarsi, R.; Lleò, M. del M.; Signoretto, C.; Zampini, M.; Colwell, R. R.; Canepari, P. In Vitro Adhesion to Human Cells by Viable But Nonculturable Enterococcus Faecalis. *Current Microbiology* 2002, 45 (2), 105–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-001-0089-2.
- (40) Rice, E. W.; Baird, R. B.; Eaton, A. D. *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater*, 22nd ed.; American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association, Water Environment Federation, **2012**.
- (41) Rudko, S. P.; Reimink, R. L.; Froelich, K.; Gordy, M. A.; Blankespoor, C. L.; Hanington, P. C. Use of QPCR-Based Cercariometry to Assess Swimmer's Itch in Recreational Lakes. *EcoHealth* 2018, 15 (4), 827–839. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-018-1362-1.
- (42) Seyfried, P. L.; Tobin, R. S.; Brown, N. E.; Ness, P. F. A Prospective Study of Swimming-Related Illness. I. Swimming-Associated Health Risk. *American Journal of Public Health* 1985, 75 (9), 1068–1070. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.75.9.1068.

- (43) Seyfried, P. L.; Tobin, R. S.; Brown, N. E.; Ness, P. F. A Prospective Study of Swimming-Related Illness. II. Morbidity and the Microbiological Quality of Water. *American Journal of Public Health* **1985**, *75* (9), 1071–1075. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.75.9.1071</u>.
- (44) Shanks, O. C.; Kelty, C. A.; Oshiro, R.; Haugland, R. A.; Madi, T.; Brooks, L.; Field, K. G.; Sivaganesan, M. Data Acceptance Criteria for Standardized Human-Associated Fecal Source Identification Quantitative Real-Time PCR Methods. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2016, 82 (9), 2773–2782. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03661-15.
- (45) Sivaganesan, M.; Aw, T. G.; Briggs, S.; Dreelin, E.; Aslan, A.; Dorevitch, S.; Shrestha, A.; Isaacs, N.; Kinzelman, J.; Kleinheinz, G.; et al. Standardized Data Quality Acceptance Criteria for a Rapid Escherichia Coli QPCR Method (Draft Method C) for Water Quality Monitoring at Recreational Beaches. *Water Research* 2019, *156*, 456–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.011.
- (46) Staley, Z. R.; Chuong, J. D.; Hill, S. J.; Grabuski, J.; Shokralla, S.; Hajibabaei, M.; Edge, T. A. Fecal Source Tracking and EDNA Profiling in an Urban Creek Following an Extreme Rain Event. Sci Rep 2018, 8 (1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32680-z</u>.
- (47) Therneau T (2015). \_A Package for Survival Analysis in S\_. version 2.38,
  <URL:https://C RAN.R-project.org/package=survival>.
- (48) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Great Lakes Beach Sanitary Survey User Manual. Office of Water May 2008.
- (49) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Method 1611: Enterococci in Water by TaqMan® Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (QPCR) Assay. **2012**, 56.
- (50) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Method 1609: Enterococci in Water by TaqMan® Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (QPCR) with Internal Amplification Control (IAC) Assay. **2013**, 72.
- (51) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Method 1697: Characterization of Human Fecal Pollution in Water by HumM2 TaqMan Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (QPCR) Assay. March 2019.
- (52) Vermeulen, N.; Keeler, W. J.; Nandakumar, K.; Leung, K. T. The Bactericidal Effect of Ultraviolet and Visible Light on Escherichia Coli. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 2008, 99 (3), 550–556. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.21611.
- (53) Wade, T. J.; Calderon, R. L.; Brenner, K. P.; Sams, E.; Beach, M.; Haugland, R.; Wymer, L.; Dufour, A. P. High Sensitivity of Children to Swimming-Associated Gastrointestinal Illness: Results Using a Rapid Assay of Recreational Water Quality. *Epidemiology* **2008**, *19* (3), 375–383.
- (54) Weiskerger, C. J.; Brandão, J.; Ahmed, W.; Aslan, A.; Avolio, L.; Badgley, B. D.; Boehm, A. B.; Edge, T. A.; Fleisher, J. M.; Heaney, C. D.; et al. Impacts of a Changing Earth on Microbial Dynamics and Human Health Risks in the Continuum between Beach Water and Sand. *Water Research* 2019, *162*, 456–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.07.006.
- (55) Weiskerger, C. J.; Whitman, R. L. Monitoring E. Coli in a Changing Beachscape. Science of The Total Environment 2018, 619–620, 1236–1246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.167.
- (56) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B. Foreshore Sand as a Source of Escherichia Coli in Nearshore Water of a Lake Michigan Beach. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2003, 69 (9), 5555– 5562. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.9.5555-5562.2003.

- (57) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B.; Korinek, G. C.; Byappanahalli, M. N. Solar and Temporal Effects on Escherichia Coli Concentration at a Lake Michigan Swimming Beach. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2004, *70* (7), 4276–4285. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.7.4276-4285.2004.
- (58) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B. Escherichia Coli Sampling Reliability at a Frequently Closed Chicago Beach: Monitoring and Management Implications. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38* (16), 4241–4246. https://doi.org/10.1021/es034978i.
- (59) Wyer, M. D.; Kay, D.; Morgan, H.; Naylor, S.; Clark, S.; Watkins, J.; Davies, C. M.; Francis, C.; Osborn, H.; Bennett, S. Within-Day Variability in Microbial Concentrations at a UK Designated Bathing Water: Implications for Regulatory Monitoring and the Application of Predictive Modelling Based on Historical Compliance Data. *Water Research X* 2018, *1*, 100006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wroa.2018.10.003.
- (60) Yakirevich, A.; Pachepsky, Y. A.; Guber, A. K.; Gish, T. J.; Shelton, D. R.; Cho, K. H. Modeling Transport of Escherichia Coli in a Creek during and after Artificial High-Flow Events: Three-Year Study and Analysis. *Water Research* 2013, 47 (8), 2676–2688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.02.011.
- (61)a 2017 Tourism Economic Impact Region and County tables.pdf | Powered by Box https://medc.app.box.com/s/ix0a71sp5clhvqmpniwgenw45y8g0kw3 (accessed Aug 5, 2019).
- (62)b Michigan Economic Impact 2017\_final.pptx | Powered by Box https://medc.app.box.com/s/7vak2c1hj4u2fbotzejssofwkvl9tfjx (accessed Aug 5, 2019).

#### Chapter 4 : Extended Review of Literature and Extended Methodology

# 4.1 Extended Literature Review

Recreational waters, such as public beaches, lakes, and rivers, are an economic resource for the local community. A Forest Service's National Survey on Recreation and the Environment (NSRE) report estimated that in 2008 approximately 61% of the United States' (US) population over 16 years of age participated in non-motorized water activities (i.e. swimming, snorkeling, visiting beaches) and almost 17% participated in canoeing, kayaking or rafting activities (Cordell, 2012). Furthermore, a single beachgoer will spend \$13.13 within ten miles of the beach per visit (Murray et al., 2001), helping to support local businesses. Muskegon County is one of the communities that benefits from tourism. In 2016 approximately 1.7 million visitors traveled to Muskegon County and spent an estimated \$244 million on leisure (B. Lukens, Community Development Director, Muskegon County Convention & Visitors Bureau, www.visitmuskegon.org, pers. comm.). One of the main tourist draws are the thirteen public beaches along the twenty-six miles of Lake Michigan shoreline and the fifteen public inland lake beaches that serve as places for recreation. On the other hand, a beach closure due to unacceptable water quality can result in lost tourism dollars. A one-time beach closure could cost, on average, \$100,000 in lost revenue to businesses within a ten-mile radius of the closed beach (Jentes, 2000). Thus, the number of beach attendees in a single summer has the potential of adding up to millions of dollars invested in the community provided that the beaches remain open for use.

Recreational waters are also a public health concern. It has long been known that swimming in contaminated water can lead to illness (Stevenson, 1953; Cabelli et al. 1982; Dufour, 1984; Wade et al., 2008). Several types of illnesses have been reported as being associated with recreational waters. Respiratory infections, gastrointestinal illnesses (GI), ear and skin symptoms were higher among swimmers than non-swimmers, and ear infections were higher among swimmers who had their head underwater (Seyfried et al., 1985 (I); Colford et al., 2007; Wade et al., 2008). Also to consider is how contact with polluted water affects the health of different groups of people. For instance, people with compromised immune systems or elderly individuals may be more susceptible to health issues arising from contact with contaminated water. Additionally, children ages 10 and under are more greatly affected by contact (Wade et al., 2008). Therefore, it is important that water quality guidelines protect everyone from exposure to contaminated water.

Testing recreational waters for fecal contamination is essential to public health, but the question of what organism to test for arises. There are numerous microbial pathogens associated with fecal contamination but testing for all of them would place a temporal and financial burden on the entities conducting the monitoring. Despite an early study showing that *staphylococci* were a better indicator of recreational water illnesses (Seyfried et al., 1985 (II)), the most commonly used fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) are total coliforms, fecal coliforms, *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* and *enterococci* (Meays et al., 2004). Of these, *E. coli*, a potentially pathogenic bacterium found in the intestines of endothermic ("warm-blooded") animals (Whitman et al., 1999), is considered to be the best indicator microorganism for freshwater (Prüss, 1998). A meta-analysis of recreational water quality literature published from 1950 to 2003 reported most studies indicators (Wade et al., 2003).

*E. coli* is a well-studied FIB for recreational water monitoring. There are several routes through which it is believed to enter the beach environment: treated municipal wastewater discharge, untreated sewage during storm events due to combined sewer overflows, aging septic systems, agricultural runoff (Bradshaw et al., 2016), water vessel wastewater discharge, leakage from diapers on children, urban runoff (Molina et al., 2014), and as animal wastes from birds (Mathai et al., 2018),

dogs and other wildlife. Another possible introduction pathway for E. coli into the water column is from disturbed sand or sediment on the lake bottom when intense wave action occurs (Laliberte and Grimes, 1982; Staley et al., 2016). Sand in the foreshore area of the beach also can be an E. coli source as runoff from rain or waves carry E. coli stored in the sand towards the water (Whitman and Nevers, 2003; Alm et al., 2003; Ishii et al., 2007). Cladophora mats (Whitman et al., 2003; Quilliam et al., 2014) and submerged aquatic vegetation such as the invasive Eurasian watermilfoil (Myriophyllum spicatum) (Mathai et al., 2018), may also serve as introduction routes of E. coli intro recreational waters. Although the statistical methods used in the Mathai et al. study (2018), were unable to demonstrate the direction of E. coli movement; they assumed the bacteria moved from areas of higher to lower density (i.e. from the watermilfoil to the water column). Furthermore, tributaries that are near swim areas also may contribute E. coli as they carry storm water runoff into the beach area (Baral et al., 2018). Six years of hydrometeorological data were used to examine precipitation impacts on the coastal beaches of California and revealed peaks in precipitation levels, river discharge rates and bacteria quantities all happened concurrently (Dwight et al., 2011). Another study collected water samples downstream of a tarp-lined creek where high-water flow was simulated by releasing city water over the tarp. E. coli concentrations peaked when flow rates peaked, suggesting that E. coli stored in the benthos was resuspended in the water column during peak-flow, like that which occurs during rain events (Yakirevich et al., 2013); evidence that E. coli can be introduced into a beach through a contaminated tributary.

Because the waters of public beaches may be contaminated with pathogenic bacteria, they should be routinely sampled and analyzed during the summer when attendance is highest. Federal and local governments provide guidance and administer programs for monitoring the water quality at public beaches. An amendment to the Clean Water Act in 1986, section 304(a) (1), implemented by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) set guidelines for bacterial densities in recreational waters. The guidelines, based on the research conducted by Cabelli (1982) and Dufour (1984), were determined by the likelihood of developing a GI illness through contact with fecal contaminated water. The current acceptable level of *E. coli* in a recreational water sample, as recommended by the U.S. EPA, is a 30-day geometric mean not to exceed 126 colony forming units (cfu) per 100 mL (U.S. EPA, 1986). This recommendation is explicitly a guideline for states and not an enforceable regulation. The decision to adopt it or develop a different one, based on scientifically determined water quality data, is left up to each individual state.

Michigan is one of the states with its own criteria for recreational water quality (EGLE, 2019). The Michigan Public Health Code (Act 368 of 1978) authorizes local health departments to monitor bathing beaches, but does not require it (EGLE, 1978). According to the health code, beaches must be sampled a minimum of five times in a 30-day period, with three samples taken at each beach during every sampling event. These three samples can be analyzed individually and a geometric mean calculated for the three samples. Alternatively, the three samples can be composited, and a single sample analyzed. For a beach to remain open for swimming the *E. coli* concentrations of the daily geometric mean, or single composited sample, must be below 300 cfu/100 mL. At the end of the 30-day period, a 30- day geometric mean is calculated for all individual samples collected during the 30-day sampling period. The results of the 30-day geometric mean must fall below 130 *E. coli* per 100 mL for the water to be designated as safe for swimming. A beach is closed if either of the following occur: 1. the single day result exceeds 300 cfu/100 mL or 2. the 30-day geometric mean is exceeded. The *E. coli* level results are then required to be reported to the Department of Environment, Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE) within 36 hours. Once the

the beach will reopen. The regulatory *E. coli* levels set by the State of Michigan are slightly higher than the U.S. EPA recommendation, but still provide a level of risk abatement when beaches are routinely monitored.

The above water quality criteria recommended by the U.S. EPA and established in Michigan were based on quantification by membrane filtration; one of the U.S. EPA approved methods for testing water quality. For the membrane filtration method, water samples are filtered, exposed to a modified thermo-tolerant *E. coli* agar and incubated for  $22 \pm 2$  hours. *E. coli* colonies are counted based on a color change brought about by the culture media and are reported as cfu's. Another method, originally used for drinking water and wastewater testing, is the IDEXX Colilert-18<sup>®</sup> Quanti-Tray/2000 system, hereafter referred to as Colilert (Crane et al., 2006). Colilert relies on the enzyme  $\beta$ -glucuronidase to react with a patented chemical substrate containing 4-methyl-umbelliferyl β-D-glucuronide (MUG) which has a fluorescent molecule attached (www.idexx.com). Water samples are mixed with MUG, poured into a Quanti-Tray, sealed and incubated for 18 - 22 hours. The MUG substrate causes enzymatic activity in the  $\beta$ -D-glucuronidase enzyme, cleaving the fluorescent molecule. Following the incubation time, the tray is exposed to ultraviolet light, the number of large and small fluorescing wells are counted, and E. coli concentrations are reported as the most probable number (MPN). The U.S. EPA approved the Colilert method in 2003 (U.S. Federal Register-40 CFR Part 136 Vol. 68, No. 139, August 2003). Following its approval, a twoyear comparison study was performed using water samples from five Lake Michigan beaches. A strong correlation in E. coli concentrations was found between the membrane filtration and Colilert methods, and in less than 0.5% of the samples would there have been a discrepancy in a beach closing or remaining open (Kinzelman et al., 2005). However, relying on the enzymatic activity of  $\beta$ -D-glucuronidase may not account for some of the most pathogenic strains of E. coli, such as the

O157:H7 because enzymatic activity is not exhibited (Fricker et al., 2008) and, other microorganisms, such as *Salmonella*, *Shigella* and *Staphylococcus* spp, also produce  $\beta$ -D-glucuronidase (Silva and Domingues; 2015). Furthermore, the Colilert method does not account for viable but non-culturable bacteria cells (Pruzzo et al., 2002) that may become viable, or culturable, under certain conditions (Lleo et al., 2005). Although the membrane filtration and Colilert methods are reliable, the time to obtain a result requires at least 18 hours. Consequently, water quality results are not disseminated to county officials, beach managers or the public until the day after the potential health risk occurred. This management practice is flawed in that *E. coli* levels can vary greatly from day to day (Whitman et al., 1999; Dorevitch 2017; Wyer et al., 2018) thus beaches are closed on days where there may be no risk but remain open on days where the risk was high. Both U.S. EPA approved methods provide some measure of protection from exposure to fecal contaminated water, but a new recreational water monitoring method was needed.

It is because of the temporal limitations and concerns about public health that the Beaches Environmental Assessment and Coastal Health (BEACH) Act was signed into law (Congress, 2000). The BEACH Act is an amendment to the Clean Water Act and instructs the U.S. EPA to conduct and fund research for faster testing, monitoring and reporting techniques for water quality in recreational waters. Additionally, the BEACH Act requests epidemiological research aimed at potential pathogens found in water and their effect on human health. The culmination of these studies would deliver revised water quality criteria to be included in the Clean Water Act.

Many studies have since been conducted to find a more expedited method of testing and reporting beach water quality results. One technique is microbial water quality predictive modeling, or nowcast modeling. Nowcast modeling offers a more cost-effective method since samplers and complex instruments for analysis are not needed. Nowcast modeling of *E. coli* outbreaks is a

statistical technique in which past water quality data and current environmental variables are entered in a "Virtual Beach" public domain software (Frick et al., 2008; Cyterski et al., 2016). Abiotic factors thought to impact E. coli densities in water include such things as water turbidity, wind direction and speed, wave height, rainfall and presence of tributaries emptying into the beach area (Frick et al., 2008, Byappanahalli et al., 2010) and can often be collected from nearby buoys and weather stations already in place. The software then uses a multiple linear regression model and predicts when E. coli concentrations would be high enough to warrant a beach-closure. Microbial water quality predictions were often more accurate than sampling (Frick et al., 2008) and, when used in combination with a microbiological quantitative method, the model was effective (Byappanahalli et al., 2010). In contrast, on five of eleven occasions a nowcast model failed to predict E. coli levels above the U.S. EPA limits (Nevers and Whitman, 2005). While microbial water quality predictive models are faster and cost-effective there is still research needed to determine how they can be applied at individual beaches with dynamic and differing environments. Another approach is to test for chemical compounds associated with anthropogenic waste as a way of identifying fecal contamination in waterbodies. Pharmaceuticals such as carbamazepine (for seizures, nerve pain and bipolar disorders) and diphenhydramine (an antihistamine for pain and itching) or caffeine (Glassmeyer, et al., 2005) could potentially act as indicators of human sewage. However, the concentrations of these pharmaceutical chemicals decreased as the distance from waste-water treatment plants increased. Therefore, their use may not be applicable for recreational waterbodies distant from waste-water treatment plants. Moreover, connecting the presence of human-associated chemical substances found in wastewater and increased risk of illness is poorly supported (Napier et al., 2018).
The BEACH Act also sparked research on an emerging technology for water quality analysis, common in microbiology, called Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR). Sample is mixed with a DNA polymerase, individual nucleotides and a primer/probe mixture whose DNA sequence template is complimentary to the target gene of interest. The sample mixture is heated, causing DNA strands to denature, then cooled allowing the primers and probes to anneal to the target sequence. Finally, the DNA polymerase extends the primer using free nucleotides in the reaction mixture thereby building a complimentary strand of the target DNA (Figure 4.1). The heating and cooling cycles are carried out approximately 40 times, producing an exponential amplification of the target gene sequence to be measured and is completed in only 2-3 hours. This is a significant improvement over the 18 - 24 hours required for membrane filtration or Colilert methods currently in use for microbial water quality analysis. An early demonstration of this assay for use with water samples used the DNA polymerase Thermus aquaticus (Taq) (Holland et al., 1991). Taq is a DNA polymerase with  $5' \rightarrow 3'$  exonuclease capabilities, meaning it can both extend a primer (DNA) polymerase activity) and cleave nucleotides annealed to the target DNA strand (exonuclease activity). Through use of the exonuclease capabilities, the probes, which attach at a different segment of DNA than the primer, can be labeled with a fluorescent signal molecule (fluorophore) on the 5' end of the DNA and Taq will cleave it thereby releasing it into the reaction mixture. After each cycle, the cleaved fluorescent signal molecules are detected by the instrument and measured. When the signal reaches a pre-determined level, the instrument provides a threshold cycle value (Ct) associated with the cycle number it occurred at. This value is inversely related to the starting amount of the target gene or, the lower the number of target gene copies in the sample, the higher the Ct value. Much research has been done to demonstrate the effectiveness of qPCR at measuring E. coli and approved

methods are available for measuring enterococcus concentrations in beach water samples (U.S. EPA 2012 and 2013).



**Figure 4.1** Diagram of a qPCR reaction cycle. The green arrow represents where the TaqMan<sup>™</sup> DNA polymerase attaches and extends the primer. Photo courtesy of Wikipedia.org.

Quantification of *E. coli* by qPCR uses a fluorescent signal molecule called FAM, and a DNA polymerase called TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> (Applied Biosystems, StepOnePlus). The 23S rRNA gene, a specific

region on *E. coli* DNA, is amplified and used to calculate the number of *E. coli* DNA gene copies present in a water sample. A positive correlation between culture-based methods and qPCR has been repeatedly verified (Haughland et al., 2005; Lavender and Kinzelman, 2009; Lam et al., 2014). The correlation was even more pronounced at higher concentrations (Whitman et al., 2010) which is applicable to beach monitoring programs since regulatory levels are set to > 100 cfu. Confirmation of the qPCR method's ability to predict swimming-associated GI illnesses came in 2006 (Wade et al.) and was reported as being a better predictor of GI illnesses than the culture-based method (Wade et al., 2008). Preliminary studies showed that qPCR was a promising candidate for beach water quality monitoring since it would greatly improve sample turn-around time and because it can detect densities of *E. coli* in compliance within regulatory levels. However, there are many factors to be examined before it becomes a fully approved method.

Interactions within the reaction-mixture are one of the factors to consider when using qPCR. Factors such as detection of the fluorescent signal molecule while it is still attached to the probe and, preventing the *Taq* polymerase from cleaving the fluorescent molecule before it has annealed to the sample's *E. coli* target gene sequence. If either of these were to occur, an elevated fluorescent signal would be detected, and the method would not produce accurate results. To prevent signal detection before cleavage, The TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> assay uses a quencher molecule called TAMRA<sup>TM</sup>. It is attached to the 3' end of the probe and while the quencher and fluorescent signal molecules are near one another, the fluorescent signal is "quenched" thereby preventing a false reading. This phenomenon is referred to as Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) (Cardullo et al., 1988). It is only once the fluorescent signal molecule is released that the thermocycler instrument detects the fluorescence. Holland et al. (1991) undertook the second interaction and showed that the *Taq* polymerase only cleaved the fluorescent signal molecule while it

was attached to the target gene sequence. Factors involving laboratory technique also are important when implementing a qPCR assay. As discussed in Chapter 2.5, because qPCR requires pipetting volumes in the micro-liter (µL) range, it is important that analysts are adept at repeatedly pipetting small volumes. The cost and time to implement a new technology must also be addressed. Training of personnel, purchasing supplies and instrumentation necessary to implement a qPCR lab has been estimated to cost \$100 thousand (Griffith and Weisberg, 2011). Grants awarded by the U.S. EPA under the BEACH Act will help defer costs, making the qPCR method available to a greater number of monitoring entities, thereby protecting a greater number of recreators from contact with fecal contaminated water.

Another factor which needs to be studied is qPCR's response to matrix interferences in varying water-body types. For it to replace current methods, it must provide accurate and reproducible results regardless of differing aquatic environments. Inland lakes tend to be more turbid then temperate water bodies such as the Great Lakes and turbidity is a cause of interference in qPCR analysis. Studies that have analyzed inland lake water samples (Siefring et al., 2008; Whitman et al., 2010; Haughland et al., 2012) did not extensively sample the inland waterbodies and, in some instances, only a single sample was taken from each inland lake. Another source of interference is organic material such as humic and tannic acids in the water sample (Opel et al., 2010). One effective approach to eliminating organic interferences and turbidity problems was to dilute water samples by five- or ten-fold (Haughland et al., 2005, 2012; Siefring et al., 2008; Noble et al., 2010). Another way to negate interference is to use a DNA purification step. DNA purification kits can be easily obtained and were found to be successful in samples exposed to heat prior to enumeration (Varma et al., 2009). However, for purposes of beach monitoring, heat-killing bacteria in samples before measurements are made is not a viable solution. Conversely, the purification step did not improve results, and even caused DNA to be of poor quality leading to unmet method efficiency criteria (Noble et al. 2010). The amount of qPCR data on varying water-body samples is growing, but additional research is needed to make strong conclusions about how qPCR will handle the various water types and how to eliminate the related interferences.

As a result of all the research on qPCR quantification methods, a draft method for quantification of *E. coli* in recreational water by qPCR that uses the Applied Biosystems TaqMan<sup>™</sup> assay and StepOne Plus thermocycler has been proposed by the EPA, currently called Draft Method C. More details on the specific method steps can be found in Chapters 2 and 3 of this manuscript. There have been many changes to the method throughout its development. Initially, as per the Site-Specific Alternative Recreational Criteria Technical Support Materials for Alternative Indicators and Methods, hereafter referred to as TSM, (U. S. EPA, 2014) the U.S. EPA used Willmott's Index of Agreement (IA) (Willmott, 1981) to compare E. coli concentrations quantified with the Draft Method C qPCR method to the Colilert defined substrate method. According to the TSM, the IA or Pearson's Correlation Coefficient (R-squared;  $R^2$ ) can be used to test if the association between a proposed and approved quantification method were equivalent; though, it was noted that squaring the error terms in the IA equation increased the sensitivity to outliers (Kneale et al., 2001) and Willmott later removed the squaring function from the error terms, thereby reducing outlier sensitivity (Willmott et al., 2012). The E. coli reporting units and quantification method also have changed during the development of Draft Method C. Originally, the reportable quantity was Calibrator Cell Equivalents (CCE) which were calculated using the comparative quantification method, or delta-delta Ct ( $\Delta\Delta$ Ct) quantification method (Life Technologies, Ch. 4.3, 2014; p. 46). The reporting unit then became the Genomic Equivalent (GE). GEs were calculated by dividing the CCE by seven, as it was assumed that each *E. coli* cell had seven copies of the target gene. By

dividing the number of target gene copies by seven, it would give the estimated number of *E. coli* cells present in the sample. However, it was later determined that the ratio of seven gene copies per cell was not ubiquitous for all samples (Dr. R. Haugland, U.S. EPA. pers. comm.) because qPCR amplifies the target gene sequence regardless of whether it is contained within a cell or free in the environment. The current version of Draft Method C uses a Weighted Linear Regression (WLR) calibration model and *E. coli* concentrations are reported as log base-10 gene copies per reaction. Lab-specific composite curves are generated from independently analyzed standard curves, as described in Chapter 2, and are then used to quantify *E. coli* concentrations in recreational water samples. Recently, beach notification value (BNV) has been established in Michigan for Draft Method C as 8,760 DNA copies of an *E. coli*-specific gene sequence per 100 mL; or as calculated in the Draft Method C provided Excel spreadsheet: 1.863 log<sub>10</sub>(copies/reaction). This BNV is being used to monitor bacterial water quality at select beaches in Oakland and Kent Counties in Michigan (Dr. S. Briggs, EGLE. pers. comm.).

Now that there is a scientifically tested standardized qPCR method for *E. coli* quantification, the question becomes how to handle the data produced from it. One of the many challenges that surface in data analysis is when the measured result, *E. coli* concentration in our study, is below the analytical limit of quantification (LOQ), often referred to as 'left-censored data'. Left-censored data are encountered when monitoring beaches if the water samples are relatively free from fecal contamination. Thus, having a statistical method that allows for the inclusion of such data are important to provide a complete picture of the beach environment. Historically accepted methods for handling censored data in the environmental sciences and microbiology fields include removing the censored values from the data set (Nie et al., 2010) or substituting LOQ/2 for the unknown value (Helsel, 2006; Chen et al., 2013). But both procedures ultimately alter the innate distribution of

the data set (Helsel, 2011). Even with as few as 5 - 10% of the data being censored, replacing values with LOQ/2 can introduce bias (Dinse et al., 2014; U.S. EPA, 2010, p. 10). Furthermore, by replacing censored values with LOQ/2 it is assumed that the data has a uniform distribution and that their median and mean are also LOQ/2 (Gillespie et al., 2010), which is unlikely the case. Thus, there is a need in the environmental sciences to use alternate statistical methods that allow for censored values to remain in the data set; because even an unquantifiable or zero result can inform us about the system being studied.

Survival analysis, also referred to as time-to-event analysis, offers such an alternative statistical method. Traditionally, it was used to analyze time-to-event data from medical and toxicology studies, however it has also been used in studies outside those disciplines (McNair et al., 2012; Sisson et al., 2013; Muñoz & Vermeiren, 2018; Tomazi et al., 2018). In our study, we used E. coli concentrations as the response variable in place of time. Survival analysis is typically used with right-censored data, because in many medical scenarios an 'event of interest', such as a diagnosis outcome or manifestation of a side-effect, is under investigation in response to some sort of treatment (e.g. variations in medication dosage). Often, the event of interest occurs after the completion of the study, so it is only known that the event time was greater than the study duration and this type of data are right-censored. Therefore, statistical software used to implement survival analysis testing methods, such as the trend tests used in our study (Chapter 3), do not have functions to handle left-censored data analysis. Fortunately, a simple data transformation allows one to employ survival analysis with a left-censored dataset. This is achieved by reversing, or 'flipping', the data by subtracting all measurements—*E coli* concentrations in our study—by an arbitrary number higher than the maximum observed value (Helsel, 2011; Dinse et al., 2014, Gillespie et al., 2010). Its primary benefit for our purposes is that it allows information from data below the LOQ to be

included in the statistical analysis in a statistically rigorous way simply by changing data from left- to right- censored. By using a survival analysis method like Kaplan-Meier distribution curves in Chapter 3, our results are more representative than those where data points were replaced or removed because no data were excluded, and our data set was not fundamentally altered.

Accurate quantification and analysis of *E. coli* concentrations in recreational waters is important to public health, but only if recreators understand the information provided to them. As pointed out by Oliver et al. (2016), how the public perceives and responds to swim warnings issued by beach managers is equally important. For example, full or part-time residents near a beach are more likely to view bacterial pollution as a measure of safe usage conditions (Jones et al., 2018). In contrast, non-resident visitors base water cleanliness on how they themselves perceive the quality by visual assessments such as the presence of garbage or clarity of the water (Jones et al., 2018). Analogous to beach monitoring in the United States, the European Union (EU) bathing waters are regulated by the Bathing Water Directive 2006/7/EC (Quilliam et al., 2019). Designated recreational waters are classified as being 'Excellent', 'Good', 'Sufficient' or 'Poor' based on monitoring data from the previous four years and the classification result is displayed at the beginning of the swim season (Quilliam et al., 2019). However, 60% of questionnaire respondents didn't recognize the signage used in the EU water quality classification system (Quilliam et al., 2019). It is only when recreators understand water quality warnings that they refrain from entering unsafe water thereby decreasing the risk of illness and improving the health of the community. Further research is needed to fully understand the best way(s) to inform the public.

### 4.2 Extended Methodology

#### Standard Curve Generation and Analysis

Both the 2016 and 2018 studies used the *E. coli* EC23S857 qPCR assay, a specific region on the 23S rRNA gene of *E. coli* that is detected and amplified, and the same methods of DNA extractions and qPCR analysis. Methods used to construct individual standard curves for the 2016 Draft Method C validation study (Bayesian MSC) are described in detail by Sivaganesan et al. (2019). Methods used to construct the 2018 individual standard curves (WLR) and lab-specific composite curve are described below.

## Participants

A diverse group of 21 labs from across the midwestern and southeastern United States participated in studies conducted in 2016, and 9 labs from across the state of Michigan participated in 2018 (Table S2.1). Government, university and county health department labs were represented in both studies. In each study, labs were assigned a unique code: '1' through '21' in 2016 (Sivaganesan et al., 2019) or 'A' through 'T in 2018 to maintain anonymity.

# Standards Instructions

Standards (estimated copy numbers: standard 1: 25,822.6; standard 2: 3,396.25; standard 3: 417.83; standard 4: 54.83; standard 5: 11.61) were prepared and verified at the U.S. EPA Cincinnati laboratory, as described in Sivaganesan et al. (2019), then shipped to a central lab that managed their distribution to the remaining labs. Standards were shipped overnight on dry ice. The U.S. EPA recommended that standards should be stored in 20  $\mu$ L aliquots at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until ready for use. Each time a standard curve was analyzed, a set of the five concentrations of aliquoted standards were removed from the freezer and any unused standard was discarded.

# qPCR Assay

In addition to the EC23S857 E. coli qPCR assay, a Sketa22 (salmon DNA) qPCR assay also was used. The Sketa22 assay amplifies a segment of the internal transcribed spacer region 2 of the salmon rRNA gene operon and was used as a sample processing and reaction inhibition control. The reporter molecule was FAM and the quencher molecule was TAMRA. Assay master mix (MM) was prepared by combining TaqMan<sup>™</sup> Environmental MM 2.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY) (12.5  $\mu$ L), 2.0 mg/mL stock solution bovine serum albumin (BSA) from fraction V powder (Sigma B-4287 or equivalent) (2.5 µL) dissolved in PCR-grade water, 500 µM stock solution of E. coli or sketa22 forward and reverse primers combined with 100 µM stock solution of E. coli or Sketa22 probes (3.0  $\mu$ L) (Invitrogen or equivalent) (Table 2.1), and qPCR-grade water (2.0  $\mu$ L). Volumes in parentheses are volumes specified in Draft Method C to use per 25 µL qPCR reaction being carried out. It was also recommended to prepare two additional reaction wells worth of MM to make sure enough was made for plate analysis. For example, if 24 wells of a 96 well plate were going to be used for *E. coli* quantification, 325  $\mu$ L of TaqMan (24 wells + 2 additional; 12.5  $\mu$ L x 26 wells) would be measured out. Two standard curves were permitted to be analyzed on the same 96well plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) provided separate batches of MM were prepared for each curve.

### Reagents and Supplies

*E. coli* standards were provided by the US EPA; labs also purchased: *E. coli* and salmon primers, TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> Environmental MM 2.0, optical 96-well PCR plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific), optical adhesive PCR plate seals (Thermo Fisher Scientific), sterile disposable MicroFunnel<sup>TM</sup> Filter Funnels (Pall Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI or equivalent) or re-useable filter funnel units, polycarbonate 47 mm diameter with 0.45 µm pore size filters (Millipore or equivalent), AE Buffer (Qiagen), sterile Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) (pH = 7.4  $\pm$  0.2), BSA, 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> *E. coli* cell aliquots for calibrator preparation, sterile 2.0 mL semi-conical screw cap microcentrifuge tubes pre-filled with 212 – 300 µm acid-washed glass beads (0.3  $\pm$  0.01 g) or purchased acid-washed glass beads separately and filled as indicated above, 1.7 mL low retention micro-centrifuge tubes, and PCR-grade water. A single lot of TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> Environmental MM 2.0 was used by all eight labs (Lot# 180115) and confirmed to have no underlying *E. coli* contamination by analyzing six No Template Controls (NTC) of AE buffer, run in duplicate (Saginaw Valley State University). All NTC runs resulted in an 'Undetermined' Ct value; meaning no fluorescence was detected above the background 'noise' or fluorescence signal, indicating the absence of *E. coli* DNA template in the TaqMan<sup>TM</sup>.

## DNA Extraction (Filter blanks and calibrators only)

Each standard curve required three calibrator filters (positive controls;  $1 \ge 10^4 E$ . *coli* cell equivalents) and three filter blanks (negative controls) prepared on separate filtration units. Calibrators were prepared by filtering 1 mL of a  $1 \ge 10^4 E$ . *coli* suspension in PBS through a 0.45 µm filter seated on a sterile filtration unit. The same procedure was used to filter 20 mL of PBS for filter blank preparation. Filters from calibrators and filter blanks were folded in half four times and placed in a 2.0 mL sterile semi-conical, screw-cap microcentrifuge tube containing 0.3g ( $\pm$  0.01 g) glass beads. Next, 600 µL of AE Buffer spiked with 0.2 µg/mL salmon DNA was added to each extraction tube and tightly sealed. Extraction tubes were bead milled for 1.0 min at 5,000 rpm then centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 5 min. Approximately 400 µL of the crude DNA extract was removed and transferred into a clean correspondingly labeled, sterile 1.7 mL low retention micro-centrifuge tube and centrifuged again for 1 min at 12,000 x g, then ~ 100 µL of the clarified supernatant was transferred into a second sterile centrifuge tube. Calibrator and filter blank extracts were analyzed shortly after extraction along with each standard curve.

## Plate Setup

Extracted DNA from calibrator and filter blanks were analyzed in duplicate with both *E. coli* and salmon MM separately. NTC and standards 1 - 5 were tested in triplicate solely with *E. coli* MM. (Figure S2.1). Each well contained 25 µL of final reaction volume; 20.0 µL of prepared MM, as described in section 2.3, and 5.0 µL of the supplied *E. coli* DNA standard or positive/negative control or NTC.

### Instrument Run Method

Thermocycling consisted of an initial 'holding stage' (50.0°C, 2 min; 95.0°C, 10 min) followed by 40 cycles of DNA denaturation and primer/probes annealing (95.0°C, 15 s; 56.0°C, 1 min). At the end of each of the 40 cycles, fluorescence was measured by the instrument (StepOnePlus, Applied Biosystems). The fluorescence threshold, or the level of fluorescence in which the signal rises above the background level, was manually set to 0.03  $\Delta$ Rn and baseline cycles were set to AUTO determination (Sivaganesan et al., 2019).

## Standard Curve Generation

Upon completion of the instrument runs, data were exported from the StepOne<sup>™</sup> Software (v2.3) and the resulting Ct values were copied into an accompanying Draft Method C Excel workbook where they were fitted to the WLR model of the form:

$$X_{ijk} = \alpha_i + \beta_i \log_{10}(X_j) + \varepsilon_{ijk} \tag{1}$$

where  $X_{ijk}$  is the observed Ct value for replicate k of standard j in run i;  $\alpha_i$  and  $\beta_i$  are the intercept and slope, respectively, for run i;  $X_j$  is the known copy number in standard j, and  $\varepsilon_{ijk}$  is the statistical error in the observed threshold cycle. A separate WLR was fitted to data for each standard curve run, and the externally Studentized residuals (Cook and Weisberg, 1983; p. 20) were examined to identify and remove up to two outliers from each data set if needed. The WLR model was then refitted to the retained data for each run, and the intercept, slope, and  $R^2$  values for each standard curve were assessed for acceptability based on the proposed standard curve acceptance criteria developed for Draft Method C (Table 2.2). When all three parameters met the acceptance criteria, an individual curve was considered 'passing' but, if any one of the three parameters failed, a curve was considered 'failing'. Draft Method C requires a minimum of four passing cures to generate the composite curve used to analyze RW samples therefore, if there were fewer than four passing, labs were requested to analyze additional curves. Only passing curves were considered for further statistical analysis of the 2018 data.

#### Data Analysis

### Bayesian MSC and WLR Standard Curve Model Comparisons

Labs participating in the 2016 validation study analyzed four to five standard curve assays each, as described in Sivaganesan et.al, (2019) for a total of ninety-one curves analyzed. To obtain the WLR model values, intercept and slope data for each lab's separate passing standard curve runs were assessed with the Draft Method C Excel Workbook which uses an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) to determine if there was strong evidence ( $\alpha = 0.01$ ) that any parameter estimates differed among runs. If not ( $p \ge 0.01$  for both parameters), results from the individual curves were pooled, and a WLR was performed to estimate the lab-specific composite curve intercept, slope and 95% CI for each lab. Intercept and slope estimates from the Bayesian MSC model for individual labs were taken from the 2016 validation study (Sivaganesan et al., 2019); the 95% Bayesian Credible Intervals (BCIs) are provided in the supplemental material (Table S2.2). The ANCOVA evaluation was used only in the WLR model and not the Bayesian MSC model. Intercept and slope estimates, and corresponding 95% CIs and BCIs, from the WLR and Bayesian MSC models, respectively, for each lab were plotted and compared visually. Comparisons also were made by examining the relative percent difference between the WLR and MSC models of the intercept and slope estimates for each lab. Percent differences were calculated by dividing the absolute value of the difference between the two model's estimates to the average of the absolute values of the two model's estimated means and multiplying by one hundred.

### Inter-lab variability of 2018 standard curve WLR estimated acceptance criteria

Each of the nine labs participating in 2018 used the WLR calibration model in the Draft Method C Excel workbook to analyze the instrument-determined Ct values for each individual standard curve. The workbooks were then shared with the authors of this study. Each lab produced between four and ten standard curves for a total of eighty-two. Of these curves, only those that passed all three acceptance criteria were considered for further statistical analysis.

Potential differences between acceptance criteria estimates produced by individual labs were assessed by determining the statistical significance of parameter differences and, where a statistically significant difference was detected, the relative magnitude of the difference on a percent scale was determined, as described above. The main goals of the assessment were to determine the proportion of labs for which a statistically significant difference was detected for each parameter and, more importantly, the relative magnitude of any detected differences. Inter-lab comparisons were carried out using a pairwise Wilcoxon rank sum test (Hollander et al. 2013) on each parameter, p-values adjusted with a Holm correction to account for multiple comparisons, to test the null hypothesis that the locations of the distributions of reported intercept, slope, and  $R^2$  estimates were the same for each pair of labs against the two-sided alternative hypothesis that they were different. The Wilcoxon rank sum test is a nonparametric test and does not assume a specific distribution for the individual estimates. All statistical analyses were performed using R Software (v3.5.2; R Core Team, 2018). Prior to any analysis, two data points from one lab (code H) were removed due to knowledge of errors during plate sealing.

## Environmental Variables and E. coli Concentrations

## Sampling

Sampling occurred once a week over five weeks (June 4<sup>th</sup> through August 6<sup>th</sup>, 2018) within Muskegon County, Michigan. Water samples were stored on ice until transported to the lab and processed for either Colilert analysis or filtered for the Draft Method C qPCR assay within six hours of collection.

Inland Lake Beaches: Fourteen inland lake beaches (Table 3.1) were sampled once a week over five weeks resulting in five samples per beach (n = 70). 100 mL samples were collected in 125 mL Security-Snap<sup>TM</sup> Bac'T (Thermofisher Scientific) sterile polypropylene bottles at each of three sample sites designated as left, center, and right (Figures S3.1 – S3.5). The three 100 mL samples were composited in the lab into a sterile 500 mL HDPE bottle (Microtech Scientific), totaling 300 mL of a composite sample for each beach. One-100 mL aliquot was used for immediate Colilert analysis and two-100 mL aliquots were filtered for qPCR analysis then stored in a  $-80^{\circ}$ C freezer to be analyzed at a later date. An ~ 50 mL sample also was collected from the center location of each beach in a Nalgene bottle for turbidity measurements.

*Lake Michigan Beaches:* Six Lake Michigan beaches (Table 3.1) were sampled once a week over five weeks, three sampling sites per beach, for a total of 15 water samples per beach over the course of the study (n = 90). A 500 mL sample was collected in sterile, tamper sealed HDPE bottles (Microtech Scientific) at each of three locations (north, center, and south) (Figures S3.6 – S3.8) and

prepared individually for analysis as described above for both Colilert (1 x 100 mL) and the Draft Method C qPCR assay (2 x 100 mL).

### Environmental Variables

Eight environmental variables (EVs) were recorded for each beach during each sampling event to assess its impact on E. coli concentrations. They included: turbidity (NTU), wind speed (mph), air and water temperature (°C), number of birds, whether birds were present (P) or absent (A), time (h) since the last rain fall, of any amount, and the amount of rain during the last rainfall (inches). Most variables were included on the Great Lakes Beaches Routine On-Site Sanitary Surveys (www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/documents/greatlakes\_onsite.pdf), except for birds present/absent, as part of the beach monitoring program protocol. Wind speed, air and water temperature and samples for turbidity were collected from or measured at the center sample site. Bird counts were performed by visual observation as samplers walked from the center sampling point towards the north/right or south/left sampling points and counted the number of birds observed on the beach and in the water within the swim area (U.S. EPA 2008). Samplers would report the number of birds to the person at the center location and all birds observed were tallied then recorded on the Sanitary Survey. Wind speed and air temperature were measured with an anemometer by holding it above the sampler's head for approximately 10 s and recording the highest reading of wind speed and, once a consistent temperature was seen, air temperature. Anemometer instructions directed measurements to be taken in the shade, however no shade was available at the center sampling site of most beaches thus for consistency, all readings were recorded from the center location regardless of the availability of shade. Water temperature was measured at knee depth with a thermometer (Component Design Northwest, Inc. DTQ450X) held near the surface of the water until a steady reading was observed. Turbidity samples were transported to the

lab on ice and measured with a turbidimeter according to the manufacturer's instructions following analysis of three NTU standards (0, 10, and 100 NTU) as quality control assurance (Thermo Scientific Orion AQUAfast AQ4500). Time since the last rain and rain amounts were recorded from individual weather stations (www.wunderground.com) chosen based on nearness to a beach and, in all instances except one, was the same throughout the sampling season (Table S3.1).

### E. coli Quantification

*Colilert:* The composited inland lake beach samples and north, center, south Lake Michigan samples were all analyzed within six hours of collection using Colilert (Method 9233 B) (Rice et al., 2012). In accordance with this method, a Colilert reagent packet was emptied into and dissolved in 100 mL of water sample. The solution was poured into a Quanti-Tray and incubated for 18 – 22 h at approximately 35°C. The Quanti-trays were then removed from the incubator and exposed to ultraviolet light. Based on the total number of fluorescing wells in the tray, *E. coli* concentrations were calculated and recorded as MPN. A more in-depth description of this method is provided in Kinzelman et al. (2005) and on the IDEXX website (www.idexx.com).

qPCR: Each composited inland lake beach sample and the three individual Lake Michigan samples per beach were analyzed according to the Draft Method C qPCR assay which uses TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> chemistry. Briefly, 100 mL of sample was filtered through 0.45 µm pore polycarbonate filter seated on a sterile disposable filtration unit (Pall Corporation, Puerto Rico, MicroFunnel<sup>TM</sup> Filter Funnel). The filters were folded four times and added to a 2.0 mL sterile semi-conical, screwcap microcentrifuge tube containing 0.3 g ( $\pm$  0.01 g) of glass beads. Working within a laminar flow hood, 600 µL of extraction fluid consisting of AE buffer with 0.2 µg/mL salmon (sketa) DNA was added to each extraction tube, tightly sealed then bead milled for 1.0 min at 5,000 rpm. The sketa DNA served as a sample processing control (SPC) to ensure the qPCR reaction occurred as expected. Because a known concentration was added to each sample, a specific range (18.58 - 22.01)of cycle threshold (Ct) values was expected, and required, for designated Draft Method C quality control parameters to be met (Sivaganesan et al., 2019). The extraction tubes were then centrifuged for approximately 5 min at 12,000 x g and  $\sim$  400 µL of the crude DNA extract was transferred into a correspondingly labeled sterile 1.7 mL low retention micro-centrifuge tube. The crude extract was centrifuged for 1 min at 12,000 x g, then ~ 100  $\mu$ L of clarified supernatant was transferred to a second sterile 1.7 mL centrifuge tube. Tubes of clarified supernatant were then moved to a second laminar flow hood and set aside until sketa and E. coli Master Mixes (MM) were prepared (see chapter 2, section 2.3). Half of the 96-well qPCR plate was filled with 20 µL of E. coli MM and the other half was filled with 20  $\mu$ L of sketa MM. 5  $\mu$ L of recreational water sample extracts were analyzed in triplicate using both the E. coli and sketa MM. Three separate negative (blanks) and positive (calibrator) controls, and a No Template Control (NTC) were analyzed in duplicate, on each tray of samples with E. coli and sketa MM. Once MM, samples, and quality controls were added, the plate was sealed and analyzed on a StepOnePlus<sup>TM</sup> Applied Biosystems thermocycler using the StepOne<sup>TM</sup> Software (v2.3). Instrument generated Ct values for water samples and quality control parameters were exported and entered in an EPA provided Draft Method C Excel Workbook where E. coli concentrations (log10Copies/5 µL) were calculated, provided all quality control parameters were met.  $\log_{10}$ Copies/5 µL were then converted to  $\log_{10}$ Copies/100 mL to make the two quantification methods comparable. There were nine Lake Michigan beach samples whose sketa Ct values did not pass specified acceptance criteria. In these cases, the stored duplicate filter was extracted, and the crude extract was filtered through a OneStep<sup>™</sup> PCR Inhibitor Removal Kit (Zymo Research) column, then re-analyzed with the Draft Method C qPCR assay. The inhibitor removal kit does not impact dilution ratios although it is thought that it may bind some DNA within the column resulting in a lower measured concentration. The  $log_{10}$ Copies/100 mL results from five of the re-analyzed samples were used in statistical analysis, while four were unusable as the filter blank acceptance criteria was not met (Ct > lower limit of quantification as given in the Draft Method C Excel workbook) (Sivaganesan et al., 2019). All filtered qPCR samples were analyzed within 6 months after storage.

### Statistical Analysis

Data were organized by beach, sample date, sample site (for Lake Michigan Beaches), corresponding Colilert (MPN) and qPCR (log<sub>10</sub>Copies/100 mL) *E. coli* concentrations and environmental variables collected or measured during each sampling event. Lake Michigan environmental variables were recorded at the center sampling site only and water samples were collected at three locations, therefore the same measurement or observation was filled in for all three sample locations the assumption being that the variation between north, center, south sample locations at the same beach was negligible. Additionally, repeated measures statistical analysis was unnecessary because *E. coli* concentrations vary greatly from day to day and even hour to hour (Whitman and Nevers, 2004; Badgley et al., 2011; Wyer et al., 2018) thus our weekly samples could be treated as independent of each other.

An indicator variable, or status, column was created for *E. coli* concentrations measured with both methods to indicate if the measurement was above the LOQ with a '1', or below the LOQ with a '0'. This is analogous to traditional survival analysis where a '1' is used for a known time of event and '0' is used for censored events. For the purposes of our study, *E. coli* concentrations in the units of  $\log_{10}(MPN/100 \text{ mL})$  and  $\log_{10}(Copies/100 \text{ mL})$  were used in place of the "time" variable, and the method or instrument LOQ was the "event". Colilert results were censored at 1 MPN, meaning any result recorded as < 1 MPN was below the method LOQ and considered a censored observation, thus a status of '0' was given. qPCR results were censored at 246 copies/100 mL (2.391  $\log_{10}$ Copies/100 mL) based on the lower limit of quantification Ct value (37.63) of a 6-pt standard composite curve generated from four individual standard curves analyzed. Values below 2.391  $\log_{10}$ Copies/100 mL were considered censored ('0' status); values greater than 2.391  $\log_{10}$ Copies/100 mL were given a '1' in the status column. To determine the LOQ, the LLOQ Ct value (37.63)—given in the Draft Method C Excel Workbook— was used as 'y', y-intercept (38.73), and slope (-3.53) in the y = mx + b equation, where 'x' was the LOQ.

EVs were categorized into two or three groups (Table 3.2) chosen to have at least 10 noncensored observations per group. KM distribution curves were then generated using the categorized groups and E. coli concentrations from recreational water samples. For EVs categorized into three groups, KM curves were statistically compared with a log-rank trend test (Klein and Moeschberger 2006, section 7.4; Machin et al., 2006 section 3.5). The trend test tests the null hypothesis that the categorized EVs E. coli concentration distributions are equal against the alternative that there is a monotonic ordering among the KM curves. For example, if  $K_1(x)$ ,  $K_2(x)$ , and  $K_3(x)$  are the KM curves (as functions of concentration x) for the low, medium, and high categories of a particular EV, then the null hypothesis of the trend test is  $K_1(x) = K_2(x) = K_3(x)$  for all concentrations x, and the "increasing form" of the alternative is  $K_1(x) \le K_2(x) \le K_3(x)$  for all x, with the inequality being strict (i.e., "<" instead of "≤") for at least one concentration and at least one pair of KM curves. The test outcome does not specify which KM distribution curve relationship is statistically different, just that a statistical difference in distribution curves was detected. For the bird present/absent and the method and lake type comparisons, a two-sample one-sided log-rank test (Hollander et al., 2013; Ch. 11.7; p. 594 – 597) was used. Output from the log-rank test were used to calculate the original test statistic prior to it being squared for the chi-squared p-value in order to perform one-sided statistical

analyses. These comparisons were performed to identify EVs that exhibited a statistically significant impact ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) on *E. coli* concentrations quantified with both methods (Colilert and qPCR) for inland and Lake Michigan beaches separately. All statistical analyses were carried out using R Software (v3.5.2; R Core Team, 2018).

The limitations of R-Software prevent it from performing survival analysis on left-censored data, like the data in our study, therefore trend tests and two-sample log-rank tests were carried out on the 'flipped' *E. coli* concentration data set (further detail provided in the discussion). All KM distribution curves presented below are based on the 'unflipped' or original *E. coli* concentration data scale.

# Bibliography

- Alm, E. W.; Burke, J.; Spain, A. Fecal Indicator Bacteria Are Abundant in Wet Sand at Freshwater Beaches. *Water Research* 2003, *37* (16), 3978–3982. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(03)00301-4.
- (2) Badgley, B. D.; Ferguson, J.; Heuvel, A. V.; Kleinheinz, G. T.; McDermott, C. M.; Sandrin, T. R.; Kinzelman, J.; Junion, E. A.; Byappanahalli, M. N.; Whitman, R. L.; et al. Multi-Scale Temporal and Spatial Variation in Genotypic Composition of Cladophora-Borne Escherichia Coli Populations in Lake Michigan. *Water Research* 2011, 45 (2), 721–731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.08.041.
- (3) Baral, D.; Speicher, A.; Dvorak, B.; Admiraal, D.; Li, X. Quantifying the Relative Contributions of Environmental Sources to the Microbial Community in an Urban Stream under Dry and Wet Weather Conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2018, 84 (15). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00896-18.
- (4) Bradshaw, J. K.; Snyder, B. J.; Oladeinde, A.; Spidle, D.; Berrang, M. E.; Meinersmann, R. J.; Oakley, B.; Sidle, R. C.; Sullivan, K.; Molina, M. Characterizing Relationships among Fecal Indicator Bacteria, Microbial Source Tracking Markers, and Associated Waterborne Pathogen Occurrence in Stream Water and Sediments in a Mixed Land Use Watershed. *Water Research* 2016, 101, 498–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.05.014.
- (5) Byappanahalli, M. N.; Whitman, R. L.; Shively, D. A.; Nevers, M. B. Linking Non-Culturable (QPCR) and Culturable Enterococci Densities with Hydrometeorological Conditions. *Science of The Total Environment* 2010, 408 (16), 3096–3101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.04.051.
- (6) Cabelli, V. J.; Dufour, A. P.; McCABE, L. J.; Levin, M. A. Swimming-Associated Gastroentiritis and Water Quality. *Am J Epidemiol* **1982**, *115* (4), 606–616. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113342.
- (7) Cardullo, R. A.; Agrawal, S.; Flores, C.; Zamecnik, P. C.; Wolf, D. E. Detection of Nucleic Acid Hybridization by Nonradiative Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **1988**, *85* (23), 8790–8794.
- (8) Chen, H.; Quandt, S. A.; Grzywacz, J. G.; Arcury, T. A. A Bayesian Multiple Imputation Method for Handling Longitudinal Pesticide Data with Values below the Limit of Detection: Bayesian Multiple Imputation Method. *Environmetrics* 2013, 24 (2), 132–142. https://doi.org/10.1002/env.2193.
- (9) Colford, J. M. J.; Wade, T. J.; Schiff, K. C.; Wright, C. C.; Griffith, J. F.; Sandhu, S. K.; Burns, S.; Sobsey, M.; Lovelace, G.; Weisberg, S. B. Water Quality Indicators and the Risk of Illness at Beaches With Nonpoint Sources of Fecal Contamination. *Epidemiology* 2007, *18* (1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ede.0000249425.32990.b9.
- (10) Congress, U. S. Beaches Environmental Assessment and Coastal Health Act of 2000; 2000.
- (11) Cook, R. D.; Weisberg, S. Diagnostics for Heteroscedasticity in Regression. *Biometrika* **1983**, 70 (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.2307/2335938.
- (12) Cordell, H. K. Outdoor Recreation Trends and Futures: A Technical Document Supporting the Forest Service 2010 RPA Assessment. *Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-150. Asheville, NC: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Southern Research Station, 167 p.* **2012**, *150*, 1–167.
- (13) Crane, R.; Jackson, C. B.; Sedlacek, R.; Walker, D. EPA Approves New Test Procedures for the Analysis of Microbiological Pollutants in Wastewater and Sludge. Loveland, CO: Hach Company. Available online at http://www. hach. com/fmmimghach 2006.

- (14) Cyterski, M.; Brooks, W.; Galvin, M.; Wolfe, K.; Carvin, R.; Fienen, M.; Corsi, S. Virtual Beach 3.0.6: User's Guide. February **2016**.
- (15) DeFlorio-Barker, S.; Wing, C.; Jones, R. M.; Dorevitch, S. Estimate of Incidence and Cost of Recreational Waterborne Illness on United States Surface Waters. *Environmental Health* 2018, 17 (1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0347-9.
- (16) Dinse, G. E.; Jusko, T. A.; Ho, L. A.; Annam, K.; Graubard, B. I.; Hertz-Picciotto, I.; Miller, F. W.; Gillespie, B. W.; Weinberg, C. R. Accommodating Measurements Below a Limit of Detection: A Novel Application of Cox Regression. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2014, 179 (8), 1018–1024. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu017.
- (17) Dorevitch, S.; Shrestha, A.; DeFlorio-Barker, S.; Breitenbach, C.; Heimler, I. Monitoring Urban Beaches with QPCR vs. Culture Measures of Fecal Indicator Bacteria: Implications for Public Notification. *Environmental Health* 2017, *16* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0256-y.
- (18) Dufour, A. P. Health Effects Criteria for Fresh Recreational Waters. *Toxicology and Microbiology Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency* **1984**.
- (19) Dwight, R. H.; Caplan, J. S.; Brinks, M. V.; Catlin, S. N.; Buescher, G.; Semenza, J. C. Influence of Variable Precipitation on Coastal Water Quality in Southern California. *Water Environment Research* 2011, *83* (12), 2121–2130. https://doi.org/10.2175/106143011X12928814444574.
- (20) EGLE, D. of E., Great Lakes and Energy. Michigan Legislature Act 368 of 1978 http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(hs5vzdicuix2ce2qbeqcixj3))/mileg.aspx?page=GetObject& objectname=mcl-act-368-of-1978 (accessed Oct 1, 2019).
- (21) EGLE, D. of E., Great Lakes and Energy. EGLE About Beach Monitoring in Michigan https://www.michigan.gov/egle/0,9429,7-135-3313\_3681\_3686\_3730-11005--,00.html (accessed Oct 1, 2019).
- (22) Frahm, E.; Obst, U. Application of the Fluorogenic Probe Technique (TaqMan PCR) to the Detection of Enterococcus Spp. and Escherichia Coli in Water Samples. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 2003, *52* (1), 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7012(02)00150-1.
- (23) Frick, W. E.; Ge, Z.; Zepp, R. G. Nowcasting and Forecasting Concentrations of Biological Contaminants at Beaches: A Feasibility and Case Study. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2008, 42 (13), 4818–4824. https://doi.org/10.1021/es703185p.
- (24) Fricker, C. R.; DeSarno, M.; Warden, P. S.; Eldred, B. J. False-Negative β-d-Glucuronidase Reactions in Membrane Lactose Glucuronide Agar Medium Used for the Simultaneous Detection of Coliforms and *Escherichia Coli* from Water. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 2008, 47
  (6), 539–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2008.02453.x.
- (25) Gillespie, B. W.; Chen, Q.; Reichert, H.; Franzblau, A.; Hedgeman, E.; Lepkowski, J.; Adriaens, P.; Demond, A.; Luksemburg, W.; Garabrant, D. H. Estimating Population Distributions When Some Data Are Below a Limit of Detection by Using a Reverse Kaplan-Meier Estimator. *Epidemiology* **2010**, *21* (4), S64–S70.
- (26) Glassmeyer, S. T.; Furlong, E. T.; Kolpin, D. W.; Cahill, J. D.; Zaugg, S. D.; Werner, S. L.; Meyer, M. T.; Kryak, D. D. Transport of Chemical and Microbial Compounds from Known Wastewater Discharges: Potential for Use as Indicators of Human Fecal Contamination. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2005, *39* (14), 5157–5169. https://doi.org/10.1021/es048120k.

- (27) Griffith, J. F.; Weisberg, S. B. Challenges in Implementing New Technology for Beach Water Quality Monitoring: Lessons From a California Demonstration Project. *Marine Technology Society Journal* 2011, 45 (2), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.4031/MTSJ.45.2.13.
- Haugland, R. A.; Siefring, S. C.; Wymer, L. J.; Brenner, K. P.; Dufour, A. P. Comparison of Enterococcus Measurements in Freshwater at Two Recreational Beaches by Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction and Membrane Filter Culture Analysis. *Water Research* 2005, *39* (4), 559–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2004.11.011.
- (29) Haugland, R. A.; Siefring, S.; Lavender, J.; Varma, M. Influences of Sample Interference and Interference Controls on Quantification of Enterococci Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Surface Water Samples by the QPCR Method. *Water Research* 2012, *46* (18), 5989–6001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.08.017.
- (30) Helsel, D. R. Fabricating Data: How Substituting Values for Nondetects Can Ruin Results, and What Can Be Done about It. *Chemosphere* 2006, 65 (11), 2434–2439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.04.051.
- (31) Helsel, D. R. *Statistics for Censored Environmental Data Using Minitab and* R; John Wiley & Sons, **2011**.
- (32) Holland, P. M.; Abramson, R. D.; Watson, R.; Gelfand, D. H. Detection of Specific Polymerase Chain Reaction Product by Utilizing the 5'----3' Exonuclease Activity of Thermus Aquaticus DNA Polymerase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1991, 88 (16), 7276– 7280. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.16.7276.
- (33) Hollander, M.; Wolfe, D. A.; Chicken, E. *Nonparametric Statistical Methods*; John Wiley & Sons, **2013**.
- (34) Ishii, S.; Hansen, D. L.; Hicks, R. E.; Sadowsky, M. J. Beach Sand and Sediments Are Temporal Sinks and Sources of *Escherichia Coli* in Lake Superior. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2007, 41 (7), 2203–2209. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0623156.
- (35) Jentes, J. E. How to Win Back the Beaches. Twine Line News, Ohio Sea Grant Collection. 2000.
- (36) Jones, J.; Aslan, A.; Trivedi, R.; Olivas, M.; Hoffmann, M. Water Quality and the Perception of Risk: A Study of Georgia, USA, Beachgoers. Ocean & Coastal Management 2018, 158, 116– 119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2018.03.031.
- (37) Kinzelman, J. L.; Singh, A.; Ng, C.; Pond, K. R.; Bagley, R. C.; Gradus, S. Use of IDEXX Colilert-18<sup>®</sup> and Quanti-Tray/2000 as a Rapid and Simple Enumeration Method for the Implementation of Recreational Water Monitoring and Notification Programs. *Lake and Reservoir Management* 2005, *21* (1), 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1080/07438140509354414.
- (38) Klein, J. P.; Moeschberger, M. L. Survival Analysis: Techniques for Censored and Truncated Data -John P. Klein, Melvin L. Moeschberger - Google Books, second.; Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.
- (39) Kneale, Dr. P.; See, Dr. L.; Smith, Dr. A. Towards Defining Evaluation Measures for Neural Network Forecasting Models. *Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference on GeoComputation, University of Queensland, Australia* **2001**.
- (40) LaLiberte, P.; Grimes, D. J. Survival of Escherichia Coli in Lake Bottom Sediment. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1982**, *43* (3), 623–628.
- (41) Lam, J. T.; Lui, E.; Chau, S.; Kueh, C. S. W.; Yung, Y.; Yam, W. C. Evaluation of Real-Time PCR for Quantitative Detection of Escherichia Coli in Beach Water. *Journal of Water and Health* 2014, *12* (1), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2013.038.

- (42) Lavender, J. S.; Kinzelman, J. L. A Cross Comparison of QPCR to Agar-Based or Defined Substrate Test Methods for the Determination of Escherichia Coli and Enterococci in Municipal Water Quality Monitoring Programs. *Water Research* 2009, 43 (19), 4967–4979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.08.010.
- (43) Life Technologies. Real-Time PCR Handbook. 2014.
- (44) Lleo, M. M.; Bonato, B.; Tafi, M. C.; Signoretto, C.; Pruzzo, C.; Canepari, P. Molecular vs Culture Methods for the Detection of Bacterial Faecal Indicators in Groundwater for Human Use. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 2005, 40 (4), 289–294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2005.01666.x.
- (45) Machin, D.; Cheung, Y. B.; Mahesh, P. Survival Analysis: A Practical Approach -, Second.; John Wiley & Sons, 2006.
- (46) Mathai, P. P.; Dunn, H. M.; Magnone, P.; Zhang, Q.; Ishii, S.; Chun, C. L.; Sadowsky, M. J. Association between Submerged Aquatic Vegetation and Elevated Levels of Escherichia Coli and Potential Bacterial Pathogens in Freshwater Lakes. *Science of The Total Environment* 2019, 657, 319–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.484.
- (47) McNair, J. N.; Sunkara, A.; Frobish, D. How to Analyse Seed Germination Data Using Statistical Time-to-Event Analysis: Non-Parametric and Semi-Parametric Methods. *Seed Science Research* 2012, 22 (2), 77–95. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0960258511000547.
- (48) Meays, C. L.; Broersma, K.; Nordin, R.; Mazumder, A. Source Tracking Fecal Bacteria in Water: A Critical Review of Current Methods. *Journal of Environmental Management* 2004, 73 (1), 71–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2004.06.001.
- (49) Molina, M.; Hunter, S.; Cyterski, M.; Peed, L. A.; Kelty, C. A.; Sivaganesan, M.; Mooney, T.; Prieto, L.; Shanks, O. C. Factors Affecting the Presence of Human-Associated and Fecal Indicator Real-Time Quantitative PCR Genetic Markers in Urban-Impacted Recreational Beaches. *Water Research* 2014, 64, 196–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.06.036.
- (50) Muñoz, C. C.; Vermeiren, P. Profiles of Environmental Contaminants in Hawksbill Turtle Egg Yolks Reflect Local to Distant Pollution Sources among Nesting Beaches in the Yucatán Peninsula, Mexico. *Marine Environmental Research* 2018, 135, 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2018.01.012.
- (51) Murray, C.; Sohngen, B.; Pendleton, L. Valuing Water Quality Advisories and Beach Amenities in the Great Lakes. *Water Resources Research* **2001**, *37* (10), 2583–2590. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001WR000409.
- (52) Napier, M. D.; Poole, C.; Stewart, J. R.; Weber, D. J.; Glassmeyer, S. T.; Kolpin, D. W.; Furlong, E. T.; Dufour, A. P.; Wade, T. J. Exposure to Human-Associated Chemical Markers of Fecal Contamination and Self-Reported Illness among Swimmers at Recreational Beaches. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2018, *52* (13), 7513–7523. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b00639.
- (53) Nevers, M. B.; Whitman, R. L. Nowcast Modeling of Escherichia Coli Concentrations at Multiple Urban Beaches of Southern Lake Michigan. *Water Research* 2005, *39* (20), 5250–5260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.012.
- (54) Nie, L.; Chu, H.; Liu, C.; Cole, S. R.; Vexler, A.; Schisterman, E. F. Linear Regression with an Independent Variable Subject to a Detection Limit. *Epidemiology* 2010, *21* (Suppl 4), S17–S24. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181ce97d8.

- (55) Noble, R. T.; Blackwood, A. D.; Griffith, J. F.; McGee, C. D.; Weisberg, S. B. Comparison of Rapid Quantitative PCR-Based and Conventional Culture-Based Methods for Enumeration of Enterococcus Spp. and Escherichia Coli in Recreational Waters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2010, *76* (22), 7437–7443. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00651-10.
- (56) Oliver, D. M.; Hanley, N. D.; van Niekerk, M.; Kay, D.; Heathwaite, A. L.; Rabinovici, S. J. M.; Kinzelman, J. L.; Fleming, L. E.; Porter, J.; Shaikh, S.; et al. Molecular Tools for Bathing Water Assessment in Europe: Balancing Social Science Research with a Rapidly Developing Environmental Science Evidence-Base. *Ambio* 2016, 45 (1), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0698-9.
- (57) Opel, K. L.; Chung, D.; McCord, B. R. A Study of PCR Inhibition Mechanisms Using Real Time PCR. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 2010, 55 (1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1556-4029.2009.01245.x.
- (58) Pfaffl, M. W.; Hageleit, M. Validities of MRNA Quantification Using Recombinant RNA and Recombinant DNA External Calibration Curves in Real-Time RT-PCR. *Biotechnology Letters* 2001, 8.
- (59) Pruss, A. Review of Epidemiological Studies on Health Effects from Exposure to Recreational Water. *International Journal of Epidemiology* **1998**, *27* (1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/27.1.1.
- (60) Pruzzo, C.; Tarsi, R.; Lleò, M. del M.; Signoretto, C.; Zampini, M.; Colwell, R. R.; Canepari, P. In Vitro Adhesion to Human Cells by Viable But Nonculturable Enterococcus Faecalis. *Current Microbiology* **2002**, *45* (2), 105–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-001-0089-2.
- (61) Quilliam, R. S.; Jamieson, J.; Oliver, D. M. Seaweeds and Plastic Debris Can Influence the Survival of Faecal Indicator Organisms in Beach Environments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 2014, 84 (1–2), 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.05.011.
- (62) Quilliam, R. S.; Taylor, J.; Oliver, D. M. The Disparity between Regulatory Measurements of E. Coli in Public Bathing Waters and the Public Expectation of Bathing Water Quality. Journal of Environmental Management 2019, 232, 868–874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.11.138.
- (63) R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. **2018**, URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- (64) Rice, E. W.; Baird, R. B.; Eaton, A. D. *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater*, 22nd ed.; American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association, Water Environment Federation, **2012**.
- (65) Rutledge, R. G. Mathematics of Quantitative Kinetic PCR and the Application of Standard Curves. *Nucleic Acids Research* 2003, *31* (16), 93e–993. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gng093.
- (66) Seyfried, P. L.; Tobin, R. S.; Brown, N. E.; Ness, P. F. A Prospective Study of Swimming-Related Illness. I. Swimming-Associated Health Risk. *American Journal of Public Health* 1985, 75 (9), 1068–1070. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.75.9.1068.
- (67) Seyfried, P. L.; Tobin, R. S.; Brown, N. E.; Ness, P. F. A Prospective Study of Swimming-Related Illness. II. Morbidity and the Microbiological Quality of Water. *American Journal of Public Health* **1985**, *75* (9), 1071–1075. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.75.9.1071.
- (68) Siefring, S.; Varma, M.; Atikovic, E.; Wymer, L.; Haugland, R. A. Improved Real-Time PCR Assays for the Detection of Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Surface Waters with Different Instrument and Reagent Systems. *Journal of Water and Health* 2008, 6 (2), 225–237. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2008.022.

- (69) Silva, D. M.; Domingues, L. On the Track for an Efficient Detection of Escherichia Coli in Water: A Review on PCR-Based Methods. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 2015, *113*, 400–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.12.015.
- (70) Sisson, A. J.; Wampler, P. J.; Rediske, R. R.; McNair, J. N.; Frobish, D. J. Long-Term Field Performance of Biosand Filters in the Artibonite Valley, Haiti. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 2013, 88 (5), 862–867. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.12-0345.
- (71) Sivaganesan, M.; Aw, T. G.; Briggs, S.; Dreelin, E.; Aslan, A.; Dorevitch, S.; Shrestha, A.; Isaacs, N.; Kinzelman, J.; Kleinheinz, G.; et al. Standardized Data Quality Acceptance Criteria for a Rapid Escherichia Coli QPCR Method (Draft Method C) for Water Quality Monitoring at Recreational Beaches. *Water Research* 2019, *156*, 456–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.011.
- (72) Staley, C.; Gould, T. J.; Wang, P.; Phillips, J.; Cotner, J. B.; Sadowsky, M. J. Sediments and Soils Act as Reservoirs for Taxonomic and Functional Bacterial Diversity in the Upper Mississippi River. *Microb Ecol* 2016, *71* (4), 814–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-016-0729-5.
- (73) Stevenson, A. H. Studies of Bathing Water Quality and Health. American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health 1953, 43 (5\_Pt\_1), 529–538. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.43.5\_Pt\_1.529.
- (74) Tomazi, T.; Coura, F. M.; Gonçalves, J. L.; Heinemann, M. B.; Santos, M. V. Antimicrobial Susceptibility Patterns of Escherichia Coli Phylogenetic Groups Isolated from Bovine Clinical Mastitis. *Journal of Dairy Science* 2018, 101 (10), 9406–9418. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-14485.
- (75) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Great Lakes Beach Sanitary Survey User Manual. Office of Water May **2008**.
- (76) United States Environmental Protection Agency. ProUCL Version 4.1 User Guide (Draft): Statistical Software for Environmental Applications for Data Sets with and without Nondetect Observations https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-03/documents/proucl\_v4.1\_user.pdf (accessed Aug 23, 2019).
- (77) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Method 1611: Enterococci in Water by TaqMan® Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (QPCR) Assay. **2012**, 56.
- (78) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Method 1609: Enterococci in Water by TaqMan® Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (QPCR) with Internal Amplification Control (IAC) Assay. **2013**, 72.
- (79) United States Environmental Protection Agency. Site-Specific Alternative Recreational Criteria Technical Support Materials For Alternative Indicators and Methods. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology Health and Ecological Criteria Division 2014, 85.
- (80) United States Environmental Protection Agency., O. of W. R. and S. C. and S. D. Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Bacteria 1986. National Technical Information Service January 1986.
- (81) Varma, M.; Field, R.; Stinson, M.; Rukovets, B.; Wymer, L.; Haugland, R. Quantitative Real-Time PCR Analysis of Total and Propidium Monoazide-Resistant Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Wastewater. Water Research 2009, 43 (19), 4790–4801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.05.031.

- (82) Wade, T. J.; Pai, N.; Eisenberg, J. N. S.; Colford, J. M. Do U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Water Quality Guidelines for Recreational Waters Prevent Gastrointestinal Illness? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2003, 111 (8), 1102– 1109. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.6241.
- (83) Wade, T. J.; Calderon, R. L.; Brenner, K. P.; Sams, E.; Beach, M.; Haugland, R.; Wymer, L.; Dufour, A. P. High Sensitivity of Children to Swimming-Associated Gastrointestinal Illness: Results Using a Rapid Assay of Recreational Water Quality. *Epidemiology* 2008, 19 (3), 375– 383.
- (84) Wade, T. J.; Calderon, R. L.; Sams, E.; Beach, M.; Brenner, K. P.; Williams, A. H.; Dufour, A. P. Rapidly Measured Indicators of Recreational Water Quality Are Predictive of Swimming-Associated Gastrointestinal Illness. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2006, *114* (1), 24–28. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8273.
- (85) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B. Foreshore Sand as a Source of Escherichia Coli in Nearshore Water of a Lake Michigan Beach. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2003, 69 (9), 5555– 5562. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.9.5555-5562.2003.
- (86) Whitman, R. L.; Shively, D. A.; Pawlik, H.; Nevers, M. B.; Byappanahalli, M. N. Occurrence of Escherichia Coli and Enterococci in Cladophora (Chlorophyta) in Nearshore Water and Beach Sand of Lake Michigan. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 2003, 69 (8), 4714–4719. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.8.4714-4719.2003.
- (87) Whitman, R. L.; Ge, Z.; Nevers, M. B.; Boehm, A. B.; Chern, E. C.; Haugland, R. A.; Lukasik, A. M.; Molina, M.; Przybyla-Kelly, K.; Shively, D. A.; et al. Relationship and Variation of QPCR and Culturable Enterococci Estimates in Ambient Surface Waters Are Predictable. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2010, 44 (13), 5049–5054. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9028974.
- (88) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B. Escherichia Coli Sampling Reliability at a Frequently Closed Chicago Beach: Monitoring and Management Implications. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38* (16), 4241–4246. https://doi.org/10.1021/es034978i.
- (89) Whitman, R. L.; Nevers, M. B.; Gerovac, P. J. Interaction of Ambient Conditions and Fecal Coliform Bacteria in Southern Lake Michigan Beach Waters: Monitoring Program Implications. *Natural Areas Journal* **1999**, *19* (2), 166–171.
- (90) Willmott, C. J. On the Validation of Models. *Physical Geography* **1981**, *2* (2), 184–194. https://doi.org/10.1080/02723646.1981.10642213.
- (91) Willmott, C. J.; Robeson, S. M.; Matsuura, K. A Refined Index of Model Performance. *International Journal of Climatology* **2012**, *32* (13), 2088–2094. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.2419.
- (92) Wyer, M. D.; Kay, D.; Morgan, H.; Naylor, S.; Clark, S.; Watkins, J.; Davies, C. M.; Francis, C.; Osborn, H.; Bennett, S. Within-Day Variability in Microbial Concentrations at a UK Designated Bathing Water: Implications for Regulatory Monitoring and the Application of Predictive Modelling Based on Historical Compliance Data. *Water Research X* 2018, *1*, 100006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wroa.2018.10.003.
- (93) Yakirevich, A.; Pachepsky, Y. A.; Guber, A. K.; Gish, T. J.; Shelton, D. R.; Cho, K. H. Modeling Transport of Escherichia Coli in a Creek during and after Artificial High-Flow Events: Three-Year Study and Analysis. *Water Research* 2013, 47 (8), 2676–2688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.02.011.